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Zagreb Holding was incorporated in 2006 in line with the Compa-
nies Act and is 100% owned by the City of Zagreb. The Holding is 
the product of the transfer of interests in 22 companies owned 
by the City of Zagreb to the company City Utility Company Ltd., 
which assumed the Holding role, and changed its name to Zagreb 
Holding Ltd. In 2007.

After further status changes, the Zagreb Holding Group today 
comprises the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd., which in turn com-
prises 16 subsidiaries, eight affiliates and one institution.

Utility services include drinking water supply, wastewater drain-
age and treatment, cleaning, municipal waste disposal, public 
area maintenance, unclassified road maintenance, retail markets, 
cemetery and crematoria maintenance, and funereal transport ser-
vices.

Transport services include public passenger transport services and 
organisation of stationary traffic.

Commercial services include building management and mainte-
nance, sale of apartments and commercial properties, publishing 
and gallery services, bus terminal services, travel organisation, 
vacations for children and youth, catering and tourism, warehous-
ing and storage of goods, freight vehicle parking and Zagreb Free 
Zone services, outdoor advertising, show and congress organisa-
tion, construction, design, supervision and more.

As a healthcare institution, Zagreb City Pharmacy is a separate unit 
to which special regulations apply.

The Holding also comprises companies that provide energy ser-
vices and the services of gas distribution and supply, as well as 
electricity generation from landfill gas. 

The basic role of Zagreb Holding is to efficiently and continual-
ly provide public utility services while striving for maximal envi-
ronmental protection, as well as protection of the public interest 
of the local community. The basic standards for providing these 
services are regulated by the law and other regulations. Aware 
of our responsibility to the citizens of Zagreb, we continually in-
vest in improving the quality of the public services while respect-
ing the principles of sustainable development, which makes the 
standards of living in the City of Zagreb much higher than in other 
Croatian cities.

We also promote social dialogue within the Company and help 
our workers gain new, advanced knowledge and skills. By improv-
ing the quality and the scope of the public services to the bene-
fit of the citizens, the businesses and the local governments and 
self-governments in the City of Zagreb, by improving the standard 
of living for the citizens, the competitiveness of the Croatian econ-
omy, and the reputation of the City of Zagreb in comparison with 
other cities, we realise the vision of the City of Zagreb as a place 
of pleasant, organised and healthy living, where Zagreb Holding 
serves as an example of excellence in public service delivery and 
the driver of business development of Zagreb and Croatia.

THE HOLDING’S ACTIVITES ARE  
GROUPED INTO FOUR AREAS:

•  utility services 
•  transport services 
•  commercial services 
•  energy services

About us
“	The activities of Zagreb Holding are of vital importance to the City of
	 Zagreb, which makes us particularly responsible for the quality of life
	 in the community we operate in.” 

At the service of 
the citizens 

24 HOURS A DAY
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11.747.256 m2
of park area maintained

15.512.385
tickets sold by Zagreb Electric Tram

19.006.584 kWh
of electricity generated from landfill gas at 
mTEO plant

57.018.467 m3

of water delivered to consumers

276
trams 245.000

tonnes of asphalt produced

3.921.476.993 kWh
of natural gas distributed

10.394
employees

travelled by buses, trams, funicular railway, vehicles 
for the transportation of persons with disabilities 
and school buses

40.448.929

2.500
of roads maintained

44.538
containers for separate 

collection of recyclable waste

403
buses

2016 in numbers
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Key financial 
performance 
indicators

An example of savings with a positive environmental impact
By recycling construction waste, the Subsidiary Zagreb Roads produced 170,876 tonnes of granular material 
satisfying all quality requirements in 2016, which had a positive impact on the environment and saved natural 
resources. In the same period, 26,580 tonnes of asphalt mix containing recycled material was produced at the 
Subsidiary’s Asphalt Plant Rakitje (in the photo), generating considerable savings on the cost of raw materials 
and supplies, and lowering the costs of milled mass disposal.

2015 
3.911.030.153 kn

2015
217.296.846 kn

2015
765.501.768 kn

2015 
55,2%

2015 
102,7%

2015 
39,7%

193.663.267 kn

741.803.437 kn

46,6%Net Debt/Equity Ratio

Sales

EBIT

EBITDA

2015 
30,3%

Income/Expenses 
Ratio

Self-Financing Ratio

Staff Costs to Total Operating 
Expenses

102,1%

40,9%

33,2%

3.842.428.098 kn
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A letter by the President of 
the Management Board 
The past business year was in many ways a turning point in a num-
ber of segments of the Zagreb Holding Group’s operations. 

The completion of the bond refinancing was the most important 
business event for the Group. Investor interest in the bond backed 
by a guarantee issued by the City of Zagreb was strong, with inter-
est exceeding the offered HRK 1.8 billion and generating a demand 
higher than HRK 3 billion. This success of Zagreb Holding was a 
historical transaction in the Croatian capital market, acclaimed by 
the Croatian investment community. The renowned international 
rating agency Standard & Poor’s confirmed that the Zagreb Holding 
was on a good course by upgrading its outlook on three successive 
occasions. 

Our operations, however, are centred on people: our customers, 
whose number exceeds one million, on the one hand, and our 
employees, who are at the service of the citizens and visitors of 
Zagreb for 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, in all weather, on the 
other. Our many departments and their employees help the city to 
live a full life year round, accomplishing the Group’s main strategic 
objective: to provide reliable high-quality services and goods. The 
services we provide are of public interest, and their quality directly 
impacts the standard of living for our fellow citizens, which gives 
us a special responsibility. We continued the processes that were 
already under way and started some new ones in 2016. As of 1 
September, our Call Centre is available 24 hours a day, 365 days 
a year. The citizens can get answers to their questions about all 
services provided by the Group by calling a single number. To make 
our services more accessible, we approved the legalisation of all 
illegal connections to water supply and sewerage networks, and 
promoted the connection of new users with the City’s support. 
We allowed social welfare recipients to repay their debts in instal-
ments, proving that we are truly at the service of the citizens.

We put in special efforts in developing and promoting environmen-
tal awareness, offering the service of bulky waste removal from 
households twice a year based on prior applications, and increasing 
the number of “recycling islands” by 151% (from 242 to 607). The 
number of containers for separate collection of recyclable waste 
was increased by 382% to 35,296. We opened five mobile recy-
cling centres this year and began working on building one more. 
All of these measures resulted in a 25% increase in the amount of 
separately collected waste compared to 2015.

In 2016, the company Water Supply and Drainage signed a Grant 
Agreement for the construction of the main water supply pipeline 

Aleja Bologne-Lisičina, worth HRK 22.7 million, 64.4% of which 
will be provided by EU funds, 10% by Water Supply and Drainage, 
and 25.6% by Croatian Waters. HRK 13.7 million was realised from 
the Cohesion Fund and HRK 5.5 million was realised from Croatian 
Waters by 31 December. 

The swimming pool complex Svetice, one of our top projects, was 
successfully completed and handed over to the City for manage-
ment, and the first phase of the construction of 608 apartments 
in the estate Podbrežje was started. The international Auto Show 
was held at the Zagreb Fair for the first time after eight years, along 
with a number of other respectable events, and the attendance of 
the traditional show Floraart was again very high. 

This year, the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. will voluntarily publish 
an independent non-financial statement, or a statement of corpo-
rate responsibility and the impact of its operations on the society 
and the environment, for the first time. The Company’s dedication 
to corporate responsibility and sustainability is a result of many 
years of efforts put in by our employees and the strategic focus of 
our management. We have ambitious plans for the year ahead and 
remain dedicated to fulfilling our mission: provide healthy, pleasant 
and safe urban living to the citizens of Zagreb and the local com-
munity. Every day. Because the quality of the services we provide 
is the best presentation of Zagreb holding.

PRESIDENT OF THE BOARD

Ana Stojić Deban
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Zagreb Holding Group (hereinafter: the Group), composed of Zagreb Holding Ltd. and its affiliates and institution, posted HRK 74.9 million 
of profit after tax in 2016, a result lower by HRK 46.1 million compared to 2015. This is the result of the decision of the Croatian Energy 
Regulatory Agency (HERA) from December 2015 to decrease the tariff items for the distributed quantity of natural gas (Ts1) by 38% as of 
1 January 2016. Also, the HERA’s decision on the amounts of tariff items for public service obligation gas supply (for the customer category 
“households”) for the period from 1 April to 31 December 2016 entered into force on 1 April 2016. This decision lowered the cost of gas 
supply for public service obligation by 25%, which lowered the end price of gas by about 20%. 

The Code of Corporate Governance adopted by the Company Assembly in May 2016 after previous adoption by the Management and 
Supervisory Board sets forth the obligation to establish, maintain and advance high corporate governance and transparency standards. The 
Code aims to introduce even more efficient operations and responsible management of resources in service of the development of the 
organisation and in the interest of the users of municipal and public services, the citizens of Zagreb in general, and all other influence and 
interest groups. The Code defines integral management of mechanisms ensuring strategic planning and realisation of objectives, including 
decision-making processes, procedures and tools used in responsible business, as well as an evaluation system. The principles of action 
under the Code are considered to be guidelines for all components of the Group. 

In 2016, the Group adopted a medium-term plan spanning a period of five years. The plan identifies the objectives and the priorities in the 
development of the Company by 2021, and the development strategy defines the measures that will be implemented by 2021 to ensure 
the improvement of the quality of our services, stronger development and growth, and establishment of sustainable long-term operations. 

Fulfilling its mission, the Group has intensively built its reputation of a service for the citizens and an organisation of proactive action in 
2016, getting more involved in the life in the community, developing interactive communication principles, and modelling its services to 
fit the needs of its users. The single point of contact centre ensures continues informational and prompt operational support to the users, 
thus establishing a platform for modern customer relations management.

The most important developments in 2016 occurred in our activities focused on: 

Customer relations management
  As of 1 November 2015, the Subsidiary City Waste Disposal 

introduced a new method of calculating the charges for the public 
service of mixed municipal waste removal and disposal based on 
bin volume instead of floor area of the customer’s household. The 
charges are calculated according to the formula total bin volume 
(in litres) x number of monthly pickups x per litre charge (0,09622 
HRK/litre) = the amount of the bill (in HRK, VAT not included). All 
customers were granted a discount on the total amount of the 
charge as an extra incentive for quicker attainment of the waste 
management objectives in the City of Zagreb. The new calculation 
method lowered the charges for the customers while retaining the 
same quality standard for the services provided.

As of 1 August 2016, Waste Disposal modified its mixed municipal 
waste pickup schedule of in the City of Zagreb. Mixed municipal 
waste is now picked up twice a week in 84% of the City, once a 
week in 7% of the City and three times a week, same as before, in 
9% of the City (downtown).

In 2016, Zagreb Holding Ltd. enforced the Decision on the Public 
Service of Collection of Mixed Municipal Waste and Biodegrada-
ble Waste, and Separate Collection of Waste Paper, Metal, Glass, 
Plastic and Textile, and Bulky Municipal Waste in the City of Zagreb 
(Official Gazette of the City of Zagreb 23/2016) by: 

 • Increasing the number of the “recycling islands” (in 2016, their 
number was increased by 365 compared to 2015),

• Introducing five mobile recycling centres, starting the 
construction of another one (in Klara) and preparing for the 
construction of two more classic recycling centres (in Žitnjak and 
Sesvete),

• Handing out separate waste collection bins to the mixed 
municipal waste removal customers, which increased the amount 
of separately collected waste in 2016 by 25% compared to the 
year before. 

  To improve our communication with the citizens and customers, 
the Call Centre of the Zagreb Holding is available 24 hours a day, 365 
days a year as of 1 September. The Call Centre was set up in August 
2015 to make information about the new method of calculating the 
charges for the public service or removal and disposal of mixed 
municipal waste, which was introduced at the time, more accessible 
to the citizens. The Call Centre also provided information about the 
services related to the One Utility Bill and about public transport. 
The communication of most subsidiaries and affiliates of the Zagreb 
Holding was integrated in the Call Centre in 2016 to make all our 
services accessible to the citizens at a single number: 072 500 400.

Introduction

Zagreb Holding Subsidiary Zagreb Roads added three new asphalt laying machines and five rollers to its fleet in 2016.

Employee relations

Investments

Financial restructuring

Management of relations with the business community

Management of relations with the City of Zagreb

Customer relations management

+5
mobile recycling centres

+365
“recycling islands”

one new “recycling island” a day

+35.296
containers for separate collection

of  recyclable waste

25%
more separately collected waste

072 500 400
Single number providing all information

about Zagreb Holding 24/7
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In 2016, the Subsidiary Zagreb Freight Station put in operation a container terminal, which put the City of Zagreb and the Republic of 
Croatia on the continental container terminal map.

Management of relations with the City of Zagreb

  The City of Zagreb is the founder and the 100% owner of the 
Zagreb Holding. Accordingly, our operations are primarily focused 
on improving the quality and extending the scope of the public 
services to the benefit of the citizens, the businesses and the lo-
cal government and self-governments in the City of Zagreb. The 
ultimate objectives are to improve the standard of living for the cit-
izens and the competitiveness of the city’s economy, as well as to 
positively impact the reputation of the City of Zagreb compared to 
other cities. To attain these objectives, the City of Zagreb strongly 
supported the activities of the Group in 2016, for instance, by spon-
soring and by providing direct financial support to the organisation 
of the Zagreb Auto Show and other events of significance for the 
tourism promotion of the City and for its economy.

Management of relations with the business 
community

  In addition to the aforementioned Zagreb Auto Show, an event or-
ganised by the Subsidiary Zagreb Fair, which had a very strong impact 
on the economy of the City of Zagreb and on the motor vehicles mar-
ket, in 2016 the Subsidiary Zagreb Freight Station put in operation the 
container terminal in Jankomir. The introduction of container reception, 
storage and dispatch as a new market service put the City of Zagreb 
and the Republic of Croatia on the continental container terminal map.

Financial restructuring

  Bond refinancing with a low interest rate, started in November 2015 
and concluded in July 2016, was the most important business event 

for the Group. The bond refinancing was a result of the long-term de-

leveraging strategy that included refinancing at a lower interest rate 

and reduction of currency risk exposure. Investor interest in the new 

7-year HRK bond issued by Zagreb Holding and backed by a guarantee 

provided by the City of Zagreb strongly exceeded the offer, resulting in 

a total demand higher than HRK 3 billion, compared to HRK 1.8 billion 

that was offered. 

The success of the bond issue is reflected also in the premium Zagreb 

Holding got on the reference yield of the state bond, which is signifi-

cantly lower than the premiums of other European cities. The financial 

strength and the economic development of the City of Zagreb, which 

supported the new issue of Zagreb Holding with a solidarity guarantee, 

had the crucial impact on the success of the issue. 

A total of as many as 59 investors participated in the HRK bond is-

sue of Zagreb Holding: 29 mandatory and voluntary pension funds, 11 

banks, and six investment funds, with insurance companies, legal and 

physical entities, and an international financial institution comprising 

the rest of the demand. The structure of the investors is even more 

satisfying when we consider that contributing to the development of 

the Croatian capital market had been one of the objectives of the issue. 

The transaction of early redemption of the old euro bonds of Zagreb 

Holding was carried out simultaneously with the new bond issue. 

The Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. was able to redeem approximately 

48.8% of the old euro bonds in this process and will redeem the re-

maining amount in 2017.

One of our top projects, the Svetice Swimming Pool 
Complex, was completed in 2016 and turned over to 
the City for management. Three swimming pools, a 

wellness centre and a number of sports courts are the 
citizens’ service in an area of almost 10,000 m2.

Zagreb Auto Show was held 5-10 April 2016 under the 
auspices of the President of the Republic of Croatia 

and with the support of the City of Zagreb and City of 
Zagreb Tourism Board.

All available Zagreb Fair capacities were put to use 
during the Zagreb Auto Show. 440 exhibitors from 

33 countries occupied 70,000 m2 in 14 pavilions and 
outside. The attractive contents and novelties aroused a 

great public interest

141,555 visitors saw the show in six days, and some 
dealers sold all their demo vehicles.

428 accredited journalists from Croatia and abroad 
covered the Show.

The next Zagreb Auto Show will take place in 2018.

The President of the Republic of Croatia 
Kolinda Grabar Kitarović visited the show too. 

(photographed with Mayor of Zagreb Milan 
Bandić and the President of the Management 

Board of Zagreb Holding Ana Stojić Deban in the 
booth of the company Rimac Automobili next to 

the hypersports electric car Concept_S)
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Investments

   The Group realised a total of HRK 251 million of investments in 
2016, 16.5% of which were funded by EU funding instruments. 

Employee relations

  The Management Board of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. 
proposed a new collective agreement to the trade unions active 
in the Company in 2015. The new agreement was supposed to 
contain the provisions of the existing Fundamental Collective 
Agreement with all annexes in form of consolidated text, and its 
content was supposed to be modernised and adjusted to the pres-
ent needs of the Company’s operations and the legal regulations. 
The Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. also developed a unified job 
catalogue in order to rationalise staff costs and increase worker 
mobility. Since the trade unions active in the Company failed to 
deliver their opinion about their preparedness and willingness to 
start the collective bargaining procedure by delivering a written 
representativeness agreement signed by all trade unions active 
in the Company, and a decision on the representativeness of the 
trade unions, and that they also failed to deliver a written notice 
about their bargaining committees, the Management Board of the 
Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. made the decision to terminate the 
Fundamental Collective Agreement on 22 April 2016. 

However, since the Supreme Court of the Republic of Croatia valid-
ly ruled that the termination of the Fundamental Collective Agree-
ment was illegal, in order to realise its objective stated above, the 
Company again invited all trade unions active in the Company to 
notify the Company about their bargaining committees in order for 
the collective bargaining to begin. The negotiations are supposed 
to reduce staff costs, among other things, which rose considerably 
in 2016 due to the expiry of Annex V to the Fundamental Collective 

Agreement, where Christmas and holiday bonuses were defined 
in tax exempt amounts, resulting in the payment of HRK 2,884.87 
for each of these rights in 2016.

In course of the collective bargaining process, Zagreb Holding Ltd. 
will strive to find a solution that will suit both parties, maintaining 
the existing level of workers’ rights, including material rights, while 
simultaneously reducing the Company’s staff costs to acceptable 
levels

The success of the Company’s operations con-
firmed

 Two rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, assessed 
the Zagreb Holding Group’s credit rating in 2016.

Moody's published its credit rating report for Zagreb Golding Group 
on 14 March 2016, downgrading Zagreb Holding’s rating from Ba2 to 
Ba3 with a negative outlook, which was in line with the downgrading 
of the credit rating of the Republic of Croatia and the City of Zagreb. 
In its latest report from 16 March 2017, Moody’s confirmed Zagreb 
Holding’s Ba3 rating, changing the outlook from negative to stable. 

Standard & Poor’s laid a special emphasis on improved liquidity 
in its report from 22 July 2016, upgrading Zagreb Holding’s credit 
rating from B+ to BB-, recognising its efforts aimed at improving 
its financial position and liquidity. On 29 December 2016, Standard 
& Poor’s upgraded Zagreb Holding’s outlook to stable, maintaining 
the BB- rating. This was the third successive upgrade of the cred-
it rating, which serves as an additional confirmation of  the good 
business course of the Zagreb Holding. The outlook was upgraded, 
among other reasons, dues to the successful bond refinancing, the 
stabilisation of the credit debt to net operating profit ratio, and the 
continued support of the City of Zagreb, whose outlook was also 
deemed stable along with the outlook of the Republic of Croatia.

59 investors participated 
in the HRK bond issue of 
Zagreb Holding

The Agency Standard &
Poor’s upgraded Zagreb 
Holding’s credit rating on
three successive occasions

Zagreb, 19 July 2016 - Zagrebački holding issued the first series 
of bonds in the amount of HRK 1.8 billion maturing in 2023 and 
with an interest rate of 3.875%, which is the lowest interest rate 
at which a company or a city got indebted on the domestic capital 
market, it was emphasized at the press conference of Zagrebački 
holding.

This extraordinary business success and the achievements of the 
City of Zagreb and Zagrebački holding were commented on by Mi-
lan Bandić, the Mayor of the City of Zagreb and Ana Stojić Deban, 
the President of the Management Board of Zagrebački holding, as 
well as by Božo Prka, the President of the Management Board of 

Privredna banka Zagreb, and Miljenko Živaljić, the President of the 
Management Board of Zagrebačka banka, on behalf of the banks-
agents. Moreover, Ivana Gažić, the President of the Management 
Board of the Zagreb Stock Exchange also spoke of the importance 
of this issue of bonds on the domestic capital market.

The refinancing of the bonds of Zagrebački holding is a result of a 
long-term strategy of deleveraging which included the refinancing 
at a lower interest rate and a reduction in the currency risk expo-
sure. The interest in the new seven-year kuna bond of Zagrebački 
holding, ensured through a guarantee of the City of Zagreb, largely 
exceeded the offer resulting in a total demand of more than HRK 3 
billion even though only HRK 1.8 billion were offered.

The funds collected by this new issue will be used for an early 
redemption and redemption upon maturity of the existing Eu-
robond, issued in 2007 in the amount of EUR 300 million. The new 
bond will have an interest rate of 3.875%, which is considerably 
less than the 5.5% interest rate of the existing Eurobonds of Za-
grebački holding.

The success in this issue also lies in the premium which the Hold-
ing achieved on the reference yield of the state bond which is 
significantly lower compared to the premiums of other European 
cities (cities have an even lower risk than city-owned companies, 
such as Zagrebački holding). The key contributor to the success 
of the issue is the financial power and economic development of 
the City of Zagreb, which supported this new issue of Zagrebački 
holding with a solidary guarantee. Altogether, there were as many 
as 59 investors participating in the issuing of the HRK bonds of 
Zagrebački holding, of which 29 were obligatory and voluntary pen-
sions funds, 11 banks, 6 investment funds, while the remainder 
of the demand was comprised of insurance companies, legal and 
natural persons and one international financial institution. The next 
series in the amount of HRK 500 million has also been announced 
that will be aimed at citizens; the issue is expected in three to four 
months.

PBZ And ZABA, Agents Issuing 
HRK 1.8 Billion In Bonds Of 
Zagrebački Holding

Publicnow.com

Finance

20/07/2016 | Press release | Distributed by Public on 21/07/2016 08:06
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Our employees

The Group implemented the policy of zero tolerance for corrupt be-
haviour in 2016 by strengthening its internal inspection system, by 
continually implementing the audit recommendations of the Internal 
Audit and Control Department of Zagreb Holding Ltd., and by taking 
the actions recommended by the State Audit Office in the revision of 
the efficiency of fraud prevention and discovery.

In addition to the function of the Ethics Committee, the Management 
Board of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. appointed an Irregularities 
Committee in 2015, whose task is to implement institutional business 
processes of identifying and permanently eliminating possible irregu-
lar, unprofessional or illegal activities in the Company. 

The Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. is under obligation to enforce the 
Act on the System of Internal Audits in the Public Sector, the Act on 
the Transparency of the Flows of Public Funds, and the Fiscal Respon-
sibility Act. In the Statement on Fiscal Responsibility, the President of 
the Management Board of the Company guarantees the efficiency of 
the internal audit system and ensures continual methodological risk 
management and removal of internal weaknesses and irregularities.

Environmental protection and conservation of natural resources is one 
of the Group’s top priorities, as evidenced by the increasing number 
of quality certificates obtained by the subsidiaries of Zagreb Holding 
Ltd. and the other companies of the Group: ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO 
50001, OHSAS 18001, ISO 22000, as well as other special certificates 
and standards specific for the Group’s various activities.

The policy of zero tolerance for corrupt behaviour

Corporate social responsibility

The Group pays special attention to corporate social responsibility and to greater customer satisfaction with the services provided by the Group. 
Corporate social responsibility helps build the Company’s reputation and motivates its workers to work on business development in the long term 
in order to realise the plans that the Group has set and adopted.

Zagreb Holding helping

We organised two humanitarian campaigns in cooperation with 
the Zagreb City Red Cross in 2016, in which Zagreb Holding em-
ployees raised more than HRK 6,000 and collected almost two 
tonnes of food and more than 1,000 cosmetic products for the 
Zagreb Food Bank

Support to UNICEF programmes
The Company invests substantial funds in the realisation of pro-
jects of common interest through its donation and sponsorship 
programmes. Among other programmes, we support the activi-
ties of UNICEF Croatia as a project partner, mailing UNICEF flyers 
calling for donations to UNICEF’s programmes together with our 
utility bills. During our four years of cooperation, UNICEF raised 
HRK 740,000 in citizens donations in this way, HRK 370,000 of 
which was raised in 2016 alone.

Zagreb Holding at the Museums at Night event
The Company traditionally supports the event Museums at Night by organising public transport on special so-called Museum Routes for the 
duration of the event. Celebrating the 10th anniversary of its establishment, Zagreb Holding actively joined the event by organising the exhibition 
“Zagreb kakav je negdar bil” (”Zagreb As It Used to Be”) in 2016. We presented the history of all our services to the citizens and the public for 
the first time in one place somewhat more than 2,500 m2 at the Zagreb Fair on 29 January. The exhibition was prepared with much love and 
dedication by Zagreb Holding employees with the support of the Company’s Management Board. Zagreb Holding estimates that 7,000 citizens 
saw the exhibition in one night

All Zagreb Holding Group customers, business partners and em-
ployees can report any illegal and/or unethical actions in Holding 
operations to the Ethics Committee in written or in electronic 
form. Protection of privacy is guaranteed. The form is available on 
our website, where we also publish all information, business and 
all other statements, regulations and everything else.
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Group 
profile



Organisation 
structure of the 
Group on  
31 December 2016
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No. Name Description

 Branches of Zagrebački holding d.o.o.  

1. City Cemeteries Funerary and related services

2. City Waste Disposal Cleaning and waste disposal

3. Zagreb Electric Tram (ZET) Public transport of passengers

4. Zrinjevac Green space landscaping and maintenance 

5. Zagreb Roads Management, maintenance and construction of 
regional and local roads

6. Zagrebparking Public parking lot and garage services

7. Zagreb Bus Terminal Bus terminal services

8. Zagreb Markets Wholesale and retail markets, storage

9. ZGOS (Landfill Management) Waste collection and removal

10. Zagreb Digital City Telecommunication ducts and network leasing

11. Project Management Apartment construction and sales

12. Arena Zagreb Sports buildings management and maintenance

13. Zagreb Freight Station (RTZ) Goods storage

14. Vladimir Nazor Organised vacations for young people, travel 
agency

15. Zagreb Fair (ZV) Organisation of fairs, conferences, consultations

16. Real Estate Property Management Real estate property services

Companies and institutions owned by the Company

1. Zagreb City Gasworks Ltd., 100% owned by  Zagreb 
Holding Gas distribution

2. Zagreb City Gasworks-Supply Ltd., 100% owned by 
Zagreb Holding Gas supply

3. Zagreb City Pharmacy, 100% owned by Zagreb Holding Pharmacy services

4. Zagreb plakat Ltd., 51%  owned by Zagreb Holding Advertising space leasing

5. City Housing and Municipal Services Company Ltd. 
(GSKG), 100% owned by Zagreb Holding Building management

6. Water Supply and Drainage Ltd., 100% owned by  
Zagreb Holding Water collection, treatment and distribution

7. AGM Ltd., 100% owned by Zagreb Holding Publishing services

8. Zagreb Housing Construction Ltd., 100% owned by 
Zagreb Holding Apartment construction and sales

9. Centre Ltd., 100% owned by Zagreb Holding Organisation of sports vacations for young people

GROUP PROFILE

The Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. was incorporated under the Croatian Companies Act in 2006 as City Municipal Services Company Ltd. 
In January 2007, it changed its name to Zagreb Holding Ltd. The Company is 100% owned by the City of Zagreb. On 31 December 2016, 
the Company comprised 16 subsidiaries that took over the activities of the former city-owned companies. Zagreb Holding Ltd. is based 
in Zagreb, Ulica grada Vukovara 41. On 31 December 2016, the Company owned eight companies and one institution, which together 
comprised Zagreb Holding Group. 

The table and the flowchart below provide an overview of the components, organisation forms and activities of the Group.

The subsidiary Real Estate Management was entered into the Court Registry of the Commercial Court in Zagreb on 5 April 2016 and was estab-
lished in order to unite the management of all real estate properties owned by the Company that are not used in the Company’s core business in 
order to ensure the long-term economic profitability of the real estate properties through organised and planned management, reduce the existing 
maintenance costs, and accomplish optimal market utilisation and functionality of the properties while maximizing the operating profit for the 
Company Zagreb Holding Ltd.

The Group’s activities are grouped into three business areas: municipal, traffic and commercial activities. Investments in investment projects 
are managed through centralised business functions in order to develop and advance the Company’s activities, the city infrastructure, and the 
municipal and service activities.
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GROUPE PROFILE

Strategic framework elements 
The Group’s mission is to efficiently provide municipal and urban services through responsible corporate operations focused on accom-
plishing and maintaining the satisfaction of all interest groups.

The Group’s vision is to become a synonym for pleasant, organised and healthy living in Zagreb, and example of excellence in providing 
public services, and the driver, promoter and backbone of economic development of the City of Zagreb and the Republic of Croatia. 

Continual focus on corporate responsibility and business excellence in order to accomplish an optimal combination of price and service 
quality and operating efficiency, and advance the comfort of urban living and the satisfaction of its customers, workers, owners and the 
social and the business communities, are the Group’s core values. 

The mission and vision statements were written in accordance with the strategic framework elements.

mission statement

Be a reliable member of the Zagreb families and a 
positive energy in city life.

Our key business objective in the medium term is 
to create the prerequisites, and then to generate 
sustainable growth of the Group, and to free up 
balance potential for focused investments.

We bring healthy, pleasant and safe urban living 
to the citizens of Zagreb and the local community. 
Every day. 

vision statement
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

The following persons served as Members of the Supervisory Board of Zagreb Holding Ltd. in 2016 and 2015:

2016

1. Mirna Šitum, Member (from 1 July 2013), Deputy President (from 2 July 2013), President (from 8 December 2014)

2. Davor Štern, Member (from 1 July 2013), Deputy President (from 8 December 2014)

3. Ivan Šikić, Member (from 1 July 2013)

4. Gojko Bežovan, , Member (from 1 July 2013)

5. Mirsad Srebreniković, Member (from 28 May 2015)

6. Jelena Pavičić Vukičević, Member (from 28 May 2015)

7. Andrea Šulentić, Member (from 28 May 2015)

8. Grgo Jelinić, Member (from 28 May 2015 to 8 August 2016)

9. Mirko Herak, Member (from 28 May 2015 to 8 August 2016)

10. Ivan Ćelić, Member (from 8  August 2016 to 21 November 2016)

11. Nikola Mijatović, Member (from 8 August 2016)

12. Mario Župan, Member (from 8 August 2016)

2015

1. Mirna Šitum, Member (from 1 July 2013), Deputy President (from 2 July 2013), President (from 8 December 2014)

2. Davor Štern, Member (from 1 July 2013), Deputy President (from 8 December 2014)

3. Ivan Šikić, Member (from 1 July 2013)

4. Gojko Bežovan, Member (from 1 July 2013)

5. Mirsad Srebreniković, Member (from 28 May 2015)

6. Jelena Pavičić Vukičević, Member (from 28 May 2015)

7. Andrea Šulentić, Member (from 28 May 2015)

8. Grgo Jelinić, Member (from 28 May 2015)

9. Mirko Herak, Member (from 28 May 2015)

10. Vladimir Ferdelji, Member (from 8 December 2014 to 1 July 2015)

The Group’s organs 

MANAGEMENT BOARD

The following persons served as Members of the Management Board of Zagreb Holding Ltd. in 2016 and 2015:

2016

1. Ana Stojić Deban, President of the Management Board from 16 June 2015

2. Daniela Franić, Member of the Management Board from 6 March 2015

3. Bernard Mršo, Member of the Management board from 8 August 2016

2015

1.
Daniela Franić, temporary manager from 31 October 2014 to 5 March 2015; Dejan Fičko, President of the
Management Board from 6 March 2015 to 15 June 2015; Ana Stojić Deban, President of the Management Board
from 16 June 2015

2. Daniela Franić, Member of the Management Board from 6 March 2015

3. Marija Cvrlje, Member of the Management Board from 6 March to 15 June 2015

4. Denis Nikola Kulišić, Member of the Management Board from 6 March to 15 June 2015

5. Krešimir Kvaternik, Member of the Management Board from 6 March to 15 June 2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Zagreb Holding Ltd. is the owner of the following limited liabil-
ity companies: Zagreb City Gasworks Ltd., Zagreb City Gas-
works-Supply Ltd., City Housing and Municipal Services Company 
Ltd., Water Supply and Drainage Ltd., Zagreb plakat Ltd., Zagreb 
Housing Construction Ltd., AGM Ltd. and Centre Ltd. 

Zagreb Holding Ltd. is the owner of the Institution Zagreb City 
Pharmacy.

The Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. conducts its core business 
through 16 subsidiaries: Zagreb Bus Terminal, City Waste Dispos-
al, City Cemeteries, Zagreb Freight Station, Project Management, 
Zagreb Markets, Vladimir Nazor, Arena Zagreb, Zagrebparking, 
Zagreb Roads, Zagreb Digital City, Zagreb Electric Tram, Zagreb 
Fair, ZGOS, Zrinjevac and Real Estate Property Management. The 
association of subsidiaries, related undertakings and institution 
comprises Zagreb Holding Group, with Zagreb Holding Ltd. as its 
leading company in the creation of business policies.

In accordance with the Companies Act, the related undertakings 

have their company organs monitoring and supervising their ac-

tivities (with the exception of the companies AGM Ltd., Zagreb 

Housing Construction Ltd. and Centre Ltd., which are not under 

legal obligation to have supervisory boards). The components of 

Zagreb Holding Group thus practice a closed corporate govern-

ance system, with mechanisms characteristic of limited liability 

companies activated. The Institution is managed in accordance 

with the positive acts governing institutions.

In regulating its mode of operation and behaviour, Zagreb Holding 

Group is oriented on practicing high corporate governance stand-

ards based on OECD principles and corporate governance and 

business transparency.

There is an Ethics Committee and a Consumer Protection Com-

mittee operating at Group level.
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Zagreb Holding Subsidiary Zagreb Electric Tram was the first in 
Croatia to buy gas-fuelled public transport buses.

Annual CO2 emissions were cut by approximately 3,500 tonnes 
through the use of alternative fuels, which is an impressive figure 

considering the distance travelled by ZET’s vehicles

GROUP ASSEMBLY

The City of Zagreb is the only member of the Assembly of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. In 2016 and 2015, the member 
was represented by:

2016

1. Milan Bandić (from 22 April 2015)

2. Slavko Kojić (from 28 June 2013)

3. Vesna Kusin (from 30 March 2015)

2015

1. Milan Bandić (from 22 April 2015)

2. Sandra Švaljek (until 30 March 2015)

3. Slavko Kojić (from 28 June 2013)

4. Vesna Kusin (from 30 March 2015)

AFFILIATE COMPANIES AND PUBLIC INSTITUTION

The following persons served as the directors of the affiliate companies and the public institution owned by Zagreb Holding 
Ltd. in 2016: 

AFFILIATE COMPANY DIRECTOR

Zagreb City Gasworks Ltd. Bruno Lacković until 22 March 2016 
 Tihana Colić from 23 March 2016

Zagreb City Gasworks-Supply Ltd. Miroslav Jerković until 20 March 2016,   
Igor Pirija from 21 March 2016

Zagreb plakat Ltd. Bosiljka Grbašić, Kruno Ian Bodegray

Zagreb City Pharmacy Nadica Jambrek, Director

City Housing and Municipal Services Company Ltd. Joško Jakelić

Water Supply and Drainage Ltd. Štefica Mihalic

AGM Ltd. Svjetlana Dizdar until 1 November 2016,  
Dinko Čutura from 2 November 2016

Zagreb Housing Construction Ltd. Renata Šoprek, Zdravko Juć until 27 June 2016  
Željko Horvat from 28 June 2016

Centre Ltd. Milan Kanjer (bankruptcy estate manager) until 7 June 2016,  
Tomislav Bilić from 8 June 2016

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Company requires a Member of the Management Board to represent the Company collectively with other Members of the Management 
Board or together with an individual Member who can represent the company independently and individually. If more than one Member 
of the Management Board is appointed, one Member is appointed President. The scopes of authority of the Members of the Management 
Board are defined by a special decision of the Management Board. 

The Management is under obligation to make sure that the Company maintains business and other books and business documentation, 
prepares bookkeeping documents, makes realistic evaluations of its assets and liabilities, writes financial and other reports in line with 
accounting regulations and standards and the valid laws and regulations. The Management Board submitted reports about the Company’s 
operations in course of the business year to the Supervisory Board in accordance with the Companies Act.

The Supervisory Board supervises the management of the Company’s operations in accordance with the Companies Act, the Articles of 
Association, the Standing Orders on the Activities of the Supervisory Board, and the other valid regulations. Company Assembly elects 
and recalls the Members of the Supervisory Board, who are appointed for a four year term. One Member serves as a representative of 
the workers and is elected and recalled in line with the regulations of the Croatian Labour Act. The Members of the Supervisory Board 
regularly receive detailed information and reports about the state of the Company, its management and activities, to be able to fulfil 
their obligation to supervise the management of the Company’s operations. Also, the Supervisory Board performs internal audit and 
supervision through the Audit Committee, which provides professional support to the Supervisory and Management Boards in efficient 
fulfilment of the obligations of corporate governance, risk management, financial reporting and control of the Company. The Supervisory 
Board’s report about the performed supervision of the Company management is a constituent part of the Company’s annual statements 
that are submitted to the Company Assembly.

	 The Members of the Supervisory Board are:

	 	 Mirna Šitum, Member (from 1 July 2013), Deputy President (from 2 July 2013), President (from 8 December 2014)

	 	 Davor Štern, Member (from 1 July 2013), Deputy President (from 8 December 2014)

	 	 van Šikić, Member (from 1 July 2013)

	 	 Gojko Bežovan, Member (from 1 July 2013)

	 	 Mirsad Srebreniković, Member (from 28 May 2015)

	 	 Jelena Pavičić Vukičević, Member (from 28 May 2015)

	 	 Andrea Šulentić, Member (from 28 May 2015)

	 	 Grgo Jelinić, Member (from 28 May 2015 to 8 August 2016)

	 	 Mirko Herak, Member (from 28 May 2015 to 8 August 2016)

	 	 Ivan Ćelić, Member (from 8 August 2016 to 21 November 2016)

	 	 Nikola Mijatović, Member (from 8 August 2016)

	 	 Mario Župan, Member (from 8 August 2016)

Company Assembly is composed of the City of Zagreb as the only Member of the Company, represented by representatives appointed 
pursuant to the Conclusion on the Representatives of the City of Zagreb in the Assemblies of Companies in which the City of Zagreb 
holds a 100% stake. They are:

	 	 Milan Bandić, Mayor of the City of Zagreb,

	 	 Vesna Kusin, Deputy Mayor,

	 	 Slavko Kojić, Head of the City Finance Office.

Company Assembly usually meets once a year and is required to meet in all cases when it is so required the Company’s interests, or in 
cases defined by the law and the Articles of Association. 

Statement of Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 

TPursuant to Article 22 of the Accounting Act (Official Gazette of the Republic of Croatia 78/15, 120/16), the Management Board of the 
Company Zagreb Holding Ltd., based in Zagreb, Ulica Grada Vukovara 41 (hereinafter: the Company), makes the following 

STATEMENT
of Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance

1.	 The Company voluntarily applies the Code of Corporate Governance of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd., enacted by the following 
Company organs: the Management Board, on 23 December 2015; the Supervisory Board, on 11 May 2016; and the Company Assembly, 
on 12 May 2016. The Code is publicly available on the Company’s website.

2.	 In the business year 2016, the Company essentially complied with and implemented the recommendations set forth by the Code, 
publishing all information whose publication is required under the positive regulations, and whose publication is in the best interest of the 
investors and all stakeholders. 

There were some minor deviations from some of the recommendations made by the Code. A comprehensive calendar of important events 
was not published on the Company’s website. Instead, individual calendars were published on the websites of individual subsidiaries. 
A framework plan of the activities of the Supervisory Board was not adopted, since the meetings of the Supervisory Board are called as 
needed in accordance with everyday information about the Company’s activities, operations and problems received by the Management 
Board, the Company Assembly and the public, including information that has been brought to the attention of the Supervisory Board and 
that affects the activities of the Company directly or indirectly. Supervisory Board meetings are therefore called often to discuss different 
topics, and are not limited to the topics set forth by the Articles of Association and the legislation. Members of the Audit Committee are 
not Members of the Supervisory Board because the Supervisory Board has got the discretion right to decide about the composition of the 
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has not prepared the rules about the services that the external audit company and its affiliates 
are not allowed to provide to the Company, services that they are only allowed to provide with previous approval of the Committee, and 
services that they are allowed to provide without the approval of the Committee, since the Audit Committee supervises the activities of 
the external audit company  and all extra services that the external auditor may provide to the company, as regulated by the Audit Act and 
the EU Regulation on Specific Requirements Regarding the Statutory Audit of Public-Interest Entities. 

The subsidiaries and the affiliates of Zagreb Holding Group have also essentially complied with and implemented the recommendations 
set forth by the Code. Minimal deviations from the implementation of the Code are related to the obligation to submit quarterly written 
reports to the Management Board and to the Assembly of the related undertakings. The affiliate companies fulfilled this obligation by 
submitting monthly consolidation packages comprising the basic financial statements (profit and loss statement, balance sheet, cash 
flow etc) instead of the quarterly reports.

The directors of the subsidiaries comprising the Company and the Members of the Management Boards of the related undertakings 
largely kept their operations within the confines of the approved annual plans. Deviations from the plans were for the most part related to 
operating items that were impossible to plan, such as provisioning costs and value adjustment costs

3.	 The Company ensures the efficiency of the internal audit system in financial reporting, consisting of different records and methods 
implemented to initiate, identify, analyse, classify and record business events, including all measures and procedures to be implemented 
in connection with the accounting statement of business events, and compilation of reliable financial statements.
The Internal Audit Department is in charge of reviewing the efficiency of the internal audit system organising and supervising the flow of 
accurate, concrete and integral information about the Company. 

The Company is under obligation to have independent external auditors as an important corporate governance instrument to ensure that 
the financial reports adequately reflect the actual state of the Company as a whole. 

4.	 Between 1 January and 7 August 2016, the Management Board of the Company was composed of Ana Stojić Deban, President of 
the Management Board, and Daniela Franić, Member of the Management Board. By virtue of the Company Assembly’s Decision, Bernard 
Mršo was appointed Member of the Management Board effective 8 August 2016, and the Management has been composed of three 
members from this date. The Members of the Management Board are appointed for a term of four years.

The Management Board manages the operations of the Company in line with the Articles of Association and the legal regulations. 
Members of the Management Board represent the Company individually and independently, unless a special decision by a Member of the 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Company Assembly decides about the Company’s financial statements, the utilisation of profit and the coverage of losses; alienation 
and encumbrance of real estate properties; investments in the development and construction of new facilities and investments in other 
companies; the Company’s annual operations plan; increase and decrease of the capital stock; appointment and recall of the Members of 
the Supervisory Board; status changes, amendments to the Statement and winding up of the Company. In addition to these matters, the 
Assembly decides about all other matter included in its scope of authority under the law, Articles of Association and other internal acts.

In the implementation of the diversity policy, the primary objective of the Company is to ensure the application of the principles of equal 
opportunities and diversity in all processes and functions, and to make them a constituent part of decision-making in everyday practice. The 
implementation of anti-discrimination measures, ensuring equality irrespective of belonging to a particular age, gender, ethnic, national 
etc group, and establishment of an inclusive working environment is of special significance. For the purposes of implementation of the 
diversity policy as one of the elements of corporate social responsibility, the Company enacted the Code of Conduct as a legal framework 
and appointed the Ethics Committee and the Irregularities Committee, whose task is to identify actions that represent discrimination on 
any basis and propose sanctions for such behaviour, each within its scope of authority. 

Particular attention is paid to the protection and promotion of the rights of persons with disability. Many employees with varying degrees 
of disability successfully participate in the performance of activities of all subsidiaries of the Company every day. Zagreb Institution for the 
Rehabilitation of Persons with Disability by Professional Rehabilitation and Employment (URIHO) is one of the Company’s most important 
partners.

Under Article 22 of the Accounting Act, this Statement constitutes a separate section and a constituent part of the Company’s Annual 
Statement for 2016. 

In Zagreb, 31 March 2017

								           President of the Management Board 
Ana Stojić Deban

								        __________________
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The Asphalt Plant operated by  
the Subsidiary Zagreb

Roads in Rakitje

Management Report 
and Business Analysis
SPursuant to the Accounting Act (Official Gazette of the Republic of Croatia 78/15, 134/15, 120/16), we hereby present the Management 
Report for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Corporate responsibility and 
sustainability 

As the largest urban municipal services operator, Zagreb Holding 
Group is aware of its considerable impact on the environment 
and the society. Even though the Group’s main task is to provide 
high-quality public municipal services and goods to the citizens 
of the City of Zagreb, the Group also performs other activities 
of public interest, and is characterised by strong interconnection 
of financial and nonfinancial objectives with the interests of the 
broader social community that it operates in. The Group not only 
contributes to local development with its financial results, but also 
influences the economic and social developments in the Croatian 
economy. Employing a substantial number of workers and working 
with suppliers, contractors and other stakeholders, the Group con-
tributes to the local community by building stable partnerships. In 
line with city policies, aiming to avoid potential negative impacts on 
the environment and the society, and to increase long-term value 
in public interest, the Group is dedicated to the implementation of 
sustainable development principles in its daily business processes. 

Fulfilling its mission, the Group strives for maximal protection of 
the environment and public interest of the City of Zagreb, and its 
long-term strategic orientation is focused on business excellence 
in combination with sustainable action in order to satisfy the needs 
of all existing and future users of the Group’s services.

The broader responsibility perspective of the Zagreb Holding en-
tails responsible corporate action, including economic, social and 
environmental responsibility. Economic, social and environmental 
responsibility is a constituent part of the business objectives of 
the Group, based on principles of sustainable development and 
responsible behaviour..

The Group believes that corporate social responsibility prac-
tice includes management of the impact of the Group’s op-
erations, products and services on the society, such as social 
investments, involvement in the development of the local 
community, and issues related to respecting workers’ rights 
and investments in human resources, health and safety.

A responsible practice in the domain of environmental protec-
tion pertains to the management of the impact of the Group’s 
operations, products and services, such as production tech-
nology and efficiency of exploitation of natural resources.

Zagreb Holding Ltd. will voluntarily publish its nonfinancial state-
ment, or the corporate social responsibility statement on the im-
pact of its operations on the society and the environment, for the 
first time this year. All information about the impact on the society 
and the environment is collected within the Company Zagreb Hold-
ing Ltd. as of 2016. New business challenges will be successfully 
mastered, minimising the identified business risks through effi-
cient management of the company’s resources, by using regular 
and public reporting about the impact of Zagreb Holding Ltd. on the 
society and the environment. The Group’s dedication to corporate 
social responsibility is the result of many years of efforts invested 
by our employees. This advantage will be presented in quantitative 
form (and in narrative form where there are no figures) for the first 
time in the nonfinancial statement to help the Group accomplish 
sustainable long-term growth in the future through more efficient 
management.
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Corporate responsibility

Economic responsibility
	 Sustainable growth of the Group

	 IInvesting in products, goods and services of value to the society

Social responsibility
	 Participating in the development of the local community

	 Respecting workers’ rights

	 Investing in human resources

	 Investing in health and safety

Environmental responsibility
	 Environmentally friendly technologies

	 Efficient utilisation of natural resources

	 Generation of electricity from landfill gas

find all of 
our services 
at one 
number!

zagreb holding call centre

Relationship with the interest and 
influence groups

Considering the municipal activities and services that the compa-
nies of Zagreb Holding Group provide to the citizens of the City of 
Zagreb, the Group’s operations are of pivotal importance for the 
functioning of the City, which gives the Group an even greater 
responsibility to the community. 

The main interest and influence groups that the Group’s compa-
nies are linked with and interact with are: the citizens of the City of 
Zagreb – users of its services; employees; the City of Zagreb; sup-
pliers; financial institutions; trade union organisations active in the 
Group’s companies; and the media. These are our key activities 
in the relations with the interest and influence groups: providing 
quality services by the Group’s companies to all users and com-
munication with the users; professional training and education of 
the workers; ensuring occupational health and safety; and trade 
union activity. Conflict of interest and other important issues re-
lated to acceptable professional behaviour of the employees and 
the management are regulated by the Code of Conduct, and there 
is an independent internal audit unit that contributes to increased 
personal and professional responsibility. 

The Group works to improve the visibility and accessibility of all 

information related to the citizens and its users on a daily basis, 
thus contributing to the transparency of its own operations and 
ultimately increasing the trust of the citizens and the other inter-
est and influence groups in the public administration system. The 
importance of the relations with all interest and influence groups 
is recognised through the interactive, formal and informal com-
munication that we have established, directly or by web form. 
Such communication allows them to ask questions, voice their 
opinions, and discuss topics of relevance for them. The Customer 
Centre located at the address Ulica grada Vukovara 41, the web in-
terface Customer Zone, and the Call Centre of the Zagreb Holding 
have a special part in this. By introducing the single number 072 
500 400, we made information on all charges contained in the One 
Utility Bill and other services provided by the Group’s companies 
much more accessible to the citizens.

The Group influences its reputation in dealings with all interest 
groups by opting for information transparency. We therefore de-
vote a special attention to regular corporate reporting, including 
accessibility and full compliance of the reporting with the require-
ments of the Accounting Act, Public Procurement Act, and the An-
ticorruption Programme

ANNUAL STATEMENT  2016ZAGREB HOLDING GROUP
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The nature of the operations and activities of Zagreb Holding 
Group puts a substantial economic, social and environmental re-
sponsibility on the Group, reflected in its impact on the society and 
the environment. The Group therefore implements the principles 
of good and responsible management of all its resources to make 
its operations efficient and sustainable. The Group’s responsible 
activities are recognised in voluntary practices going above and 
beyond the minimum proscribed by the law in the following areas: 
economic sustainability, incorporation of corporate social respon-
sibility in the business strategy, dialogue with the community, hu-
man rights, and responsibility for products and services. 

Since the Group’s activities have a crucial significance for the City 
of Zagreb, the quality of the products and services it provides and 
its choice of technologies has a direct impact on the quality of life 
and the standard of living of all citizens of the City of Zagreb. The 
Group also has an extra responsibility to consistently promote cor-
porate social responsibility in its relations with its external users 
and in the promotion of responsible behaviour and social dialogue 
with its own workers.

We therefore invest systematic efforts in upgrading the standards 
of responsible social development and abidance by human rights 
within the Group, and in expanding social dialogue, acquisition of 
skills, equal opportunities, and change prediction and manage-
ment. In addition to respecting human rights, we devote maxi-
mum attention to respecting labour standards and labour law.

The Group devotes special attention to the development of ser-
vices focused on the promotion of rights of persons with disabil-
ities, for instance, by adapting its low-floor vehicles that are used 

in public transport to persons with disabilities, and by involving 
persons with disabilities in its work processes as employees who 
participate in challenging and diverse activities in all companies 
belonging to the Group on a daily basis. We would also like to un-
derline our important business partnership with the Institution for 
the Rehabilitation of Persons with Disability by Professional Reha-
bilitation and Employment (URIHO).

Applying the internal and the external dimension of corporate so-
cial responsibility in dealings with all its stakeholders, in combina-
tion with zero tolerance for all forms of unethical and corrupt be-
haviours, the Group devotes special attention to two of its largest 
interest groups, the users of its services, and its workers.

The practice of increasing the transparency and publicity of its 
operations and strengthening personal responsibility is promoted 
as a part of corporate social responsibility, in combination with in-
creasingly intensive cooperation with civil society organisations, 
aimed at balancing out the demands for an improved quality of life 
and the well-being of the broader social community. 

The operations of the Zagreb Holding Group follow the laws and 
ethical standards, as well as principles of sustainable development 
and social responsibility, enforcing the Code of Conduct and the 
Anticorruption Programme in full, with the objective of responsi-
ble, professional, ethical and transparent operation.  

Since the Group works in the interest of the public, the Manage-
ment Board of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. has enacted the 
Code of Conduct, which lays out the basic guidelines and rules of 
ethical behaviour for all employees. The Ethics Committee, set up 
in 2011, was very active in 2016. All users of the Group’s services, 

To promote and protect the rights of persons with disabilities, we predominantly buy low-floor buses and trams for public transport, and 
we have introduced audio announcements of the stops into our vehicles. We also organise transport for persons with disabilities and 
children with developmental difficulties, and we operate school buses for primary schools.

Impact on the society
We build trust through responsible, professional, 
ethical and transparent operations.

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY 
AND RESPONSIBILITY

business partners and employees can report illegal and/or unethi-
cal actions in the Group’s operations to the Ethics Committee in 
written or electronic form, and their privacy is fully protected in the 
process. The Committee investigates all received reports and no-
tifies the person who submitted the report about its final conclu-
sion. If the Committee discovers infringement of the Code of Con-
duct, it notifies the Management Board of the Company Zagreb 
Holding Inc. The Irregularities Committee was set up to investigate 
memorandums and complaints, and to notify the Management 
Board of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. about its findings.

The Customer Centre, located at the address of the Directorate of 
the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd., has a special role in ensuring di-
rect communication with the users. The Centre is a single point of 
contact where users can obtain all information about the Group’s 
services and pay their utility bills free of transaction charges. The 
Centre has a separate complaints area, where users are able to 
submit written or oral complaints against their bills or the services 
provided by the companies comprising the Group. 

The citizens and the users of municipal services can access and 
pay their bills online using three independent systems, which are, 
each in its own domain, used to communicate with users, deliver 
bills and present information about municipal services: web app 
MOJ VIO (“My Water Supply and Drainage”), operated by Water 
Supply and Drainage Ltd.; web and mobile app MOJ RAČUN (“My 
Bill”), operated by Zagreb City Gasworks-Supply Ltd.; and the 
system for the delivery of utility bills and One Utility Bill into the 
Personal User Mailbox and mobile app mPretinac, operated by the 
e-Citizens service provided by the Central State Portal. 

The Consumer Complaints Committee ensures the protection of 
consumer rights of the Group’s customers. In the first instance, 
consumer complaints are investigated by special committees set 
up at subsidiaries and affiliates, which look into the complaints 
against the services provided by the particular subsidiary or affili-
ate. When the Consumer Complaints Regulations were adopted, 
a Committee was set up at Group level as a second-instance body 
to decide about consumer complaints related to services from 
the Group’s registered activities as per the Consumer Protection 
Act (Official Gazette of the Republic of Croatia 41/14, 110/15). This 
Committee raised the protection of consumers from possible mal-
feasance to a higher level. Impartiality was ensured by appoint-
ing representatives of consumer protection associations into the 
Committee in addition to Group employees. The Committee met 
40 times in 2016 and reviewed 752 complaints, more than 50% of 
which were resolved in the applicant’s favour. 

In line with its long-standing practice of corporate social responsi-
bility, the Group strives to be a reliable partner to the community 
that it operates in, investing a systematic effort in recognising the 
specific needs of the society, and supporting quality humanitar-
ian, cultural, educational, environmental, healthcare, scientific 
and sports projects through its sponsorships and donations pro-
gramme. The principles, the criteria and the procedure for award-
ing sponsorship and donations in the Zagreb Holding Ltd. are 

defined by the Regulations on Sponsorship and Donations, which 

were adopted in early 2016. All approved sponsorships and dona-

tions are publicly available on the website of the Company Zagreb 

Holding Ltd., which contributes to transparency and promotes 

trust in our users. The system of financial supports and supports in 

kind to civil society organisations as permitted by our capacities is 

a part of the Group’s efforts to contribute to the well-being of the 

community that we live and work in. In collaboration with the local 

self-governments and civil society organisations, the Group strives 

to balance out the demands for an improved quality of life, social 

well-being, and efficient and profitable operations of the municipal 

service providers

CUSTOMER CENTRE 
All information in one place
Submit applications and complaints
Pay utility bills free of transaction fees
Check the balance of your bills

CALL CENTRE
Direct communication
with customers
24 hours a day, 365 days a year

CONSUMER PROTECTION  
COMMITTEE
A second-instance body
available to customers who are
unhappy with the decisions 
of first-instance bodies
at subsidiaries and affiliates

ETHICS COMMITTEE
Resolves complaints about illegal and/or
unethical actions in our operations.

IRREGULARITIES COMMITTEE
Reviews memos and complaints
and notifies the Company’s Management Bo-
ard to help permanently eliminate possible
irregular, unprofessional or
illegal activities
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Age structure 
of the Group's 
workers

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY 
AND RESPONSIBILITY

Description 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

Number of workers 10,394 10,646

% women in the total number 23 23

% women in management positions 57 64

Number of active trade unions 31 31
Structure of workers 
over 55 years of 
age in the Group's 
companies

DESCRIP. TOTAL
AGE

under 19 years 20-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 and older

Total 10.394 1 155 1.173 2.689 3.849 2.525 2
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37%

45-54 years

24%

55-64 years 2%

18-24 years

11%

25-34 years.

26%

35-44 years

3.1.3.	Responsibility to the Group’s workers
In addition to devoting efforts to its impact on the society as a whole and the satisfaction of the users of its services, the Group devotes 
special attention to the well-being of its workers. Our workers are our most valuable asset, and they play a pivotal role in building an effi-
cient system with potentials to deliver a quality service to the citizens and the businesses of the City of Zagreb. On 31 December 2016, 
the Group employed 10,394 workers or 252 workers fewer than on 31 December 2015, when it employed 10,646 workers.

The Group enforces the provisions of the Labour Act requiring 

companies to inform the workers about all issues of particular re-

levance for their economic and social positions, and to consult the 

workers before making decisions of relevance for their position, 

or to make such decisions jointly in cooperation with the worker’s 

council or the trade union commissioner. Some of these provisions 

have been incorporated in the internal acts of the Group’s compa-

nies, fostering a partnership with the trade unions and the wor-

kers’ councils set up and active at the Group’s companies. 

Special attention is paid to the protection and promotion of the 

rights of persons with disabilities. Hundreds of Group employees 

with varying degrees of disability successfully participate in 

challenging and diverse activities at all of the Group’s companies 

on a daily basis.

To increase efficiency, the Group strives to provide continuous tra-

ining and education to its workers. We also regularly implement 

occupational health and safety measures to minimize or eliminate 

the risk to the workers and the working environment that arises 

during the performance of the work activities

On 31 December 2016, the Group employed 2,527 older than 55 (24% of all employees):
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Grupa kroz svoju svakodnevnu djelatnost te usluge koje pruža 
graIn line with the principles of sustainable development, the 
Group makes an effort to help improve the relationship toward the 
environment through its everyday activities and the services it pro-
vides to the citizens of the City of Zagreb. 

Following its corporate guidelines and the legal regulations in en-
vironmental protection, the Zagreb Holding Group makes an effort 
to contribute to increasing energy efficiency, reducing carbon di-
oxide emissions, optimizing fuel consumption, and constantly im-
proving its services and the quality of life in the social community 
that it operates in through its activities. 

To ensure the implementation of the latest sustainability principles 
in environmental protection at all times, the Green Office of the 
Zagreb Holding has been systematically facilitating training work-
shops for the employees since 2011. The Office works to raise 
the awareness and the knowledge of the employees of Zagreb 
Holding Group about energy efficiency and to thus save money by 
conserving energy.

Some of the Group’s business processes are linked with the gen-
eration of emissions. All relevant environmental protection regu-
lations are applied in these processes, which are monitored by 
management systems. The Group’s companies follow all relevant 
environmental protection regulations, and their activities are like-
wise monitored by management systems. The Group continually 
works to establish and maintain international environment man-
agement standards (ISO 14001), energy management standards 
(ISO 50001), food/drinking water safety management standards 
(ISO 22000), and information safety management standards (ISO 
27001) as the best tools to attain corporate social responsibility. It 
is important to underline that the ISO 50001 standard will have the 
most important influence on reducing greenhouse gas emissions.
Following the standards of environmental and social responsibili-
ty, the Group aligns its operations with the National Green Public 
Procurement Action Plan 2015-2017, With a View on 2020. Based 
on this plan, the Management Board of the Company Zagreb Hold-
ing Ltd. adopted the Guidelines for the Implementation of Green 
Public Procurement in Zagreb Holding Ltd. in 2016, which are fol-
lowed in the procurement of goods and services. The public pro-
curement system is thus used to encourage the procurement of 
products with a lower carbon footprint than its counterpart prod-
ucts and services. The green public procurement concept rests 
on the establishment of clear, verified, justified and ambitious en-
vironmental standards for products and services based on their 
entire useful life. The so-called standards that we introduced apply 
to several priority categories: printing and copying paper, motor 
vehicles, electrical power, cleaning services, telecommunications 
services, and office and IT equipment. Such public procurement is 
characterised by lower greenhouse gas emissions, use of recycled 
materials, lower consumption of electrical power, use of electrical 
power generated from renewable sources, and restriction of the 
use of agents that have a negative impact on the environment. 

In addition to making environmental protection a part of the every-

Research, development and envi-
ronmental protection activities

day activities of the Zagreb Holding employees, the Group also 

implements various measures and activities to encourage the lo-

cal community to be responsible in its behaviour toward the envi-

ronment. The Group thus strives to involve the other stakeholders 

and work together with them to achieve a much stronger positive 

environmental protection impact. 

Encouraging citizens to sort waste is the first of our objectives. To 

accomplish this, we set up containers for separate collection of 

different types of waste, provided the service of bulky and other 

waste removal, and built new recycling centres and “recycling is-

lands”. All of these measures reflect the principles implemented in 

the Group’s environmental protection strategy. 

Until the end of 2016, the mTEO plant had been the only facility in 
Croatia generating electricity from landfill gas.

The number of “green islands” was increased from 242 to 607 in 
2016. As of August 2016, we intensified the distribution of sepa-
rate waste paper bins to our customers. A total of 37,000 individ-
ual customers had bins for separate collection of waste paper at 
the end of 2016. We reduced the amount of waste deposited at 
the landfill and increased the amounts of usable waste that gets 
recovered by introducing the service of bulky waste removal at 
customer request only, along with manual sorting of the collected 
bulky waste and the waste from illegal dumps. 

To fulfil our legal obligation to ensure that there is a minimum of 
one functional recycling centre in each district of the City of Za-
greb, we acquired five mobile recycling centres in early 2016 – 
mobile units that provide recycling centre services to the citizens 
in the districts Podsljeme, Trnje, Brezovica, Trešnjevka-South and 
Upper Town-Medveščak.

We also started the construction of a new recycling centre in Klara 
(Sisačka Street) and started the preparations for the construction 
of new recycling centres in Žitnjak (Čulinečka Street) and Sesvete 
(Sopnica Jelkovec estate) in 2016.

The Group had continually and actively implemented environmen-
tal protection measures in 2016 through its subsidiary ZGOS by 
ensuring proper functioning of the Prudinec/Jakuševec Landfill, 
built based on the construction permit and the approved amend-
ments to the main project design. A certificate of occupancy was 
obtained for the closed section of the Landfill in 2014. 

The activity of waste disposal using the D1 procedure is performed 
at the Prudinec/Jakuševec Landfill in line with the permit for the 
performance of waste management activities from July 2015.

The subsidiary ZGOS monitors the state of the environment in line 
with the Decision on Integrated Environmental Protection Condi-
tions for the Prudinec/Jakuševec Landfill from September 2016.

In July 2016, the Ministry of Environmental Protection and Energy 
initiated the procedure of reopening the procedure of establishing 
the environmental permit for the Prudinec/Jakuševec Landfill. We 
expect the procedure of reopening the procedure of establishing 
the environmental permit to be concluded in 2017 and a new envi-
ronmental permit to be issued, possibly with new conditions pro-
scribed by the relevant authorities.

A detailed monitoring of the state of the environment is conducted 
at the landfill. The monitoring includes air quality monitoring, mete-
orological parameter measurement, measurements of landfill gas 
composition, measurement of leachate, surface water and ground 
water quality, monitoring of the functioning of the Intervention 
Pumping System (IPS), monitoring of bird numbers at the landfill, 
and measurement of noise produced by the landfill facility.

To avoid harmful emission into the environment and to use gas 
for energy generation purposes, landfill gas is collected and pro-
cessed in a controlled manner at the Prudinec/Jakuševec Landfill. 
The small thermal power plant mTEO had been the only plant in 
Croatia to generate electrical power from landfill gas by the end of 
2016. The plant for the generation of electrical power from landfill 
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gas protects the ozone layer, avoids greenhouse effect, and pro-
duces electrical power and heat from the collected landfill gas.
mTEO extracted 12,955,585 m3 of landfill gas from the landfill 
body in 2016 and generated 19,006,584 kWh of electrical pow-
er, which constitutes an increase of 1,482,440 kWh compared to 
2015. With respect to the generation of electrical power and the 
exploitation of landfill gas, this is a substantial reduction of green-
house gas emissions. 
The subsidiary ZGOS generates electrical power in line with the 
licence issued by the Croatian Energy Regulatory Agency in May 
2013 and the Decision Granting Privileged Electrical Power Gener-
ator Status from December 2014. The generated electrical power 
is marketed in line with the Power Purchase Agreement from a Fa-
cility Using a Renewable Energy Source signed with the Croatian 
Energy Market Operator Ltd. 
In 2016, the Group continued to apply the results and experiences 
obtained during the projects Civitas Elan and Clean Fleets by us-
ing environmentally friendly fuels in accordance with sustainable 
development principles: biodiesel fuel in City Waste Disposal and 
natural gas in Zagreb Electric Tram (ZET). This is in line with the 
"Clean Vehicles Directive", which aims to support public authorities 
and companies providing public transport services in orientation 
on the use of environmentally friendly and energy efficient vehi-
cles. Natural gas is almost an ideal fuel in environmental terms 
because its combustion in the vehicle engine produces hardly any 
particle emissions, and the exhaust gases are odourless. By using 
regulated exhausts, the buses running on compressed natural gas 
minimize the emission of harmful gasses into the atmosphere. 
Most importantly, nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions are cut by 95% 
and carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions by 25%. ZET confirms its ti-
tle of alternative fuels ambassador with these figures, having cut 
annual CO2 emissions by approximately 3,500 tonnes through the 
use of alternative fuels, which is an impressive figure considering 
the distance travelled by ZET’s vehicles.
The Group continued its environmental protection activities in 
2016 through two projects co-financed by the European Union’s 
programmes in the Horizon 2020 programme. City Waste Dispos-
al is the coordinator and initiator of the Bin2Grid Project, aimed 
at implementing and promoting the possibility of sustainable 
management of food waste and its exploitation in the production 
of biofuels. Statistics show that approximately 40% of the food 
waste ends up at landfills, and that almost 90 million tonnes of 
food waste is generated in the EU every year. Considering these 
amounts of waste and the EU’s 2020 objectives, it is possible to 
use biofuels produced from food waste to cover a third of the re-
newable energy needs for transport purposes. Eight partners from 
EU member states are participating in the project, and Zagreb, 
Skopje, Malaga and Paris are the target cities. Planned project du-
ration is three years (by the end of 2017).
PPI4Waste (Public Procurement of Innovation for Waste), aimed 
at identifying advanced technologies and processes in the waste 
management sector and developing green public procurement ca-
pacities, is the second project that City Waste Disposal is involved 
in as a partner. Eight partners from different EU member states 
participate in this project, and planned project duration is 2.5 years. 
In addition to these two projects, environmental protection related 
projects REEF2W (Increased Renewable Energy and Energy Effi-
ciency by Integrating, Combining and Empowering Urban Waste-

water and Organic Waste Management Systems) and SIM4Urban 
(Sustainable and Integrated Management of utility infrastructure 
for functional urban areas) applied for the EU programme Interreg 
Central Europe II.
REEF2W deals with increasing the utilisation of renewable energy 
sources and improving energy efficiency through the implementa-
tion of a sustainable waste management system for various types 
of organic waste. SIM4Urban aims to establish an infrastructure 
service network interoperable in planning, installation, documen-
tation and operation, which should minimize the negative impact 
on the environment and influence the consumption by the end 
consumers through the prices of energy resources. 
The proposed projects are very important for the Group because 
continual advancement of the waste management system and re-
sponsible treatment of the environment are among the Group’s 
priorities. 
To conserve our environment and make sure that the City of Za-
greb can “breathe at full capacity”, Zagreb Holding Ltd. plants new 
seedlings at public parks and tree avenues every year. We planted 
1,755 seedlings in 2016. Having in mind that every tree has the 
capacity to absorb almost 22 kg of CO2 in one year, we can con-
clude that the new seedlings alone will absorb almost 38,610 kg 
of CO2 per year.
Always keeping the City of Zagreb clean and tidy for our citizens 
and tourists is another one of our important principles. To make 
this happen, our hardworking employees manually cleaned almost 
782,321,600 m2 of public traffic areas in the City of Zagreb in 2016.. 
In addition to all of the above activities, the Group initiates and 
participates in a number of educational campaigns aimed at rais-
ing awareness about the significance of environmental values and 
sustainable development. We continually align our internal acts 
with environmental protection regulations as they are amended, 
work with the relevant city authorities, the relevant ministry, the 
Environmental Protection Agency, and the Environmental Protec-
tion and Energy Efficiency Fund, collect information for the Envi-
ronmental Pollution Register and deliver it to the City of Zagreb 
Environmental Protection Office and the Environmental Protection 
Agency on an annual basis, and implement the Environmental 
Management Project in the Group by keeping an inquest register 
about the generation and course of waste, and its disposal. 

Preparation of projects eligible for co-funding through the ESI 
funds continued in 2016. 
The team for the preparation and management of projects co-fund-
ed with grants from EU funds and state aids was established at 
Zagreb Holding Group level. One of the priority tasks of the team 
members is to propose and prepare projects from their own do-
mains. A project database was established based on their input. 
The possibility of project co-funding through the so-called ITI 
mechanism (Integrated Territorial Investments) as an extra source 
of funding in addition to the ESI funds and the Environmental Pro-
tection and Energy Efficiency Fund was presented to the team and 
to the directors of Holding subsidiaries and affiliates in late 2016. 
The following project ideas were subsequently sent to the City 
Office for Programmes and Projects for EU Funds in December 
2016: Branimir Market, Centralised Public Garage Management 
System, Investment in Electrical Vehicle Charging Stations, Elec-
trical Bicycles for the Public Garage System, Installation of Parking 
Sensors for Parking Spot Control, Energy Efficient and Environ-
mentally Friendly Lighting at Public Garages, Improvement of Tram 
Efficiency in Zagreb-PoTEZ, Revitalisation of the Funicular Railway, 
Major Tram Line Maintenance, Track Reconstruction on the Line 
Mihaljevac-Dolje, Bus and Tram Vehicles, Assessment of the State 
of the Electrical Energy Network, Reconstruction of the Electri-
cal Energy Network, Traffic Monitoring and Management System, 
Tram Depot Reconstruction, Passenger Counting System, Energy 
Efficiency of Buildings, Computerisation and Digitalisation of the 
Existing Blueprint Database, Construction of New Tram Storages, 
Construction of Electrical Vehicles Charging Stations in the Sub-
sidiary Zagreb Freight Station, Business Unit Žitnjak – Production 
of Strategic Expansion Project, Youth City Granešina Revitalisation 
Project, Zagreb City Gasworks Ltd. – Redevelopment of Buildings 
28 and 29 (former workshop and washroom) and Redevelopment 
of Building 24 (former carpentry workshop). Thematic workshops 
and decisions about the ideas that will be further developed and 
the projects prepared for application to calls for tenders are ex-
pected in 2017. 
Several projects with potential for co-funding from EU funding in-
struments were identified in transport and city public transport: 
Advancement of Tram Traffic in Zagreb (TRAM Project), Tram Elec-
trical Energy System (TRES Project), Procurement of Electrical 
Buses (EL_BUS Project), Revitalisation of the Funicular Railway, 
New Tram Depot, New Mini Tram Storage, Trešnjevka Tram Repair 
Shop Hall, Tram Workshop Hall, Bus Vehicle Procurement Project, 
Tram Vehicle Procurement Project, Major Tram Line Repairs. 
Pursuant to an agreement with the JASPERS (European Commis-
sion’s technical assistance instrument created in cooperation with 
the European Investment Bank (EIB) and the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), offering support to in-
frastructural projects (Joint Assistance in Supporting Projects in 
European Regions), two sets of activities to be undertaken were 
identified in 2015, and work on these activities continued in 2016 
for the purpose of obtaining co-funding for the aforementioned 
public transport projects from European Structural and Investment 
Funds:

1] Production of a technical analysis of the current situation and 
identification of the most critical problems in the City of Zagreb 
public transport system that will be able to obtain funding as pro-
jects that have no alternative (so-called 'No regret' projects), i.e. 
projects that can be implemented independently of the implemen-
tation of the Traffic Masterplan. 

2 ] The technical analysis will be followed by the production of the 
ZET Development Strategy as a supplement to the Traffic Mas-
terplan prepared for the wider city area, whose purpose is to 
improve the sustainability of ZET’s operations and to ensure the 
sustainability of public transport in the City of Zagreb. The strategy 
is supposed to comprise two sections, an analytical section and a 
development section. The development section needs to identify 
ZET’s systematic needs and priorities, ways to improve ZET’s op-
erations, and ways to maintain the stability of public city transport. 

Pursuant to the above, the preparation of the “No Regret” project 
Procurement of 15 Bus Vehicles, which will be realised in 2017, 
started in 2016. A project feasibility study was produced and ap-
proved by the JASPERS mission and the Ministry of the Sea, Trans-
port and Infrastructure. 

Zagreb Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries ZET and Zagrebparking 
continued their participation in the production of the Traffic Mas-
terplan for the Zagreb Metropolitan Area. The company Integrated 
Traffic in Zagreb Area (“Integrirani promet zagrebačkog područ-
ja-IPZP”) is the project leader. The Masterplan encompasses the 
transport projects of the Zagreb Holding with a medium-term and 
long-term perspective, such as Development of Infrastructure and 
Parking System Complementing Public Transport (Park&ride sys-
tem), and related introduction of the Single Public Transport and 
Parking Ticket System. The Traffic Masterplan, which serves as the 
basis for project application for EU funding, also has to be aligned 
with the Traffic Strategy of the Republic of Croatia, which maps 
Croatia into six regions (Zagreb and five surrounding counties are 
grouped in one region). 

The potential for applying for EU funding from the Operating Pro-
gramme Competitiveness and Cohesion 2014-2020 (Priority Axis 
6: Environment and Resource Efficiency) with waste disposal and 
management projects in subsidiaries City Waste Disposal, ZGOS 
and Zrinjevac is much greater than has been realised so far, but it 
depends on the alignment of the City Waste Management Plan 
with the Waste Management Plan of the Republic of Croatia, 
which is in production. Realisation of bigger projects in the City of 
Zagreb can start only after the new Waste Management Plan has 
been adopted. 

The Group started the preparation of “No regret” projects in waste 
management, such as procurement of bins for separate waste col-
lection, containers, trash cans and supporting machinery/vehicles, 
as well as the construction of mobile recycling centres, through 
the subsidiary City Waste Disposal.

The Group has continued the implementation of projects Bin2Grid 

Projects financed through funds 
and EU funding instruments
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and PPI4Waste, which are co-funded through EU programmes. 

Bin2Grid applied for funding directly to the European Commission 
in the Horizon 2020 programme. It deals with the possibility of 
separate collection of food waste for the purpose of biomethane 
production and its use as a fuel through a local network of fill-
ing stations. Increasing the production of energy from renewable 
sources through sustainable waste management in four cities, Za-
greb, Skopje, Malaga and Paris, is the expected result of the pro-
ject. The project started in 2015 and its planned duration is three 
years. City Waste Disposal is the project coordinator. Total project 
budget is EUR 800,000, of which the share of the City Waste Dis-
posal is EUR 95,000 or HRK 712,500.

Two other environmental protection projects, REEF2W and SI-
M4Urban, applied for funding in 2016.

REEF2W (Increased Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency by 
Integrating, Combining and Empowering Urban Wastewater and 
Organic Waste Management Systems) applied for funding in the 
Interreg Central Europe II programme. It aims to increase the utili-
sation of renewable energy sources and improve energy efficiency 
by implementing a sustainable management system for various 
types of organic waste. The proposed project is important because 
continual advancement of the waste management system and 
responsible treatment of the environment is one of the Group’s 
priorities. Italian national agency ENEA is the project coordinator, 
and City Waste Disposal is one of 11 project partners. Total project 
budget is EUR 2,384,000, of which the share of the City Waste 
Disposal is EUR 200,000. 

SIM4Urban (Sustainable and Integrated Management of utility in-
frastructure for functional urban areas) applied for funding in the 
Interreg Central Europe II, aimed at creating a utility infrastructure 
network interoperable in planning, installation, documentation and 
operations, which should reduce the negative impact on the en-
vironment and influence the demand by end consumers through 
the prices of energy resources. The project develops the tools for 
a joint approach to the spatial modelling of different networks and 
for online management of the networks. University of Ljubljana 
is the project coordinator, and Zagreb Holding is one of 12 pro-
ject partners. Total project budget is EUR 2,700,000, of which the 
share of Zagreb Holding is EUR 188,000.

Other projects were identified in subsidiaries Zrinjevac, Zagreb 
Markets and Zagreb Freight Station that are expected to have the 
potential for co-funding through the Environmental Protection and 
Energy Efficiency Fund or through Operational Programmes, and 
the preparations for these projects were launched. The projects 
of the subsidiary Zrinjevac are: Reconstruction of Jankomir Boiler 
Plant, including a transfer from natural gas to wood biomass, with 
a power of 500kW; Reconstruction of Remetinečka Boiler Plant, 
including a transfer from natural gas to wood biomass, with a 
power of 2MW, and construction of the Regional Biomass Logistic 

Centre for energy needs in Jankomir. Zagreb Markets project per-
tains to the Reconstruction of the Office Building of the Branimir 
Market, for which the possibility of co-funding through the ITI 
mechanism was identified, and the project was entered into the 
project database of the City of Zagreb as such. Zagreb Freight 
Station has the project of Strategic Expansion of Business Unit 
Žitnjak, including container terminals and goods and cargo traffic. 

The Group continued to work on reinforcing human resources for 
the preparation and implementation of EU projects in 2016. 

The implementation of two projects co-funded through EU funds 
is in progress in the Company Water Supply and Drainage Ltd.:

1.	Preparation of project and study documentation and ap-
plication package for EU co-funding for Agglomeration Za-
greb and Agglomeration Glavničica -  co-funded in two ways: 
through the Ministry of Agriculture (now the Ministry of Envi-
ronmental Protection and Energy) and through the Ministry of 
Regional Development and EU Funds.

The project applied for funding to the Restricted Call for the De-
livery of Project Proposals EN.2.1.11. for grants from the Cohesion 
Fund in the Operational Programme “Environmental Protection”, 
designed for projects of preparation of infrastructural projects in 
water management, which supports efficient and timely imple-
mentation of the Operational Programme “Environmental Protec-
tion” and helps the preparation for the use of funds from the EU 
financial perspective 2014-2020. The Grant Agreement between 
the Ministry of Agriculture (now the Ministry of Environmental 
Protection and Energy), Croatian Waters (“Hrvatske vode”) and 
Water Supply and Drainage Ltd. as the beneficiary was signed on 
23 December 2014 (EU co-funding 85%, own funds 15%). Project 
Co-Funding Agreement was signed by the Ministry of Agriculture, 
Hrvatske vode, City of Zagreb (partner) and Water Supply and 
Drainage Ltd. on 15 June 2015. 

The project also applied for co-funding through the Ministry of Re-
gional Development and EU Funds for the share of funding by own 
funds amounting to 40% through the Fund for the Co-Financing 
of the Implementation of EU Projects on Local and Regional Level 
for 2015. The Grant Agreement between the Ministry of Regional 
Development and EU Funds and Water Supply and Drainage Ltd 
was signed on 7 January 2016. 

According to the applied project, implementation is planned 
through two secondary agreements: 

-	 1. Secondary Agreement “Production of project documentation 
(preliminary and main designs) for the reconstruction and construc-
tion of the drainage system in agglomeration Zagreb – drainage 
network of the eastern area of the district Sesvete (Črnec Creek 
confluence); expansion of the drainage network in the estates 
Mikulići, Fraterščica, Lukšić and Bijenik; construction of II Parallel 
Collector; and agglomeration Glavničica (north-eastern section of 
District Sesvete) and the production of tender documentation for 
the procurement of works”.
HRK 21.6 million of grants was approved and paid for the above 
from the Cohesion Fund by 31 December 2016.

-	  2. Planned Secondary Agreement "Preparation of Conceptual 
Design for the Construction of the 3rd degree of treatment at the 
existing central wastewater treatment facility of the city of Za-
greb” – within the scope of authority of the City of Zagreb.

2.	Second project – Planned construction of main water supply
pipeline Aleja Bologne-Lisičina is worth HRK 22.7 million.

The project applied to the Restricted Call EN.2.1.16 for grants from 
the Cohesion Fund in the Operational Programme “Environmental 
Protection” for the realisation of investment projects pertaining 
to minor parts of public water supply/drainage systems aimed at 
contributing to integral agglomeration solution and integral solu-
tion in the water supply area as per the Implementation Plan for 
Water Utility Directives. The Grant Agreement between the Min-
istry of Agriculture (PT1), Croatian Waters (PT2) and Water Supply 
and Drainage Ltd. (beneficiary) was signed on 3 March 2016 (EU 
co-funding 64.4%, Water Supply and Drainage Ltd. 10%, Croatian 
Waters 25.6%). Project Co-Funding Agreement between the Min-
istry of Agriculture, Croatian Waters and Water Supply and Drain-
age Ltd. was signed on 3 March 2016.

HRK 13.7 million was realised from the Cohesion Fund and HRK 
5.5 was realised from the Croatian Waters funds by 31 December 
2016. 

The Company Water Supply and Drainage Ltd. also participated in 
the preparation of the project “Advanced Energy Management in 
Buildings and Infrastructure (CEKOM GEZI)” in 2016. The project 
will be implemented in Operational Programme Competitiveness 
and Cohesion, Priority Axis 1 – Strengthening the Economy by 
Applying Research and Innovation, Investment Priority 1b – Pro-
motion of business investments in innovation and research, and 
development of connections and synergies between companies, 
research and development centres, and higher education, Specific 
Objective 1.b.2. Increasing the activities of research and develop-
ment in the business sector by creating a favourable investment 
environment. In November 2016, the project applied to the Call for 
Expressions of Interest in the Fulfilment of Criteria for the Appli-
cation to the Restricted Call for the Delivery of Project Proposals 
supporting the development of Competence Centres. 21 partners 
are participating in the project. The project of preparation of the 
project for the application to the Restricted Call for the Delivery of 
Project Proposals for the project CEKOM is in progress.
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The standardisation of software for different business areas rema-
ins our priority that we continued to work on intensively, imple-
menting the following activities in business year 2016:

		  Expansion of utilisation of the documentation 
		  management system 

The programming system was upgraded in the archive manage-
ment segment and a single archive system was set up for the 
Company Zagreb Holding Ltd.

		  Uniform programming system for human resources 	
		  management and salary calculation – advancement 	
		  of its utilisation and upgrade 

Uniform human resources management and salary calculation 
software was implemented at the level of Zagreb Holding Ltd. 
and some of its subsidiaries (Water Supply and Drainage Ltd., 
City Housing and Municipal Services Company Ltd., AGM Ltd.) 
The uniform software platform encompasses all human resources 
management and salary calculation processes, including a uniform 
database and uniform salary calculation process. 

		  Registry and One Utility Bill (“JUP”)

The work on the alignment of data in the Registry and the upgrade 
of One Utility Bill continued throughout 2016.

The following results were accomplished through active support 
to the activities One Utility Bill Team:  

	 The Registry was linked with the Personal Identification Num-
ber (“OIB”) system and automatic Personal Identification Number 
check was made possible,

	 Zagreb Holding Ltd. was linked with the e-Citizens system and 
bill delivery in PDF format to the Personal User Mailbox was made 
possible,

	 A digital archive of bills and forms in PDF format was created,

	 A web service for the consolidation of registry information with 
the Company Water Supply and Drainage Ltd. was developed, 

	 Buyer cards accessible through the e-Citizens system were de-
veloped,

	 Proposals for activities designed to further improve the project 
“Registry of Facilities and Users” were prepared,

	 Users were offered the possibility to opt out of receiving prin-
ted bills using authorisation through the e-Citizens system.

In May 2016, the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. completed the 
construction of the Svetice Swimming Pool Complex, and in Sep-
tember 2016 it completed the swimming pool and gym of the Iver 
Primary School in Sesvetski Kraljevec, turning over both facilities 
to the City of Zagreb for use. 

The Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. started working on the project 
of reconstruction and construction of the Day Stay Hospital and 
Garage at the Sveti Duh Clinical Hospital in 2016.

The Company Zagreb Housing Construction Ltd. started working 
on the construction of the 1st Phase of the Podbrežje Project, 
which encompasses the construction of 608 apartments, whose 
completion is planned for December 2017. Out of the total of 608 
apartments, the City of Zagreb will take over 400 for the housing 
needs of the citizens of the City of Zagreb, and 208 apartments are 
reserved for junior researchers in a project implemented by the 
City of Zagreb and the University of Zagreb, whose objective is to 
satisfy the housing needs of the University’s junior research staff. 
In the Zagreb Housing Construction Model, a programme desi-
gned for the University, the City of Zagreb will subsidize interest 
rates for apartment buyers, and the housing loans and the apar-
tments encompassed by the programme will be more affordable 
than the market prices. 

According to the Urban Plan, the Podbrežje project comprises the 
following facilities:

	 11 standalone apartment buildings with up to 9 storeys and a
	 total of 1,800 apartments,

	 Two nursery schools,

	 A primary school,

	 A cultural and information centre,

	 A swimming pool complex and gym,

	 Parks, six playgrounds for children 0 - 6 years of age and six
	 playgrounds for children 7 -18 years of age.

3.2.2.	Establishment of highly effi-
cient, reliable and safe IT and tel-
ecommunications support to the 
Group’s operations

Major capital infrastructural 
projects 

A

B

C

The demerger and the incorporation of the first group of sub-
sidiaries of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. in the commercial 
services segment in November 2013 (City Housing and Municipal 
Services Company Ltd., AGM, Zagreb Housing Construction and 
Water Supply and Drainage), and the demerger of a segment of 
the subsidiary Sports Facilities Management into an institution 
owned by the City of Zagreb in January 2014 started the trans-
formation of Zagreb Holding Ltd. in a holding company in the true 
sense of the word. 

The Group faces the challenges of advancing the operations of 
all its constituent parts in response to the requirements of com-
petitive business while promoting technological advancement and 
improving the overall quality of its services. A carefully designed 
and implemented medium-term development strategy is one of 
the ways to address these challenges and a tool ensuring an active 
role in restructuring. For this purpose, the Management Board of 
the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. adopted the Draft Development 
Strategy of Zagreb Holding in 2015, defining the development 
framework and the medium-term implementation action plan for 
the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. and for the entire Group. 

The development strategy was prepared based on a strategic anal-
ysis of the environment and of our capacities with the following 
objectivesa:

	 To establish the strategic directions of
	 organisational changes in the Group,

	 To define priority areas for investments in
	 advancement of operations, and 

	 To speed up the process of development of human
	 resources in terms of education, skills and motivation,
	 including management, control and excellence recognition
	 and rewarding systems. 

The Development Strategy of the Zagreb Holding 2014-2020 is 
vertically aligned with parent development documents and with 
one of the four proposed basic areas of financing for Croatia from 
the ESI funds for the period 2014-2020: “strengthening institution-
al capacities and fostering efficient public administration”, which 
a number of strategic documents at the national level in the Re-
public of Croatia refer to. Also, an investment priority was identi-
fied under Priority Axis “Smart Administration” of the Operational 
Programme for Human Resources, which requires “investments 
in institutional capacities and efficient public administration and 
public services at the national, regional and local level in order to 
help reforms and good government”. Finally, one of the priorities in 
the Strategic Objective “Advancement of the Development Man-
agement System”, a part of the Development Strategy of the City 
of Zagreb – Zagrebplan, is “to improve the operations of the city 
administration, institutions and public companies.

Going forward in the medium-term period, the Group’s vision will 
be fulfilled by implementing activities and projects contributing to 
the realisation of three key strategic objectives: 

	 Strategic objective  1  - High-quality reliable public service

	 Strategic objective 2  - Growth and development

	 Strategic objective 3  - Corporate sustainability (corporate so-

cial responsibility, social, economic and environmental aspect).The 
definition of strategic objectives and strategy as the instruments 
for the realisation of the Group’s objectives is based on defining 
corporate processes and on the organisational structure that will 
help and support their realisation. The Group’s development obje-
ctive is to increase the quality and the scope of its public services 
to the benefit of the citizens, businesses and the local govern-
ments and self-governments in the City of Zagreb, improving the 
standard of living for the citizens, the competitiveness of the City’s 
economy, and the reputation of the City of Zagreb in comparison 
with other cities. In the fulfilment of the said objectives, the Gro-
up is also guided by the need to satisfy public interests and by 
sustainable profitability, the key elements being efficient cost ma-
nagement, advancement of business processes, and the develop-
ment of an integrated information system on the reporting, mana-
gement and operational level, alongside with carefully considered 
investments in the development of new and the improvement of 
quality of the existing services.

In line with the City’s development guidelines, the corporate 
strategy envisages a strategic orientation on organic growth, a 
strategy of expansion for the municipal service portfolio, with an 
emphasis on efficiency and marginal profitability, and attainment 
of competitiveness and the industry leader position, or handover 
of the activity to the private sector if the cost of investments requ-
ired to achieve an adequate level of operational efficiency is too 
high for the Group’s companies, is planned for a selected portfolio 
of commercial services. 

Going forward, we will continue to consolidate our operations in 
order to maintain a positive business result through stronger focus 
on income growth, cost control, and further improvements of busi-
ness and management processes.

After several years of channelling investments in real estate 
properties and the renewal of the public transport system, which 
required substantial investments that were financed with credits, 
in the current conditions the investments are adjusted to real fun-
ding sources and should result, based on justifiability parameters, 
in more efficient allocation and more secure returns. Investments 
in municipal activities and human resources were chosen as the 
priorities and make up the foundation on whose efficiency the fu-
ture development of the Group depends.

Plans for the future development of the Group

Business transformation The Group's development 
orientations
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The Group’s development measures are a specific framework for the definition of development projects and activities, project leaders, and 
framework funds required to implement each measure. They contribute to the fulfilment of strategic objectives underlined in the previous 
chapters and represent the fulfilment of the Group’s vision.

The Development Strategy defines a total of 18 measures for the fulfilment of the Group’s seven specific development objectives. 
These measures will be implemented by 2020 to ensure the improvement of service quality, stronger development and growth, and 
establishment of sustainable long-term operations.

The table below presents the objectives, priorities and planned measures for the Group’s development in the period before 2020:

Planned future development of the Group 

Measures for the planned future development of the Group

In 2016 the Group posted a profit after tax amounting to HRK 74,932 thousand. The profit was lower by HRK 46,059 thousand compared 
to the result from 2015.

The Group’s business result in 2016 was lower compared to the result in 2015 as the result of changes in the Group’s operations. The 
most important changes were:

	 Lower profit from gas sales and distribution resulting from lower tariff items for the distributed quantity of natural gas (Ts1) in 2016 
(lowered by 38% compared to 2015). Tariff items were lowered by virtue of the decision of the Croatian Energy Regulatory Agency from 
December 2015. Also, the decision of the Croatian Energy Regulatory Agency on the amounts of tariff items for public service obligation 
gas supply (for the customer category “households”) for the period from 1 April to 31 December 2016 entered into force on 1 April 2016. 
This Decision lowered the cost of gas supply for the public service obligation substantially (by 25%), which lowered the end price of gas 
by about 20%. 

	 The introduction of the new billing system for the service of waste disposal in November 2015. Unlike the old system, which had 
been based on the floor area of the real estate property, the new system is based on collected waste volume. Lowering the charges for 
all users, we allowed them to pay less while maintaining the standard and the quality of the services we provide. The number of pickups 
was reduced from three to two a week as of 1 August 2016, which lowered the Group’s income in the segment of cleaning and waste 
disposal even further.

	 Lower income from passenger transport resulting from the lower prices of transport services for secondary school students, all full-ti-
me students, unemployed persons, pensioners and social welfare beneficiaries as of 1 November 2015. 

	 Higher staff costs resulting from the enforcement of Annex V to the Fundamental Collective Agreement for the employees of the Com-
pany Zagreb Holding Ltd., under which the caps on Christmas and holiday bonuses restricting them to the total amount of HRK 2,500.00 
(tax exempt amount) ceased to apply as of 1 January 2016, and the employees received HRK 2,884.87 for each bonus.

	 Lower income from water distribution resulting from the lower variable charge contained in the water supply price introduced on 1 
November 2015 and lower prices of water delivery to the public supplier Komunalac Vrbovec Ltd.

Business analysis 

Business result and financial position
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Specific objectives Planned measures

Strategic objective 1: High-quality reliable public service

1.1. 
Advancement of the existing products, services 
and utility services

	 Improving quality standards in the existing way of 
	 providing services

	 Innovative solutions within existing products and services

1.2. Development and integration of new products and 
services

	 New products and services directly linked with the 
	 existing market segments 

	 Development in new market segments

Strategic objective 2:  Growth and development  

2.1. Stable positive results

	 Preparation and implementation of bond refinancing 
	 Lowering operating expenses
	 Increasing operating income
	 Asset, risk and financial liability management

2.2. Organisation and corporate development

	 Status transformation and strategic planning

	 Advancement of corporate governance
	 and communication

	 Development of a process repository
	 and business certification

	 Introduction of an integrated information system 

2.3. Human resources development
	 Development of personal professional competences

	 Strengthening of management and
	 excellence promotion system

Strategic objective 3: Corporate Sustainability  

3.1. Participative management  - cooperation with
citizens, associations and local communities

	 Cooperation with users and citizens

	 Cooperation with local communities
	 and civil society organisations

3.2. Environmental conservation
	 Improvement of environmental parameters in the 

	 production of existing products and provision of services 

	 Introduction of green technologies in business

Description 2016 2015
Indexes 

2016/2015

1 2 3 4 = 2/3

Operating income 5,045,106 5,208,768 96.9

Operating expenses (4,851,443) (4,991,471) 97.2

Financial income 237,116 224,863 105.4

Financial expenses (320,469) (298,863) 107.2

Total income 5.282.222 5.433.631 97,2

Total expenses (5.171.912) (5.290.334) 97,8

Profit before tax 110.310 143.297 77,0

Tax expenses (35.378) (22.306) 158,6

Profit after tax 74.932 120.991 61,9

Profit from operating activities 193.663 217.297 89,1

Loss from financial activities (83.353) (74.000) 112,6
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Business analysis 

Profit and loss account and other comprehensive profit report

Total sales in 2016 amounted to HRK 3,842,428 thousand and were lower by HRK 68,602 thousand or 1.8% compared to 2015, mainly as 
the result of the following changes occurring in some segments of the Group’s operations: 

	 Income from gas sales and distribution was lower by HRK 200,075 thousand as the result of lower tariff items for the distributed 
quantity of natural gas (Ts1) from 1 January 2016 and the lower prices of gas for households from 1 April 2016.

	 Income from construction and project management was higher by HRK 105,739 thousand as the result of declaring income from the 
construction of public purpose facilities for the City of Zagreb according to IFRIC 12 Service Concession Agreements, under which the 
Group registers the construction phase as an expense for the period and simultaneously recognises the income according to the degree 
of completion of the project (IAS 11 Construction Contracts), which is the reason for the increase in the cost of materials and services in 
the materially most substantial amount. 

	 Income from water distribution was lower by HRK 11,980 thousand as the result of the fact that the variable charge contained in the 
water supply price was lowered as of 1 November 2015 from HRK 4.68/m³ to HRK 4,21/m³ for retail customers, from HRK 2.808/m³ to 
HRK 2.526/m³ for social welfare recipients, and to 4.68/m3 for other customers. The decrease is also the result of the lower water supply 
price for the public supplier Komunalac Vrbovec Ltd. (under the Temporary Measure ordered by the Water Services Council in July 2016). 

	 Income from cleaning and waste disposal was lower by HRK 54,041 thousand as the result of the new method of calculating the 
charges for the public service of removal and disposal of mixed municipal waste introduced on 1 November 2015, and as the result of 
reducing the number of weekly waste pickups from three to two as of 1 August 2016. 

	 Income from passenger transport was lower by HRK 32,220 thousand as the result of lower ticket prices introduced on 1 November 
2015. 

	 Income from pharmacy sales was higher by HRK 16,881 thousand.

	 Income from the landscaping and maintenance of public green spaces was higher by HRK 35,569 thousand and income from public 
road management and maintenance was higher by HRK 40,538 thousand as the result of more work for the City of Zagreb.

A breakdown of 
revenue by business 
segments (in HRK 000)
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Description 2016
in 000 kn

2015
in 000 kn

Indexes
2016/2015

1 2 3 4 = 2/3

OPERATING INCOME 

Sales income 3.842.428 3.911.030 98,2

Other operating income 1.202.678 1.297.738 92,7

Total operating income 5.045.106 5.208.768 96,9

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of material and services (2.273.534) (2.226.015) 102,1

Staff costs (1.609.351) (1.512.561) 106,4

Depreciation (548.140) (548.205) 100,0

Value adjustments (167.283) (461.319) 36,3

Provisioning (107.998) (141.617) 76,3

Other operating expenses (145.137) (101.754) 142,6

Total operating expenses (4.851.443) (4.991.471) 97,2

FINANCIAL INCOME 237.116 224.863 105,4

FINANCIAL EXPENSES (320.469) (298.863) 107,2

TOTAL INCOME 5.282.222 5.433.631 97,2

TOTAL EXPENSES (5.171.912) (5.290.334) 97,8

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 110.310 143.297 77,0

Tax (expense) (35.378) (22.306) 158,6

PROFIT FOR YEAR 74.932 120.991 61,9

Other comprehensive profit

Profit from revaluation less taxes 86.675 88.541 97,9

Profit from valuation of available-for-sale financial 
assets 4.610 - -

Other changes in comprehensive profit (37.137) - -

Total comprehensive profit for year 129.080 209.532 61,6
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Business analysis 

Considering that gas sales and distribution, water distribution, passenger transport and cleaning and waste removal accounted for a total 
of 60.5% of the Group’s sales in 2016, the natural indicators of the company Zagreb City Gasworks Ltd, Zagreb City Gasworks-Supply Ltd., 
Water Supply and Drainage Ltd., Zagreb Electric Tram and City Waste Disposal are shown in the table below:

0 500.000 1.000.000 1.500.000 2.000.000 2.500.000
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Company/Sub-
sidiary Basic types of services

Unit of 
measure-

ment

Realised
I - XII 2016

Realised
I - XII 2015 Index

4 5 6 = 4/5

Zagreb City Gas-
works Ltd.

Quantities of natural gas distributed kWh 3.921.476.993 3.784.420.222 103,6

Number of distribution system users piece 280.091 278.342 100,6

Zagreb City Gas-
works-Supply Ltd

Natural gas supply kWh 3.842.501.293 3.764.158.844 102,1

Number of users piece 291.061 291.389 99,9

Water Supply and 
Drainage Ltd.

Delivered water m³ 57.018.467 56.330.160 101,2

Water consumption for business activities m³ 1.354.832 1.322.053 102,5

Zagreb Electric Tram Single trip tickets – bought in the vehicle piece 7.263.208 6.712.368 108,2

Single trip tickets – bought outside of the 
vehicle piece 4.160.614 5.159.088 80,6

Day passes piece 130.589 129.372 100,9

Monthly passes – City of Zagreb piece 773.140 728.856 106,1

Yearly passes – City of Zagreb piece 164.692 165.638 99,4

Monthly passes – separate cities and 
municipalities piece 79.718 80.700 98,8

Yearly passes - separate cities and
municipalities piece 3.970 4.170 95,2

E - wallet piece 2.730.166 3.194.726 85,5

Tickets – Funicular Railway piece 168.750 197.616 85,4

Tourist tickets piece 11.947 6.901 173,1

Tickets to Sljeme piece 16.136 15.470 104,3

Multiday coupons piece 9.455 7.684 123,0

City Waste Disposal Municipal waste collection and removal

a) Average monthly occupied floor area: m2 2.650.000 29.671.000 8,9

 - households m2 - 26.671.000 -

 - businesses m2 2.650.000 3.000.000 88,3

b) Average monthly bin volume for 
households l 156.900.000 - -

Public traffic area maintenance m2 1.117.823.455 1.048.859.214 106,6

 - Manual public traffic area cleaning m2 782.321.600 723.290.214 108,2

 - Public traffic area cleaning
using machinery m2 152.920.000 150.801.400 101,4

 - Public traffic area washing m2 182.581.855 174.767.600 104,5

Collected waste: t 265.126 251.651 105,4

 - Municipal mixed waste t 229.726 223.300 102,9

  - Separately collected waste t 35.400 28.351 124,9

22%

Citizens

23%

Affiliates 
(City of Zagreb)

55%

Businesses

Breakdown of the Group's sales by customer categories in 2016:

Other operating income amounted to HRK 1,202,678 thousand and was lower by 7.3% or HRK 95,060 thousand compared to 2015 as the 
result of the decrease in unrealised gains from the change in the fair value of investment properties (by HRK 168,340 thousand) based on 
the appraisal by a qualified and authorised real estate appraiser. Loss from the change in the fair value amounted to HRK 4,948 thousand, 
compared to profit from the fair value of investment properties amounting to HRK 10,913 thousand in 2015. Income from the reversal of 
provisions in the two compared periods was higher by HRK 60,823, thousand as the result of higher income from the reversal of provi-
sions for material rights of the employees, and higher income from the reversal of provisions for litigations in line with an estimate by an 
attorney-at-law.

The table below shows a breakdown of operating expenses: 2015 2016

PROVISIONS

VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

DEPRECIATION

STUFF COST

COST OF MATERIAL AND SEVICES

OTKER OPERATION COST
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The cost of material and services in 2016 
amounted to HRK 2,273,534 thousand and 
was higher by 2.1% or HRK 47,519 thou-
sand compared to 2015 as the result of 
higher cost of raw materials and supplies 
(by HRK 19,871 thousand) and higher sub-
contractor service costs by HRK 132,389 
thousand), which is the result of more 
work for the City of Zagreb. The cost of 
goods sold is lower by HRK 149,918 thou-
sand as the result of the lower supply price 
of gas.

The breakdown of the cost of material is 
given in the table below: 
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Business analysis 
Description 31/12/2016 

In HRK 000
31/12/2015 
In HRK 000 Index

1 2 3 4 = 2/3

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 13.191.970 13.848.712 95,3

Investment property 1.955.426 1.958.298 99,9

Intangible assets 22.828 31.839 71,7

Other financial assets 133.364 140.134 95,2

Non-current receivables 1.666.893 2.015.997 82,7

Deferred tax assets 37.746 43.576 86,6

Total non-current assets 17.008.227 18.038.556 94,3

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 341.474 301.796 113,1

Trade receivables and other receivables 1.543.418 1.544.157 100,0

Other financial assets 107.459 230.188 46,7

Cash and cash equivalents 1.057.715 421.642 250,9

Total current assets 3.050.066 2.497.783 122,1

TOTAL ASSETS 20.058.293 20.536.339 97,7

Off-balance sheet items 225.214 235.799 95,5

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 3.833.236 3.833.236 100,0

Revaluation reserve 2.887.537 2.796.252 103,3

Other reserve 322.618 319.977 100,8

Retained earning 695.267 708.178 98,2

Non-controlling interests 8.348 6.866 121,6

Total equity 7.747.006 7.664.509 101,1

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans payable 2.130.099 2.606.065 81,7

Liabilities under issued bonds 1.637.661 2.290.514 71,5

Other non-current liabilities 151.669 91.424 165,9

Provisions 460.148 481.704 95,5

Deferred income 4.282.740 4.847.409 88,4

Deferred tax liability 614.780 677.143 90,8

Total non-current liabilities 9.277.097 10.994.259 84,4

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables and other liabilities 1.309.033 1.281.103 102,2

Loans and borrowings 547.772 581.912 94,1

Liabilities for issued bonds 1.160.453 - -

Current corporate income tax liability 16.933 14.556 116,3

Total current liabilities 3.034.191 1.877.571 161,6

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 20.058.293 20.536.339 97,7

Off-balance sheet items 225.214 235.799 95,5

Statement of financial position/balance sheet

Material

costs

Cost of sold 

goods

External 

services

Staff costs in 2016 were higher by HRK 96,790 thousand compared 
to 2015 as the result of higher gross salaries costs (by HRK 89,743 
thousand), higher reimbursement of employee expenses, and high-
er expenses for other material rights of the workers (by HRK 7,047 
thousand). Gross salaries costs were higher as the result of the higher 
average number of employees of the Group, as well as enforcement 
of Annex V to the Collective Agreement for the employees of the Com-
pany Zagreb Holding Ltd., which terminated the cap on Christmas and 
holiday bonuses, restricting them to a total of HRK 2,500.00 (tax ex-
empt amount) as of 1 January 2016, and HRK 2,884.87 was paid to 
the workers for each of the two bonuses. The reimbursement of em-
ployee expenses and the expenses for the other material rights of the 
workers are higher mainly as the result of higher termination benefit 
costs (by HRK 4,048 thousand) and higher commuter benefits (by HRK 
1,249 thousand).

Value adjustment costs in 2016 were lower by HRK 294,036 thousand 
compared to the result in 2015, mainly as the result of lower losses 
from investments in real estate properties (by HRK 152,479 thou-
sand) and lower costs of value adjustments of current assets (by HRK 
118,757 thousand). The most substantial decreases of current asset 
value adjustment costs were recorded in Zagreb Holding Ltd. (by HRK 
49,608 thousand), Zagreb City Gasworks-Supply Ltd. (by HRK 31,285 
thousand) and Water Supply and Drainage Ltd. (by 40,593 thousand). 
The decrease in current asset value adjustments of Zagreb Holding 
Ltd. is mainly tied to the lower sales of the subsidiary City Waste Dis-
posal, lower current asset value adjustment costs of the company Za-
greb City Gasworks-Supply Ltd., resulting from lower gas prices and 
better collection of regular receivables, and lower value adjustment 
costs of the company Water Supply and Drainage Ltd. are tied to lower 
sales and the absence of value adjustment of the receivables from the 

Company Dukom Ltd. (which was present in 2015.)

Provisioning costs in 2016 amounted to HRK 107,998 thousand and 
were lower by HRK 33,619 in the two compared periods as the result 
of lower provisions for material rights of the workers (by HRK 44,431 
thousand), including provisions for termination benefits, long-service 
benefits and solidarity supports. Other provisioning for 2016 includes 
the costs of provisioning related to the difference between the feed-in 
tariffs and reference tariffs for kWh of electrical power delivered to the 
Croatian Energy Market Operator Ltd. by the subsidiary ZGOS due to 
the failure of the plant mTeo to achieve the 50% energy efficiency in 
instances when the use of the feed-in tariffs is permitted. 

Other operating expenses in 2016 were higher by HRK 43,383 thou-
sand compared to 2015, mainly  as the result of higher costs of fines, 
penalties and damages (by HRK 32,930 thousand) and higher other ex-
penses (by HRK 5.340 thousand). The largest amount of expenses for 
damages was incurred by the subsidiary ZGOS with the environmen-
tal tax amounting to HRK  65 per ton of municipal waste deposited 
at the Jakuševac Landfill, and the financial compensation paid to the 
residents of settlements near the Prudinec/Jakuševec waste disposal 
facility for the negative effect on their quality of life as per the con-
clusion of the City Assembly of the City of Zagreb from 5 June 2014. 
Other expenses include additionally found expenses, shortages, costs 
of inventories sold, and other expenses not elsewhere specified.

The Group’s loss from financial activities in 2016 was higher by HRK 
9,353 thousand in spite of higher profit from the ratio of positive and 
negative foreign exchange rate differences and lower interest expens-
es due to lower interest income, higher bond issue discount expenses 
and the declared expense from the early redemption of euro bonds.

 

Change in the value 
of inventories for 

production and
finished goods
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On 31 December 2016, the Group’s total assets amounted to HRK 
20.058.293 thousand and were lower by 2.3% compared to 31 
December 2015. In 2016, the Group’s total investments in prop-
erty, plant and equipment amounted to HRK 246.101 and HRK 
4,886 thousand of investments in intangible assets (a total of HRK 
250,987 thousand of new acquisitions). The biggest investments 
in 2016 pertain to investments in the water supply (water supply 
network, main pipelines, water reservoirs and pumping stations) 
amounting to HRK 60,502 thousand, drainage (drainage net-
work, collectors, collector canals and drainage excavation repairs) 
amounting to HRK 55,361 thousand, reconstruction of existing 
and installation of new gas pipelines in the amount of HRK 15,603 
thousand, acquisition of new gas meters and replacement of gas 
meters in the amount of HRK 10,202, tram line maintenance in the 
amount of HRK 8,673 thousand etc.

HRK 254,412 thousand worth of property, plant and equipment 
was written over to receivables from the City of Zagreb in 2016 un-
der IFRIC 12 Concession Agreements for public purpose facilities. 

Equity was increased on 31 December 2016 due to higher revalua-
tion reserve compared to 31 December 2015. Revaluation reserve 

in the two periods compared increased mainly as the result of 
amendments to corporate income tax law changing the corporate 
income tax rate (from 20% to 18%), which entered into force on 
of 1 January 2017.  

In July 2007, the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. issued EUR 300 
million of euro bonds that carried a 5.5% annual coupon, with ma-
turity in July 2017. In July 2016, the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. 
issued HRK bonds in the nominal amount of HRK 1,800,000 at a 
fixed interest rate of 3.875% and a redemption price of 97.19%. 
The proceeds from this issue were used for early redemption of 
48.8% of the euro bonds, and the remaining proceeds were de-
posited in the Company’s foreign currency account to repay the 
remainder of the euro bonds when they mature in July 2017. This 
was the main reason for the increase in the cash balance on 31 
December 2016 compared to the same period of 2015.

The lower corporate income tax rate (from 20% to 18%), which en-
tered into force on 1 January 2017, influenced the lowered deferred 
tax liability resulting from the necessity to adjust the deferred tax 
to the tax rate that will apply in the period when the deferred tax 
liability will be realised.

Retained profit declared in the Statement of Financial Position on 
31 December 2016 was adjusted in comparison with the profit 
attributable to the Group’s capital from the previous year as the 
result of the reclassification effect arising from the new accounting 
treatment of the recognition of non-current tangible assets by  the 
subsidiary Zagreb Fair by HRK 43,353 thousand (which reduced 
the retained profit and increased the revaluation reserve), for other 
comprehensive profit in the amount of HRK 37,137 thousand (with 
regard to adjustments from previous years) and effects of the liq-
uidation of the company Centre Ltd. in the amount of HRK 2,139 
thousand.

The increase in other non-current liabilities on 31 December 2016 
compared to 31 December 2015 is mainly associated with the de-
clared liability of the Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. to the City of 
Zagreb for the guarantee provided for the HRK bond issue. 

HRK 2.290.514 thousand of non-current liabilities under issued 
bonds was declared in the Statement of Financial Position (Bal-

ance Sheet) of the Group on 31 December 2015. This pertains to 
the liability under EUR 300 million of euro bonds issued by the 
Company Zagreb Holding Ltd. 48.8% of this issue was redeemed 
in July 2016 simultaneously with the issue of the new HRK bonds 
in the amount of HRK 1,800,000 thousand. The Group thus de-
clared current liabilities under euro bonds in the amount of HRK 
1,160,453 thousand (because they will mature in July 2017) and 
HRK 1,637,661 of non-current liabilities under issued bonds, which 
pertains to the liability under issued HRK bonds (HRK 1,800,000 of 
the nominal bond issue minus the discount cost and other costs 
of the bond issue amounting to HRK 162,339 thousand) on 31 De-
cember 2016.

The Group’s net debt was lower by HRK 621,567 thousand and 
amounted to HRK 3,608,703 on 31 December 2016 (compared to 
HRK 4,230,270 on 31 December 2015). The net debt/equity ratio 
on 31 December 2016 was 47% (compared to 55% on 31 Decem-
ber 2015).

LONG -TERM ASSET

SHORT -TERM ASSET LONG -TERM LIABILITES

CAPITAL

SHORT -TERM LIABILITES
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Liquidity risk

Credit risk management

The Group uses the following instruments to monitor and reduce liquidity risk: cash flow analysis and management, asset analysis and 
analysis of sources of asset funding, buyer creditworthiness analysis, guarantees, contracts for open credit lines based on the revolving 
principle etc.

Credit risk is the risk of the buyers’ failure to pay or to fulfil contractual obligations that impacts the Group’s possible financial loss. In its 
dealings with the buyers, the Group collects guarantees in order to protect itself from possible financial risks and losses arising from 
failure to pay or fulfil contractual obligations.

Buyers are grouped into risk groups in accordance with their financial indicators and their past dealings with the Group, and adequate 
measures of protection against credit risk are enforced for each group. To assign buyers to group, we mostly use the information from 
their official financial statements and the Group’s information about our past transactions. The Group deals with a large number of buyers 
from different industries and of different sizes and with a large number of retail customers as well. Trade receivables are adjusted for the 
value of doubtful and bad debts. 

ANNUAL STATEMENT  2016ZAGREB HOLDING GROUP

Liabilities Assets

Currency 31 Dec 2016
in  HRK 000

31 Dec 2015
in  HRK 000

31 Dec 2016
in  HRK 000

31 Dec 2015
in  HRK 000

EUR 3.027.662 4.507.050 1.479.613 1.596.591

USD - - - -

Other currencies - - - -

To be able to predict potential situations that could reflect negatively on its operations and the fulfilment of its objectives, the Group iden-
tifies financial risks, establishes their potential impact on the Group’s operations in the future, and manages financial risks. 

The Group makes an effort to reduce, avoid and pass on various forms of financial risks that it encounters in its operations in order to 
increase business security. Certain financial risks are accepted when they are judged to be economically justified.

The most important risks and the methods used to manage them are described below. The Group has not used derivative instruments for 
risk management. The Group does not use derivative instruments for speculation purposes.

Business risk statement

Financial risk management objectives

Market risk

Currency risk

The prices of municipal services are proposed by the Management Board based on market prices, and set and approved by the City of 
Zagreb. 

The Group’s activities are primarily exposed to the financial risk of fluctuations of foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. 
Exposure to market risk is supplemented by a sensitivity analysis. There have been no changes in the Group’s exposure to market risk or 
the methods used to manage and measure risk

The Group carries out certain transactions in a foreign currency and is therefore exposed to the risks of fluctuations in exchange rates. 
The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currency 
on the report date.

Interest risk
The Group is exposed to the risk of interest rate fluctuations because 34.54% of its total loans payable under leasing and issued bonds is tied to 
variable interest rates. Out of the Group’s total loans payable, a fixed interest rate was contracted for 65.46%. The issued euro bonds with a fixed 
annual coupon of 5.5% and HRK bonds with an annual coupon of HRK 3.875%, as well as the liability under the financial leasing of Arena Zagreb 
with an interest rate of 4.7%, account for the majority of the Group’s loans payable with a fixed interest rate. 

21.28% of loans payable are linked to EURIBOR, LIBOR and ZIBOR, and 13% of loans payable are linked to the yield on the Treasury Bills issued by 
the Croatian Ministry of Finance. Accordingly, 35% of loans payable is linked to a variable interest rate, which has been recognised as a substantial 
uncertainty in future interest cash flows.

The Group’s interest risk was reduced in 2016 by bond refinancing, i.e. issuing a new tranche of bonds at a lower coupon than the previous issue 
(average annual bond coupon was 4.51% in 2016 compared to 5.5% in 2015).

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of fluctuation of the HRK to EUR exchange rate under the liabilities under non-current 
loans, 35% of which are tied to EUR. The Group’s exposure to currency risk was reduced considerably in 2016 because some of the euro 
bonds maturing in July 2017 were redeemed early and HRK bonds were issued.
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Investor information

Zagreb Holding Ltd.
Ulica grada Vukovara 41
10000 Zagreb

Investor relations
E-mail:		  tomislav.juric@zgh.hr
			   ured.uprave@zgh.hr
Phone:		  +385 1 6420 010
Website:	 http://www.zgh.hr/investitori/2370

The statement of the persons responsible for the preparation of the 
statements of Zagreb Holding Group under Article 403 of the Capital 
Market Act 

We hereby declare that the following is true to our best knowledge:

	 International Financial Reporting Standards were followed in the preparation of the audited financial statements of Zagreb Holding 
Group for the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 (consolidated). The statements fully and truthfully represent assets and 
liabilities, profits and losses, financial position and operations of the issuer and the companies included in the consolidation as a whole,

	 The Statement of the Management of Zagreb Holding Group for the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 (consolidated) 
fully and truthfully represents the development, the business results, and the position of the issuer and the companies included in the 
consolidation, along with a description of the major risks that the issuer and the companies are exposed to as a whole.

In Zagreb, 31 March 2017

Ana Stojić Deban							       Bernard Mršo
President of the Management Board 					     Member of the Management Board 
Zagreb Holding Ltd.							      Zagreb Holding Ltd.

Slobodan Ljubičić
Director of Economic Affairs Sector
Zagreb Holding Ltd.
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Consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2016

       	 together with Independent 
Auditor's Report
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Member of the Management 

Board

Zagrebački holding d.o.o., Zagreb 
Avenija grada Vukovara 41 
10000 Zagreb 
Croatia
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REPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Management of Zagrebački holding d.o.o., Zagreb, (''the Company'') is responsible for ensuring that the annual financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act (Official Gazette No 78/15, 120/16) and the International Financial Reporting Standar-
ds to give a true and fair view of the financial position and its financial performance and its cash flows and its changes on equity of the 
Company for that period.

After making enquiries, the Management reasonably expects the Company to have adequate resources to continue to operate in the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Management Board prepared the annual financial statements using the going concern basis of ac-
counting.

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is responsible for:

  selection and consistent application of suitable accounting policies in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework;

  giving reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates; and

  using the going concern basis of accounting, unless it is inappropriate to presume so.

The Management is responsible for keeping the proper accounting records, which at any time with reasonable certainty present the 
financial position and the financial performance of the Company, and also their compliance with the Accounting Act and the International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The Management is also responsible for safe keeping the assets of the Company and also for taking rea-
sonable steps for prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

For and on behalf of the Management Board:

Table of Contents
Responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Independent Auditor's Report 

Consolidated Income statement / consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

Consolidated statement of financial position / consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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IZVJEŠĆE NEOVISNOG REVIZORA
Vlasniku društva Zagrebački holding d.o.o., Zagreb

Izvješće o reviziji konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja

Mišljenje s rezervom
Obavili smo reviziju konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja društva Zagrebački holding d.o.o., Zagreb, Avenija grada Vukovara 41 
(u daljnjem tekstu ‘’Društvo’’) i njegovih ovisnih društava (u daljnjem tekstu ‘’Grupa’’), za godinu koja je završila 31. prosinca 2016., koji 
obuhvaćaju konsolidirani Izvještaj o financijskom položaju (Bilancu) na 31. prosinca 2016., konsolidirani Račun dobiti i gubitka, konsolidirani 
Izvještaj o ostaloj sveobuhvatnoj dobiti, konsolidirani Izvještaj o promjenama kapitala i konsolidirani Izvještaj o novčanim tokovima za tada 
završenu godinu, kao i pripadajuće Bilješke uz konsolidirane financijske izvještaje, uključujući i sažetak značajnih računovodstvenih politika 
i ostalih objašnjenja.

Prema našem mišljenju, priloženi konsolidirani godišnji financijski izvještaji istinito i fer prikazuju konsolidirani financijski položaj Grupe na 
31. prosinca 2016. i konsolidiranu financijsku uspješnost i konsolidirane novčane tokove Grupe za tada završenu godinu u skladu s Zakonom 
o računovodstvu i Međunarodnim standardima financijskog izvještavanja (‘’MSFI’’).

Osnova za Mišljenje
Obavili smo našu reviziju u skladu sa Zakonom o računovodstvu, Zakonom o reviziji i Međunarodnim revizijskim standardima (‘’MRevS-i’’). 
Naše odgovornosti prema tim standardima su podrobnije opisane u našem Izvješću neovisnog revizora u odjeljku o revizorovim odgovor-
nostima za reviziju konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja. Neovisni smo od Društva u skladu s Kodeksom etike za profesionalne 
računovođe (‘’IESBA Kodeks’’) i ispunili smo naše ostale etičke odgovornosti u skladu s IESBA Kodeksom. Vjerujemo da su revizijski dokazi 
koje smo dobili dostatni i primjereni da osiguraju osnovu za naše mišljenje.

Isticanje pitanja
Kao što je iznijeto u bilješci 16. uz konsolidirane financijske izvještaje, pojedine općinske zemljišne knjige nisu u potpunosti sređene. Grupa 
je u postupku upisa zemljišta i građevinskih objekata u odgovarajuće registre kojima se dokazuje vlasništvo. Iako Grupa posjeduje relevan-
tnu dokumentaciju kojom se dokazuje vlasništvo, postoji određena neizvjesnost u pogledu rješavanja statusa te imovine. Naše mišljenje 
nije modificirano u vezi s tim pitanjem.

Ključna revizijska pitanja
Ključna revizijska pitanja jesu ona pitanja koja su bila, po našoj profesionalnoj prosudbi, od najveće važnosti u našoj reviziji konsolidiranih 
godišnjih financijskih izvještaja tekućeg razdoblja. Tim pitanjima smo se bavili u kontekstu naše revizije konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih 
izvještaja kao cjeline i pri formiranju našeg mišljenja o njima, i mi ne dajemo zasebno mišljenje o tim pitanjima. Utvrdili smo da su niže 
navedena pitanja ključna revizijska pitanja koja treba objaviti u našem Izvješću neovisnog revizora:

Ključno revizijsko pitanje 
Vrednovanje ulaganja u nekretnine
Opis ključnih procjena i prosudbi u vezi vrednovanja ulaganja u ne-
kretnine prikazan je u bilješkama: 3. f), 3. x) i 17. uz konsolidirane 
financijske izvještaje.

Grupa je na 31. prosinca 2016. u konsolidiranom Izvještaju o finan-
cijskom položaju (Bilanci) iskazala iznos od 1.955.426 tisuća kuna 
ulaganja u nekretnine pri čemu su uslijed novog vrednovanja ula-
ganja u nekretnine utvrđeni gubitci u neto iznosu od 4.948 tisuća 
kuna (2015. godine: dobitci 10.913 tisuća kuna).

Vrednovanje ulaganja u nekretnine obavljeno je na temelju procje-
ne kvalificiranog procjenitelja ovlaštenog za procjenu vrijednosti 
nekretnina. Procjenitelj je obavljao procjene na temelju Zakona o 
procjeni vrijednosti nekretnina (NN 78/2015) i Pravilnika o metoda-
ma procjene vrijednosti nekretnina (NN 105/2015). Predmetne ne-
kretnine uglavnom se odnose na poslovne građevine i građevinska 
zemljišta na području Grada Zagreba.

Sukladno navedenom, radi značaja i korištenja prosudbi u procje-
njivanju fer vrijednosti, smatramo da je vrednovanje ulaganja u ne-
kretnine Društva ključno revizijsko pitanje.

Kako smo adresirali ključ no revizijsko pitanje
Procjenjivali smo kompetentnost i sposobnosti Procjenitelja i po-
tvrdili njihove kvalifikacije. Također smo procjenjivali njihovu neovi-
snost i opseg njihova rada te smo pregledali sklopljen ugovor radi 
neuobičajenih uvjeta i/ili dogovorene naknade. Na temelju navede-
nog potvrdili smo da su Procjenitelji neovisni i kompetentni i da je 
djelokrug njihovog rada prikladno utvrđen.

Testirali smo na uzorku ispravnost klasifikacije ulaganja u nekretni-
ne, uključujući nova ulaganja, prihode od najma i povezane troško-
ve potvrđujući iste sa iskazanim stanjima u knjigama Grupe.

Pregledali smo izvješća Procjenitelja i potvrdili da su sastavljena u 
skladu sa propisanim metodama.

Analizirali smo na uzorku primjerenost Procjeni-teljevog izbora 
određene metode procjenjivanja i vezana obrazloženja. Provjerili 
smo ispravnost evidentiranja promjena utvrđenih ponovnom pro-
cjenom u konsolidiranim financijskim izvještajima Grupe.

Također, procijenili smo adekvatnost objava u konsolidiranim finan-
cijskim izvještajima.

BDO Croatia d.o.o.

Naplativost potraživanja od kupaca
Opis ključnih politika i prosudbi u vezi potraživanja od kupaca prikazan 
je u bilješkama: 3. i), 3. x), 9. i 21. uz konsolidirane financijske izvještaje.

Grupa je na 31. prosinca 2016. u konsolidiranom Izvještaju o finan-
cijskom položaju (Bilanci) iskazala iznos od 1.043.805 tisuća kuna 
neto potraživanja od kupaca. Također, u konsolidiranom Računu 
dobiti i gubitka za 2016. godinu priznati su gubici uslijed umanje-
nja potraživanja u iznosu od 834.732 tisuće kuna (2015. godine: 
861.245 tisuća kuna).

Naplativost potraživanja od kupaca i razina provedenih ispravaka 
za sporna potraživanja smatramo značajnim rizikom, samim time 
i ključnim revizijskim pitanjem, obzirom na prirodu ovih salda (ko-
munalna djelatnost regulirana je posebnim zakonima i potraživanja 
nisu osigurana financijskim instrumentima) te obzirom na velik obu-
jam kupaca Grupe sa malim udjelima potraživanja.

Ocijenili smo dizajn i implementaciju ključnih kontrola kod praćenja 
naplativosti potraživanja.

Analizirali smo adekvatnost politike Grupe u vezi vrednovanja po-
traživanja od kupaca.

Razmatrali smo konzistentnost prosudbi Uprave u pogledu napla-
tivosti potraživanja.

Izradili smo očekivanu starosnu strukturu kupaca bazirano na poda-
cima ranijih razdoblja i svih značajnih promjena nastalih u proma-
tranom razdoblju i usporedili sa aktualnom starosnom strukturom.

Usporedili smo izvještaje starosne strukture kupaca sa evidentira-
nim ispravcima u konsolidiranim financijskim izvještajima Grupe.

Testirali smo na uzorku račune uključene u izvještaje o dospjelim 
potraživanjima i provjeravali ispravnost ročnosti.

Pregledali smo na uzorku i kritički analizirali dana pojašnjenja uz 
određena redovna potraživanja.

Također, procijenili smo adekvatnost objava u konsolidiranim finan-
cijskim izvještajima.

Registrirano kod Trgovačkog suda u Zagrebu pod  brojem 080044149
OIB 76394522236

Registrirano kod Trgovačkog suda u Zagrebu pod  brojem 080044149
OIB 76394522236
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Tel: +385 1 2395 741 
Fax: +385 1 2303 691 
E-mail: bdo-croatia.hr

BDO Croatia d.o.o. 
10000 Zagreb 
Trg J. F. Kennedy 6b
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Ključna revizijska pitanja (nastavak)

Ključno revizijsko pitanje 
Priznavanje prihoda
Opis ključnih politika i informacija u vezi priznavanja prihoda 
prikazan je u bilješkama: 3. t), 5, i 12. uz konsolidirane financijske 
izvještaje.

Grupa je u konsolidiranom Računu dobiti i gubitka za 2016. godinu 
iskazala iznos od 3.842.428 tisuća kuna prihoda od prodaje.

Prihode od prodaje u značajnom dijelu čini visok obujam transak-
cija pojedinačno niske vrijednosti. Identificirali smo sljedeće vrste 
transakcija i tvrdnji vezanih uz priznavanje prihoda koji smatramo 
značajnim rizikom, samim time i ključnim revizijskim pitanjem:

- potpunost prihoda evidentiranih na temelju oslanjanja na sustav 
naplate, točnost i potpunost prihoda priznatih na temelju transakci-
ja koje su izvan normalnog procesa naplate i primjerenost alokaci-
je ukupne vrijednosti transakcija između više elemenata u paketu 
transakcije.

Kako smo adresirali 
ključno revizijsko pitanje
Ocijenili smo dizajn i implementaciju ključnih kontrola kod praćenja su-
stava fakturiranja.

Analizirali smo adekvatnost i konzistentnost usvojenih politika Društva 
u vezi priznavanja prihoda.

Naši revizori informacijskih sustava su obavili dodatne postupke koji 
uključuju kontrolu transakcijskog integriteta i pregled aplikativnih kon-
trola kod podružnica/društva kćeri koji koriste “billing” aplikaciju ili on-
line plaćanje ili plaćanje preko teleoperatera (poput Zagrebparkinga, 
Gradske plinare i ZET-a). Za podružnice/povezana društva koja imaju ek-
sternaliziranu uslugu pripreme računa (GSKG, ViO i Čistoća) pregledani 
su ugovori i obavljeni razgovori sa predstavnicima pružatelja usluga radi 
razumijevanja sustava internih kontrola i informacijske sigurnosti kao i 
postupke kontrole transakcijskog integriteta podataka.

Izvršili smo dokazno ispitivanje na uzorku od ne-sustavnih prilagodbi 
koji su izvan normalnog procesa naplate.

Neovisnim potvrdama kupaca na referentnom uzorku potvrdili smo 
obračunata stanja i promete.

Provjerili smo prema uzorku pravilnost iskazivanja prihoda po pripada-
jućim razdobljima.

Također, procijenili smo adekvatnost objava u konsolidiranim financij-
skim izvještajima.

BDO Croatia d.o.o.

Ostale informacije u Godišnjem izvješću
Uprava Društva je odgovorna za ostale informacije. Ostale informacije sadrže informacije uključene u Godišnje izvješće, ali ne uključuju 
konsolidirane godišnje financijske izvještaje i naše Izvješće neovisnog revizora o njima.

Naše mišljenje o konsolidiranim godišnjim financijskim izvještajima ne obuhvaća ostale informacije, osim u razmjeru u kojem je to izričito 
navedeno u dijelu našeg Izvješća neovisnog revizora pod naslovom Izvješće o usklađenosti s ostalim zakonskim ili regulatornim zahtjevi-
ma, i mi ne izražavamo bilo koji oblik zaključka s izražavanjem uvjerenja o njima.

U vezi s našom revizijom konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja, naša je odgovornost pročitati ostale informacije i razmotriti jesu li 
ostale informacije značajno proturječne konsolidiranim godišnjim financijskim izvještajima ili našim saznanjima stečenih tijekom obavljanja 
revizije ili se drugačije čini da su značajno pogrešno prikazane. Ako, temeljeno na poslu kojeg smo obavili, zaključimo da postoji značajni 
pogrešni prikaz tih ostalih informacija, od nas se zahtijeva da izvijestimo tu činjenicu. U tom smislu mi nemamo nešto za izvijestiti.

Odgovornosti Uprave Društva i onih koji su zaduženi 
za upravljanje za konsolidirane godišnje financijske izvještaje
Uprava Društva je odgovorna za sastavljanje konsolidirani godišnjih financijskih izvještaja koji daju istinit i fer prikaz u skladu s MSFI-ima, 
i za one interne kontrole za koje Uprava Društva odredi da su potrebne za omogućavanje sastavljanja konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih 
izvještaja koji su bez značajnog pogrešnog prikaza uslijed prijevare ili pogreške.

U sastavljanju konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja, Uprava Društva je odgovorna za procjenjivanje sposobnosti Grupe da nastavi 
s poslovanjem po vremenski neograničenom poslovanju, objavljivanje, ako je primjenjivo, pitanja povezana s vremenski neograničenim 
poslovanjem i korištenjem računovodstvene osnove utemeljene na vremenskoj neograničenosti poslovanja, osim ako Uprava Društva ili 
namjerava likvidirati Društvo ili prekinuti poslovanje ili nema realne alternative nego da to učini.

Oni koji su zaduženi za upravljanje su odgovorni za nadziranje procesa financijskog izvještavanja kojeg je ustanovilo Društvo.

Revizorove odgovornosti za reviziju konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja
Naši ciljevi su steći razumno uvjerenje o tome jesu li konsolidirani godišnji financijski izvještaji kao cjelina bez značajnog pogrešnog prikaza 
uslijed prijevare ili pogreške i izdati Izvješće neovisnog revizora koje uključuje naše mišljenje. Razumno uvjerenje je viša razina uvjerenja, 
ali nije garancija da će revizija obavljena u skladu s MRevS-ima uvijek otkriti značajno pogrešno prikazivanje kada ono postoji. Pogrešni 
prikazi mogu nastati uslijed prijevare ili pogreške i smatraju se značajni ako se razumno može očekivati da, pojedinačno ili u zbroju, utječu 
na ekonomske odluke korisnika donijete na osnovi tih konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja.

Kao sastavni dio revizije u skladu s MRevS-ima, stvaramo profesionalne prosudbe i održavamo profesionalni skepticizam tijekom revizije. 
Mi također:

	 prepoznajemo i procjenjujemo rizike značajnog pogrešnog prikaza konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja, zbog prijevare ili 
	 pogreške, oblikujemo i obavljamo revizijske postupke kao reakciju na te rizike i pribavljamo revizijske dokaze koji su dostatni i 
	 primjereni da osiguraju osnovu za naše mišljenje. Rizik neotkrivanja značajnog pogrešnog prikaza nastalog uslijed prijevare je veći od 
	 rizika nastalog uslijed pogreške, jer prijevara može uključiti tajne sporazume, krivotvorenje, namjerno ispuštanje, pogrešno 
	 prikazivanje ili zaobilaženje internih kontrola.

	 stječemo razumijevanje internih kontrola relevantnih za reviziju kako bismo oblikovali revizijske postupke koji su primjereni u danim 
	 okolnostima, ali ne i za svrhu izražavanja mišljenja o učinkovitosti internih kontrola Grupe.

	 ocjenjujemo primjerenost korištenih računovodstvenih politika i razumnost računovodstvenih procjena i povezanih objava koje je 
	 stvorila Uprava Društva.

	 zaključujemo o primjerenosti korištene računovodstvene osnove utemeljene na vremenskoj neograničenosti poslovanja koju 
	 koristi Uprava Društva i, temeljeno na pribavljenim revizijskim dokazima, zaključujemo o tome postoji li značajna neizvjesnost u 
	 vezi s događajima ili okolnostima koji mogu stvarati značajnu sumnju u sposobnost Društva da nastavi s poslovanjem po 
	 vremenski neograničenom poslovanju. Ako zaključimo da postoji značajna neizvjesnost, od nas se zahtijeva da skrenemo pozornost 
	 u našem Izvješću neovisnog revizora na povezane objave u konsolidiranim godišnjim financijskim izvještajima ili, ako takve objave 
	 nisu odgovarajuće, da modificiramo naše mišljenje. Naši zaključci se temelje na revizijskim dokazima pribavljenim sve do datuma 
	 našeg Izvješća neovisnog revizora. Međutim, budući događaji ili uvjeti mogu uzrokovati da Društvo prekine s nastavljanjem 
	 poslovanja po vremenski neograničenom poslovanju.

	 ocjenjujemo cjelokupnu prezentaciju, strukturu i sadržaj konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja, uključujući i objave, kao 
	 i odražavaju li konsolidirani godišnji financijski izvještaji transakcije i događaje na kojima su zasnovani na način kojim se postiže fer 
	 prezentacija.

Mi komuniciramo s onima koji su zaduženi za upravljanje u vezi s, između ostalih pitanja, planiranim djelokrugom i vremenskim raspore-
dom revizije i važnim revizijskim nalazima, uključujući i u vezi sa značajnim nedostacima u internim kontrolama koji su otkriveni tijekom 
naše revizije.

Mi također dajemo izjavu onima koji su zaduženi za upravljanje da smo postupili u skladu s relevantnim etičkim zahtjevima u vezi s neo-
visnošću i da ćemo komunicirati s njima o svim odnosima i drugim pitanjima za koja se može razumno smatrati da utječu na našu neovi-
snost, kao i, gdje je primjenjivo, o povezanim zaštitama.

Između pitanja o kojima se komunicira s onima koji su zaduženi za upravljanje, mi određujemo ona pitanja koja su od najveće važnosti 
u reviziji konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja tekućeg razdoblja i stoga su ključna revizijska pitanja. Mi opisujemo ta pitanja u 
našem Izvješću neovisnog revizora, osim ako zakon ili regulativa sprječava javno objavljivanje pitanja ili kada odlučimo, u iznimno rijetkim 
okolnostima, da pitanje ne treba priopćiti u našem Izvješću neovisnog revizora jer se razumno može očekivati da bi negativne posljedice 
priopćavanja nadmašile dobrobiti javnog interesa od takvog priopćavanja.

Registrirano kod Trgovačkog suda u Zagrebu pod  brojem 080044149
OIB 76394522236
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Zdenko Balen, član Uprave Zdenko Balen, ovlašteni revizor

Tel: +385 1 2395 741 
Fax: +385 1 2303 691 
E-mail: bdo-croatia.hr

BDO Croatia d.o.o. 
10000 Zagreb 
Trg J. F. Kennedy 6b

Izvješće o usklađenosti s ostalim zakonskim ili regulatornim zahtjevima
Uprava Društva odgovorna je za sastavljanje Izvješća poslovodstva Društva kao sastavnog dijela Godišnjeg izvješća Društva, te smo u 
obvezi izraziti mišljenje o usklađenosti Izvješća poslovodstva Društva kao sastavnog dijela Godišnjeg izvješća Društva s konsolidiranim go-
dišnjim financijskim izvještajima Društva. Prema našem mišljenju, temeljeno na poslovima koje smo obavili tijekom revizije, informacije u 
Izvješću poslovodstva Društva za 2016. godinu koje je sastavni dio Godišnjeg izvješća Društva za 2016. godinu usklađene su s informacija-
ma iznijetim u konsolidiranim godišnjim financijskim izvještajima Društva prikazanim na stranicama 8 do 101 na koje smo iskazali mišljenje 
kao što je iznijeto u odjeljku Mišljenje gore.

Prema našem mišljenju, temeljeno na poslovima koje smo obavili tijekom revizije, Izvješće poslovodstva Društva za 2016. godinu koje je 
sastavni dio Godišnjeg izvješća Društva za 2016. godinu je sastavljeno u skladu sa Zakonom o računovodstvu.

Na temelju poznavanja i razumijevanja poslovanja Društva i njegova okruženja stečenog u okviru revizije, nismo ustanovili da postoje 
značajni pogrešni prikazi u Izvješću poslovodstva Društva za 2016. godinu koji je sastavni dio Godišnjeg izvješća Društva za 2016. godinu.

Prema našem mišljenju, temeljeno na poslovima koje smo obavili tijekom revizije, Izjava o primjeni kodeksa korporativnog upravljanja, 
uključena u Godišnje izvješće Društva za 2016. godinu, je u skladu sa zahtjevima navedenim u članku 22. stavku 1. točkama 3. i 4. Zakona 
o računovodstvu.

Izjava o primjeni kodeksa korporativnog upravljanja, uključena u Godišnje izvješće Društva za 2016. godinu, uključuje informacije iz članka 
22. stavak 1. točke 2., 5. i 6. Zakona o računovodstvu.

Uprava Društva odgovorna je za sastavljanje konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja Društva za godinu koja je završila 31. prosinca 
2016. u propisanom obliku temeljem Pravilnika o strukturi i sadržaju godišnjih financijskih izvještaja (NN 95/16), te u skladu s ostalim pro-
pisima koji uređuju poslovanje Društva (‘’Standardni konsolidirani godišnji financijski izvještaji’’). Financijske informacije iznijete u standar-
dnim konsolidiranim godišnjim financijskim izvještajima Društva u skladu su sa informacijama iznijetim u konsolidiranim godišnjim finan-
cijskim izvještajima Društva prikazanih na stranicama 8 do 101 na koje smo iskazali mišljenje kao što je iznijeto u odjeljku Mišljenje gore.

Angažirani partner u reviziji konsolidiranih godišnjih financijskih izvještaja Društva za 2016. godinu koja ima za posljedicu ovo Izvješće neo-
visnog revizora je Zdenko Balen, ovlašteni revizor.

U Zagrebu, 3. travnja 2017. godine

BDO Croatia d.o.o. 
Trg J. F. Kennedy 6b 
10000 Zagreb

Registrirano kod Trgovačkog suda u Zagrebu pod  brojem 080044149
OIB 76394522236
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Note 2016 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

OPERATING INCOME 

Sales 4 3.842.428 3.911.030

Other operating income 5 1.202.678 1.297.738

Total 5.045.106 5.208.768

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of material and services 6 (2.273.534)               (2.226.015)

Staff costs 7 (1.609.351)               (1.512.561)

Depreciation and amortisation 8 (548.140)       (548.205)

Impairment allowance on current and non-current assets 9 (167.283)                                  (461.319)

Provisions for risks and charges 10 (107.998)                  (141.617)

Other operating expenses 11 (145.137)                                (101.754)

Total (4.851.443) (4.991.471)

FINANCIAL INCOME 12 237.116                                      224.863 

FINANCIAL EXPENSES 13 (320.469)                         (298.863)

TOTAL INCOME 5.282.222                                 5.433.631 

TOTAL EXPENSES (5.171.912)         (5.290.334)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 110.310                    143.297 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14 (35.378)           (22.306)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 74.932                                      120.991 

Attributable to: 74.932                                      120.991 

The equity holders of the Company 69.718                                      117.250 

Non-controlling interests 5.214            3.741 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Revaluation surplus, net of taxes 86.675                      88.541 

Profit from evaluating financial assets available for sale 4.610 -

Other changes in comprehensive gain (37.137) -

Total comprehensive gain for the year 129.080                    209.532 

Total comprehensive gain attributable to: 129.080                    209.532

Equity holders of the Company 123.866                    205.791 

Non-controlling interests 5.214           3.741 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position / Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2016
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Note 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 16 13.191.970 13.848.712

Investment property 17 1.955.426 1.958.298

Intangible assets 15 22.828 31.839

Other financial assets 18 133.364 140.134

Non-current receivables 19 1.666.893 2.015.997

Deferred tax assets 14 37.746 43.576

Total non-current assets 17.008.227 18.038.556

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 20 341.474 301.796

Trade receivables and other receivables 21 1.543.418 1.544.157

Other financial assets 18 107.459 230.188

Cash and cash equivalents 22 1.057.715 421.642

Total current assets 3.050.066 2.497.783

TOTAL ASSETS 20.058.293     20.536.339

Off-balance sheet items 30 225.214                        235.799 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 8

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Income Statement and Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position / Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2016

10

Note 31 December 2016 31 December 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

EQUITY 23

Share capital 23a 3.833.236 3.833.236

Revaluation reserve 23b 2.887.537 2.796.252

Other reserves 23c 322.618 319.977

Retained earnings 23d 695.267 708.178

Non-controlling interests 23e 8.348 6.866

Total equity 7.747.006 7.664.509

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans payable 24 2.130.099 2.606.065

Liabilities under issued long-term securities 25 1.637.661 2.290.514

Other non-current liabilities 26 151.669 91.424

Provisions 27 460.148 481.704

Deferred income 28 4.282.740 4.847.409

Deferred tax liability 14 614.780 677.143

Total non-current liabilities 9.277.097 10.994.259

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables and other liabilities 29 1.309.033 1.281.103

Loans and borrowings 24 547.772 581.912

Liabilities for issued securities 25 1.160.453 -

Corporate income tax 16.933 14.556

Total current liabilities 3.034.191 1.877.571

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 20.058.293      20.536.339

Off-balance sheet items 30 225.214                        235.799 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
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2016 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 74.932 120.991

Tax expense recognised in the income statement 35.378 22.306

Finance cost recognised in profit or loss 254.298 267.836

Investment income recognised in profit or loss (165.849) (180.882)

Impairment allowance on current assets 138.558 257.315

Change in the fair value of investment property 4.948 (10.914)

Impairment allowance on non-current assets 858 18.012

Depreciation and amortisation 548.140 548.205

Profit  from sale of assets (5.410) (3.233)

Increase / (decrease) in long-term provisions (21.555) 70.010

Decrease in deferred income on assets financed by others (179.448) (95.881)

Foreign exchange losses (55.568) (12.954)

Effect of liquidating a subsidiary 2.640 -

Other non-monetary items 2.514 -

Changes in working capital:

Increase in inventories (40.825) (18.955)

Increase in trade receivables (187.960) (195.501)

(Increase) / decrease in receivables from related companies (102.445) 23.598

Decrease / (increase) in amounts due from employees 405 (471)

Decrease / (increase) in receivables from the State 18.507 (93)

(Increase) / decrease in other receivables (144.148) 38.734

Decrease /increase in liabilities to suppliers and related parties (28.734) 134.627

(Decrease) / increase in advances received 1.056 (56.857)

Decrease in liabilities for taxes and contributions 5.051 (16.567)

Decrease in amounts due to employees 2.359 (5.233)

(Decrease) / increase in other non-current liabilities 60.245 (15.364)

(Decrease) / increase in other current liabilities 173.264 (74.545)

Profit payment to non-controlling interests (3.732) (5.581)

Net cash generated from operations 387.479 808.603

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 13

2016. 2015.

(u tisućama kuna) (u tisućama kuna)

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 387.479 809.022

Income taxes paid (23.436) (12.136)

Interest paid (248.325) (269.750)

Net cash generated from operating activities 115.718 527.136

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of tangible and intangible assets (250.987) (274.706)

Expense of investment property (2.077) -

Decrease in advances for fixed assets  113 419

Proceeds from sale of tangible assets 1.752 9.028

Receipts from collection of long-term receivables 325.600 270.501

Income from dividends 1.743 -

Purchase costs for financial assets 141.506 (174.146)

Interest paid 158.702 183.800

Net cash used in investing activities 376.352 14.896

Cash flows from financing activities

Received loans and borrowings - 26.383

Repayments of loans and borrowings (486.131) (535.254)

Received issued bonds 1.734.948 -

Repayment of bonds (1.104.814) -

Net cash generated from financing activities 144.003 (508.871)

Net cash increase 636.073 32.742

Cash as at 1 January 421.642 388.900

Cash as at 31 December 1.057.715 421.642

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016 

ANNUAL STATEMENT  2016ZAGREB HOLDING GROUP

82 83



Zagrebački holding d.o.o. and its subsidiaries, Zagreb 14

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

History, incorporation and status changes
On 27 December 2005, The City of Zagreb and Zagrebački holding d.o.o. (''the Company'') concluded several share transfer agreements 
involving 22 companies on the basis of which the ownership interests in these companies were transferred in full from the City of Zagreb 
to the Company. The transferred equity interests in the nominal amount of HRK 4,036,590 thousand represent assets that are at the free 
disposal of the Company. In addition, pursuant to these agreements, the City of Zagreb increased the subscribed capital of the Company, 
by converting the receivables under the Share Transfer Agreement by a total of HRK 4,036,590 thousand in equity of the Company. 

In 2006 and 2007, several companies, which are enumerated below, were merged into the Company, and the Company underwent several 
changes in its status, all of which were registered at the Commercial Court in Zagreb. 
Upon the merger, the merged entities transferred all of their assets and liabilities to the Company as the acquirer. Pursuant to the 
underlying merger agreements and the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, the share capital of the Company was not increased 
by the share capital of each of the merged entities because it held the entire share capital in each of the entities.

In 2013 the Company defined a Demerger plan involving the establishment of new companies and transfer of a part of its assets and 
liabilities to the new companies, in accordance with the adopted strategic highlights. Until the end of 2013 the following operating units 
had been spun off: Water supply (as a result of the underlying changes of Law on Waters, Official Gazette 153/09, 63/11, 130/11, 56/13), 
Facility management, Construction and sale of flats, and Publishing (as a result of the strategic focus to separate commercial operations 
from the communal activities), resulting in the establishment of four new companies. 

Pursuant to the Decision (No Tt-13/25472-2) of the Commercial Court in Zagreb, dated 8 November 2013, the demerger of the Company 
involving the establishment of the following new companies was entered into the Court registry: Gradsko stambeno komunalno 
gospodarstvo d.o.o., Vodoopskrba i odvodnja d.o.o., Zagrebačka stanogradnja d.o.o. and AGM d.o.o. 

As part of the demerger involving the establishment of the above-mentioned companies, the share capital was distributed by reducing the 
share capital of the Company by HRK 2,069,128 thousand from HRK 4,208,629 thousand to HRK 2,139,501 thousand.

Following the Company’s status changes and registration  of new companies the Company concluded Contract on transfer of business 
shares with City of Zagreb as transferor whereas the Company acquired for following companies: Gradsko stambeno komunalno društvo 
d.o.o., Vodoopskrba i odvodnja d.o.o., AGM d.o.o. and Zagrebačka stanogradnja d.o.o. Business shares are transferred to the Company in 
the total amount of HRK 2,069,128 thousand which is the same as nominal value of share capital for each of above mentioned companies. 
Based on transfer of business shares receivables from City of Zagreb are transferred to additional share capital of the Company during the 
year 2013 as it is stated in Commercial Court in Zagreb
. 

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Zagrebački holding d.o.o. and its subsidiaries, Zagreb

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Activities

As at 31 December 2016, the Company comprised the following business units/branches:

Name of the branch: Headquarters Form of 
organization Principal activity

Ownership interest

2016 2015

Zagrebački holding limited liability 
company

Public transport; 
water supply; 

cleaning, waste 
collection 

and disposal; 
travel agency 

business; 
sports, facility 
and real estate 
management

100% City of Zagreb 100% City 
of Zagreb

100% 
Grad 

Zagreb

1. Gradska 
groblja Mirogoj 10 branch Funeral and related services 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

2. Čistoća Radnička 82 branch Public area cleaning, waste 
collection and disposal

100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

3.
Zagrebački 
električni 
tramvaj

Ozaljska 105 branch Public passenger transport 100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

4. Zrinjevac Remetinečka 
92 branch Landscaping and plant growing 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

5. Zagrebparking Šubićeva 40/III branch Public parking lots and garages 100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

6. Zagrebačke 
ceste

Donje Svetice 
48 branch

Regional and local road 
management, maintenance and 
construction

100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

7.
Autobusni 
kolodvor 
Zagreb

Avenija 
M.Držića 4 branch Bus station 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

8. Tržnice Zagreb Šubićeva 40/V branch Wholesale and retail markets, 
warehousing and storage

100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

9. ZGOS Zeleni trg 3 branch Waste collection and removal 100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

10. Zagrebački 
digitalni grad

Av.Dubrovnik 
15 branch Lease of IT cable and network 

systems
100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

11. Upravljanje 
projektima Jankomir 25 branch Flat construction and sale 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

12.
Arena Zagreb 
(merged in 
10/2015

Ul. V. Vukova 8 branch Sports facility management and 
maintenance - 100%

13. Robni terminali 
Zagreb Jankomir 25 branch Warehousing 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

14. Vladimir Nazor Maksimir 52 branch Travel agency business 100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

15. Zagrebački 
velesajam

Av.Dubrovnik 
15 podružnica Organisation of fairs, 

congresses, seminars
    100 % 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

16. Upravljanje 
nekretninama Jankomir 25 podružnica Real estate business 100 % 

Zg.holding -

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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Zagrebački holding d.o.o. and its subsidiaries, Zagreb 16

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Activities (continued)

Companies and institutions owned by the Company that form the Zagrebački holding Group (hereinafter: the Group):

According to the decision of the General Assembly, by the Solution of Commercial Court in Zagreb (Tt-15 / 29795-2) dated 15 October 
2015, merge of the company Zagreb Arena d.o.o. to the Company is registered in the court registry.

Pursuant to the Decision of the Commercial Court from 9 April 2014, company Centar d.o.o. registered the end of its operating, changing 
of the company and appointing the liquidator.  As at 14 June 2016, in line with the Decision of the Commercial Court, the function of the 
liquidator ceases and the continued operating of the company is entered into the court register.

Name of the branch Headquarters Form of 
organization Principal activity

Ownership interest

2016 2015

Companies and institutions owned by Zagrebački holding

1. Gradska plinara 
Zagreb d.o.o. Radnička 1 d.o.o. Gas distribution 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

2.
Gradska 
plinara Zagreb - 
Opskrba d.o.o.

Radnička 1 d.o.o. Gas supply 100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

3. Zagreb plakat 
d.o.o. Savska cesta 1 d.o.o. Lease of advertising space 51% 

Zg.holding
51% 

Zg.holding

4. Gradska 
ljekarna Zagreb

Kralja Držislava 
6 institution Drugstore 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

5. Zagreb arena 
d.o.o.                 

Ul.grada 
Vukovara 41 d.o.o. Managing sport facilities an 

organizing sport events - 100% 
Zg.holding

6.

Gradsko 
stambeno 
komunalno 
gospodarstvo 
d.o.o.

Savska cesta 1 d.o.o. Facility management 100% 
Zg.holding

100% 
Zg.holding

7. Vodoopskrba i 
odvodnja d.o.o.

Folnegovićeva 
1 d.o.o. Water collection, treatment 

and supply
100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

8. AGM  d.o.o. Mihanovićeva 
28 d.o.o. Publishing 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

9.
Zagrebačka 
stanogradnja 
d.o.o.

Bukovačka 
cesta 4 d.o.o. Flat construction and sale 100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

10. Centar d.o.o. Palmotićeva 
22-2 d.o.o. Organization of sports 

holidays for youth
100% 

Zg.holding
100% 

Zg.holding

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Principal activities

During the year, the principal activities of the Group comprised the provision of the following services:

a)	 Cleaning and waste removal services

b)	 Public passenger transport services

c)	 Water collection, treatment and supply

d)	 Landscaping and plant growing 

e)	 Management, maintenance, construction and protection of regional and local roads

f)	 Parking services

g)	 Gas supply and distribution

h)	 Drugstore

i)	 Warehousing and rental services

j)	 Waste disposal and management

k)	 Flat, business premises and garage construction and sale

l)	 Other services

Staff

At 31 December 2016, the Group had 10,394 employees (31 December 2015: 10,646 employees), as presented below:

The Group
No. of staff

31 Dec 2016.
No. of staff

31 Dec 2015

The Company 8.196 8.331

Subsidiaries 2.198 2.315

10.394 10.646

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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Zagrebački holding d.o.o. and its subsidiaries, Zagreb 18

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

Directors and the Management

The members of the Management Board of the Company were as follows:

2016 2015

1. Ana Stojić Deban, President of the management 
Board since 16 June 2015 

1. temporary director Daniela Franić from  31 October 
2014 until 6 March 2015; Dejan Fičko, President 
from 6 March 2015 until 15 June 2015; Ana Stojić 
Deban, President since 16 June 2015 

2. Daniela Franić, Member since 6 March 2015 2. Daniela Franić, Member since 6 March 2015 

3. Bernard Mršo, Member since 8 August 2016 3. Marija Cvrlje, Member from 6 March 2015 until 15 
June 2015

4. Krešimir Kvaternik, Member from 6 March 2015 
until 15 June 2015

5. Denis Nikola Kulišić, Member from 6 March 2015 
until 15 June 2015

Subsidiaries Director as at 31 December 2016

1. Gradska plinara Zagreb d.o.o. Bruno Lacković until 22 March 2016, Tihana Colić 
since 23 March 2016 

2. Gradska plinara Zagreb Opskrba d.o.o. Miroslav Jerković until 20 March 2016, Igor Pirija 
since 21 March 2016 

3. Zagreb plakat d.o.o. Bosiljka Grbašić, Kruno Ian Bodegray

4. Gradska ljekarna Zagreb Nadica Jambrek, Principal

5. Gradsko stambeno komunalno gospodarstvo d.o.o Joško Jakelić

6. Vodoopskrba i odvodnja d.o.o. Štefica Mihalic

7. AGM d.o.o. Svjetlana Dizdar until  1 November 2016, Dinko 
Čutura since  02 November 2016

8. Zagrebačka Stanogradnja d.o.o. Renata Šoprek, Zdravko Juć until 27 June 2016, 
Željko Horvat since 28 June 2016

9. Centar d.o.o. Milan Kanjer (liquidator) until 07 June 2016, 
Tomislav Bilić since 08 June 2016 

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Supervisory Board 

The members of the Supervisory Board of the Company during 2016 were as follows:

1. Mirna Šitum, Deputy President (since 1 July 2013), President (since 8 December 2014)

2. Davor Štern, Member (since 1 July 2013), Deputy President (since 8 December 2014)

3. Ivan Šikić, Member (since 1 July 2013)

4. Gojko Bežovan, Member (since 1 July 2013)

5. Mirsad Srebreniković, Member (since 28 May 2015)

6. Jelena Pavičić Vukičević, Member (since 28 May 2015)

7. Andrea Šulentić, Member (since 28 May 2015)

8. Grgo Jelinić, Member (since 28 May 2015)

9. Mirko Herak, Member (since 28 May 2015)

10. Ivan Ćelić, Member (from 8 August 2016 to 21 November 2016)

11. Nikola Mijatović, Member (since  8 August 2016)

12. Mario Župan, Member (since  8 August 2016)

The members of the Supervisory Board of the Company during 2015 were as follows:

1. Mirna Šitum, Deputy President (since 1 July 2013), President (since 8 December 2014)

2. Davor Štern, Member (since 1 July 2013), Deputy President (since 8 December 2014)

3. Ivan Šikić, Member (since 1 July 2013)

4. Gojko Bežovan, Member (since 1 July 2013)

5. Mirsad Srebreniković, Member (since 28 May 2015)

6. Jelena Pavičić Vukičević, Member (since 28 May 2015)

7. Andrea Šulentić, Member (since 28 May 2015)

8. Grgo Jelinić, Member (since 28 May 2015)

9. Mirko Herak, Member (since 28 May 2015)

10. Vladimir Ferdelji, Member (from 8 December 2014 until 1 July 2015)

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The only member of the Assembly is City of Zagreb, and representatives of member during 2016 were as follows:

1.	 Milan Bandić (since  22 April  2015)

2.	 Slavko Kojić (since  28 June 2013)

3.	 Vesna Kusin (since  30 March 2015)

The only member of the Assembly is City of Zagreb, and representatives of member during 2015 were as follows

1. Milan Bandić (since 22 April 2015)

2. Sandra Švaljek (until 30 March 2015)

3. Slavko Kojić (since 28 June 2013)

4. Vesna Kusin (since 30 March 2015)

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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2.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Standards and Interpretations effective in the current period 

	 Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions – IAS 19 requires subjects to consider employee or third party 
contributions in accounting defined earning

	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle:

	 	 IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

	 	 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (with consequential amendments to IFRS 1)

	 	 IAS 19 Employee Benefits

	 	 IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

	 The effective date of the amendments is 1 January 2016. Earlier application is allowed.

	 Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle, these amendments are effective in EU for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 February 
2015, with earlier application permitted. They include:

	 	 IFRS 2 Share-based Payment,

	 	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations,

	 	 IFRS 8 Operating Segments,

	 	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement,

	 	 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible assets,

	 	 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures; 

	 Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (issued in December 2014)

	 Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (issued in May 2014)

	 Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative (issued in December 2014)

	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (issued in May 2014)

	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants (issued in June 2014)

	 Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (issued in August 2014)

The application of the above-mentioned standards had no influence on the consolidated financial statements of the Company for 2016.

New and revised IFRSs issued by the IASB but not effective

	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – in July 2014, IASB issued a final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the 
financial instruments replacing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement and all other preceding versions IFRS 9. IFRS 
9 is effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018, earlier applications are permitted. The application of this standard 
will have negligible affect the classification and measurement of financial instruments. 

	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and represents a new model in five steps that 
relate to revenue that results from contracts with customers.   Th Standard replaces IAS 11 and IAS 18. Standard is effective for the annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2018, earlier applications are permitted. 

The Standard allows a modified transfer model which does not require retroactive modifications. The Management performs detailed 
analysis on its possible effects on the Company`s consolidated financial statements.

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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2.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

New and revised IFRSs issued by the IASB but not yet adopted by the EU

The following standards and amendments to the existing standards have not been adopted by the EU yet: 

	 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts – this standard relates to subjects that operate on regulated markets and are applying IFRS for 
the first time. IFRS 14 is effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The European Commission has decided not 
to implement this standard due to the fact that only small number of companies was within the scope of the standard.

	 IFRS 16 Leases – the standard brings a new comprehensive model of identification of arrangements which have leases and their 
accounting treatment on the side of lessor and lessee. The standard will replace IAS 17 and interpretations of IFRIC 4, SIC 15 and SIC 27. 
IFRS 16 is effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier applications are permitted, but this is conditioned 
with the application of IFRS 15 unless already adopted. This standard brings significant changes to the accounting model of the lessee. 
Consequently, assets and liabilities will be recognised in the financial statements of the lessee in most contract that were formerly 
recognised as operating lease. This will result in an increase of assets and liabilities. The Management Board plans detailed analysis in the 
coming periods to determine effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

	 Amendments to IFRS 2 – classification and measurement of share based payment transactions (issued in June 2016).

	 Amendments to IFRS 4 – Application of IFRS 9 Financial instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance agreements (issued in June 2016).

	 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (issued in 
September 2014).

	 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (issued in April 2016).

	 Amendments to IAS 7 –  part of its disclosure initiative (issued in January 2016)

	 Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (issued in January 2016).

	 Amendments to IAS 40 – Transfer of real estate investments (issued December 2016.)

	 Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle (issued December 2016). They include:

	 	 IFRS 1 First application of IFRS,

	 	 IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities,

	 	 IFRS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures

Amendments which relate to IFRS 12 are effective for periods starting 1 January 2017, while amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are 
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

	 IFRIC 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance considerations (issued December 2016).

Except where otherwise stated, the Company's management anticipates that the application of the above standards, amendments and 
interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application.

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. i ovisna društva
Bilješke uz konsolidirane financijske izvještaje (nastavak)
Za godinu koja je završila 31. prosinca 2016.

Zagrebački holding d.o.o. and its subsidiaries, Zagreb 23

3.	 3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)	 Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the EU. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Management Board on 31 March 2017 for issue to the General Assembly 
of Stakeholders.

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified in order to achieve consistency with the current financial year amounts 
and other disclosures.

b)	 Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and the entities controlled by it, 
i.e. its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company: 
	 	 has power over the investee;
	 	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
		  and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 
	 	 The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
		  that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control 
of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company 
ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even 
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the 
Group's accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for certain non-current 
assets, which are stated at revalued amounts, as disclosed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. The preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires from management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and revenues and expenses. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 3 x

c)	 Reporting currency 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in Croatian HRK. All amounts disclosed in these consolidated financial 

statements are presented in thousands of HRK unless stated otherwise. As at 31 December 2016, the official exchange rate of the 
Croatian HRK against 1 euro and 1 US dollar was HRK 7,557787 and HRK 7,168536 respectively (31 December 2015: HRK 7,635047 for 1 

EUR and HRK 6,991801 for 1 USD).

d) 	Intangible assets 

Computer software  
Software licences are capitalised based on the cost of purchase and bringing software into a working condition for its intended use. The 
cost is amortised over the useful life of an asset which is 5 years. 

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

d)  Intangible assets (continued)

Internally generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure 

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally-generated intangible 
asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following 
have been demonstrated:

	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
	 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development

	 and to use or sell the intangible asset; and 
	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

The amount initially recognised for an internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when 
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, 
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

 e) Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated 
balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position at cost, and land is carried at revalued amount being the fair value at the 
date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequently accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are 
performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using 
fair values at the end of each reporting period. Last revaluation was performed in 2015.

Any increase arising on the revaluation of such land is recognised in other comprehensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to 
the extent of the decrease previously recognised. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land is recognised 
in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation 
of that asset.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes or purposes not yet defined are carried at 
cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, which is provided on the same basis as for other properties, 
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

Freehold land is not depreciated. 

Installations and equipment are recognised initially at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Depreciation is provided so as to write down the cost or revalued amount of an asset over the estimated useful life of the asset using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, 
the term of the relevant lease. 

Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and recognised in profit or loss.
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2016 2015

Buildings 20-80  years 20-80  years

Vehicles 4-20  years 4-20  years

Plant and equipment 4-10  years 4-10  years

Office equipment 4-5  years 4-5  years
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f)	 Investment properties

Investment property represents property (land) held by the Group for increasing its market value or for lease. Investment property is 
measured initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

e) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method at the rates ranging from 1.25% to 25% annually, over the 
following useful lives, as follows:

Residual value is calculated on prices prevailing at the date of acquisition or revaluation.

Assets under construction comprise costs directly related to construction of tangible fixed assets plus an appropriate allocation of variable 
and fixed overheads that are incurred during construction. Assets under construction are depreciated once they are ready for use. Costs 
incurred in replacing major portions of the Group’s facilities, which increase their productive capacity or substantially extend their useful 
life, are capitalised. Maintenance, replacement or partial replacement costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

At each reporting date the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is an 
indication that the assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine 
the potential impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generated unit) is estimated to be less that its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately as an expense, unless 
the relevant asset is land or a building other than an investment property carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is credited immediately to income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f)	 Investment properties (continued)

When transferring from investment property to property used by the owner, the fair value at the date of transfer will be the cost for the 
purposes of IAS 16. For transfer of the property used by the owner to the investment property, IAS 16 will apply to the date of the change 
of its purpose when the difference between the carrying value determined in accordance with IAS 16 and its fair value, will be recognized 
as a revaluation reserve in accordance with IAS 16.

Investment properties are derecognised on sale or permanent withdrawal from use, as well as when no future economic benefits from 
their disposal are expected. Any gain or loss arising from de-recognition of an item of investment property, measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

During 2016 investment properties were re-measured at fair value on the basis of appraisals by a certified property appraisal expert, upon 
which the losses resulting from the change in the fair values were included in the statement of comprehensive income for the year 2016 
(Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements).

g)	 Non-current financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and financial assets available for sale.

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than financial assets designated at fair value through con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when a financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL. 

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: 

	 	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future, or 

	 	 it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages
		  together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or 

	 	 is a derivative not designated or effective as a hedging instrument. 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 

	 	 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or 

	 	 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance
		  is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy,
		  and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or 

	 	 it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
		  Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL. 
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g)	 Non-current financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognised in profit or loss. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other gains and losses' 
line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Held-to-maturity (HTM) investments

Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities dates that the Group has the positive intent 
and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method less any impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

Financial assets available for sale

Listed shares and listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are trade in an active market are classified as available for sale and 
stated at fair value. The Group also has investments in unlisted shares that are not traded in an active market but are classified as financial 
assets available for sale and carried at fair value because the management considers that their fair value can be determined reliably. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity within invest-
ment revaluation reserve, except for impairment losses, interest determined using the effective interest rate and exchange differences 
on monetary assets which are recognised in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the investments revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for the period.

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Company’s right to receive the dividends is established. 

Loans and receivables

Trade, loan and other receivables with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market are classified as loans 
and receivables and measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot 
rate at the reporting date. Exchange differences arisen on translation and recognised in profit or loss are determined on the basis of the 
amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
are assessed for indications of impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 

investment have been impacted.

For unlisted shares classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be 
objective evidence of impairment. 

For all other financial assets, including redeemable notes classified as AFS and finance lease receivables, objective evidence of impair-
ment could include:

	 	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty or 

	 	 default or delinquency in interest or principal payments or 

	 	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial restructuring. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

g)	 Non-current financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subse-
quently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the 
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

With the exception of AFS equity instruments, if, in subsequent periods, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is re-
versed through the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impair-

ment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any 
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in equity. 

Derecognition of financial assets  

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor re-
tains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

h)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and with banks. Cash equivalents comprise demand deposits and term deposits with maturities of up to 
three months.

i)	 Trade receivables and prepayments

Trade debtors and prepayments are shown at amounts invoiced in accordance with the underlying agreement, order, delivery note and 
other documents serving as the billing basis, net of allowance for uncollectible amounts.

The Management provides for bad and doubtful receivables past due beyond one year, and on the basis of the overall ageing structure of 
all receivables, as well as by reviewing individual significant amounts receivable

j)	 Inventories

Inventories comprise mainly spare parts, materials, work in progress and finished products and are carried at the lower of weighted aver-
age price, net of allowance for obsolete and excessive inventories, and net realisable value. Management provides for inventories based 
on a review of the overall ageing of all inventories and a specific review of significant individual items included in inventories. Inventories 
of work in progress and finished products are carried at the lower of production cost and the net selling price..

k)	 Foreign currencies

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date 
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

k)	 Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in the 
comprehensive statement of comprehensive income for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary 
items carried at fair value are included in the statement of comprehensive income, except for differences arising on the retranslation of 
non-monetary items available for sale in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, 
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity. 

l)	 Retirement, jubilee awards and solidarity support

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with 
actuarial valuations being carried out at each reporting date. Actual gains and losses are recognised in the period in which they arise. 

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested. Otherwise, it is amortised on a straight-line 
basis over certain period until the benefits become vested.

The Group provides one-off long-service benefits (jubilee awards), solidarity support (in case of death of the employee, the death of a close 
family of workers, disability, purchasing medical supplies, for the birth of the child, sick leave longer than 90 days, etc.), and retirement 
benefits to its employees. The obligation and the cost of these benefits are determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The Pro-
jected Unit Credit Method considers each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each 
unit separately to build up the final obligation. The retirement benefit obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash 
flows using a discount rate that is similar to the interest rate on government bonds where the currency and terms of the government 
bonds are consistent with the currency and estimated terms of the benefit obligation. 

m)	 Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from the net profit reported in the consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are not taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and inter-
ests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or a part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the 
asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The measurement of 
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the amount that the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, and the Group 
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

m)	 Income tax (continued)

Current and deferred taxes for the period 

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting of a business combination, in which case it is also recognised in equity. 

n)	 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable 
(i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the 
effect of discounting is material, the amount of the provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle 
the obligation, determined using the estimated risk free interest rate as the discount rate. Where discounting is used, the reversal of such 
discounting in each year is recognised as a financial expense and the carrying amount of the provision increases in each year to reflect 
the passage of time.

o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrow-
ings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in net profit or loss for the period in which they are incurred. 

Short-term borrowings and supplier credits are recognised at the original amount less balances repaid. Interest expense is charged to the 
consolidated Income statement for the period to which the interest relates.

p) Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 
instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs

Obligations under financial guarantee contracts 

Financial guarantee contract obligations are measured initially at their fair values and are subsequently measured at the higher of:

	 	 the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions,
		  Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and 

	 	 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
		  with the revenue recognition policies. 

Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through consolidated income statement or other financial liabilities.  

Financial liabilities at fair value through consolidated income statement

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through consolidated income statement where the financial liability is either held for trad-

ing or it is designated as at FVTPL. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

p) Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group (continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

	 	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future or 

	 	 it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages
		  together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or 

	 	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at fair value through consolidated income statement 
upon initial recognition if:

	 	 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise or 

	 	 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance
		  is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's documented risk management or investment strategy,
		  and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis or 

	 	 it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
		  Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through consolidated
		  statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
The net gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income statement incorporates interest paid on the financial liability. The fair value is 
determined as described in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements - Financial instruments. 

Other financial liabilities  

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. . 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recog-
nised on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income and inter-
est expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities  

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired

q)	 Operating segment reporting

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group identified its operating segments on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group 
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their per-
formance. Details of individual operating segments are disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group monitors and presents specifically the results of its major business segments. The business segments are the basis upon 
which the Group reports its primary segment information. Certain financial information, analysed by business and geographical segments, 
are presented in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

r)	 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities have not been recognised in these financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of re-
sources embodying economic benefits is remote. No contingent assets have been recognised in these consolidated financial statements. 
They are disclosed in the notes when the inflow of economic benefits becomes probable.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

s)	 Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting date that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post period-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when 
material

t)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that economic benefits associated with a transaction will flow into the Group and when the 
amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. Sales are recognised net of sales taxes and discounts. Revenue from rendering services 
is recognised by reference to the days worked.  Invoices are issued on the basis of authenticated documentary evidence of the ordering 
party of actual services performed by the last day in a month.

Revenue description:

	 	 Water supply service income comprises income from connections, water meter installation, as well as from permanent monthly
		  fees, increased by actual consumption based on the assessed consumption level, as adjusted at the end of the reporting period
		  to reflect the actual consumption based on the readings;

	 	 Public transport service revenue comprises income from the sale of tickets as per the public
		  transport price list for the City of Zagreb;

	 	 Revenue from waste removal and cleaning contain income from the provided waste removal and
		  cleaning services at rates determined in the applicable price list of the City of Zagreb;

	 	 Public road management and maintenance revenue is recognised to the extent of the
		  services and works delivered, in accordance with the underlying contracts with customers;

	 	 Income from the sale of flats is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of the ownership
		  are passed onto the buyer, together with the related costs of selling (constructing) the flats; 

	 	 Warehousing and operating lease income is recognised in accordance with IAS 17
		  on a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

i.	 Product and merchandise sales are recognised when the delivery is made and accepted by the customer and when the collectability 
of the receivables is virtually certain. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:
-	 the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
-	 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control 
over the goods sold
-	 the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably
-	 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and 
-	 the costs incurred or to be incurred on those transactions can be measured reliably.
ii.	 Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to completion of the specific 
transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

The stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows: 

	 	 fees for the laying of installations are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of installations,
		  which is determined as a period from the end of the reporting period relative to the total expected period of installation completion

	 	 servicing fees included in the cost of goods sold are recognised by based on the share of the total servicing cost of a product sold
		  by reference to the number of services performed of products sold in prior periods and

	 	 revenue from time and material contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours and direct expenses are incurred.
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t)	 Revenue recognition (continued)	

iii.	 Income from government grants comprises the following:

-	 grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, which are presented in the consolidated balance sheet / consoli-
dated statement of financial position as deferred income, and are recognised as revenue over the period necessary to match them with 
the related costs (depreciation);
-	 grants receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to 

the entity with no future related costs, which are recognised as income of the period in which it becomes receivable.
A government grant is not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it, 
and that the grant will be received.

The benefit of a government grant approved at an interest rate below the market rate is accounted for as a government grant and disclo-
sed as the difference between the funds received and the fair value of the loan on the basis of the prevailing market interest rates.
Grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire long-term assets are recognised in 
the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position as deferred income and transferred to profit or loss on a 
systematic and rational basis over the useful life of the asset.

Other government subsidies are recognised systematically as revenue through the number of periods necessary to match them with 
the related costs. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
become receivable.

iv.	 Interest income is recognised on a time basis so as to capture the actual yield on an asset.

v.	 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established.

u)	 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on the straight- line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incu-
rred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight- line 
basis over the lease term

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated balance sheet 
/ consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of inte-
rest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to 
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals 
are expensed in the period in which they arise.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

u)	 Leases (continued)	

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals are 
expensed in the period in which they arise.

Incentives received to enter into operating leases are recognised as liabilities. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a 
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed

v)	 Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks, 
including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and currency swaps 

Embedded derivatives  

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair 
value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is 
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of 
the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm 
commitments (fair value hedges), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments 
(cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a 
financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is 
more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets 
or current liabilities. 

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteri-
stics are not closely related to those of host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value through profit or loss. 
An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the hybrid instrument 
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as 
current assets or current liabilities

w)	Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 

x)	 Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on past experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. 

For the purpose of financial reporting, the Group measures part of its assets and liabilities at fair value
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

x)	 Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements (continued)

In estimating the fair value of assets and liabilities, the Group uses market data where available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, 
the Group engages third party qualified appraiser to perform the valuation. The Group works closely with the qualified external appraisers 
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The determination of the useful life of the assets is based on past experience involving similar assets, as well as on forecast changes in 
the economic environment and industry-specific factors. The useful life is reviewed annually or whenever there are indications of signi-
ficant changes in the underlying assumptions. We believe this accounting estimate is significant considering the considerable share of 
depreciable assets in the total assets. Therefore, any change in the underlying assumptions could be material for the Group's financial 
position and the results of its operations

Impairment of non-current assets 

Impairment is recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group whenever the net carrying amount of an asset or a 
cash-generating unit exceeds the higher of the assets i.e. cash-generating unit's recoverable amount or fair value less costs to sell.  Fair 
value less costs to sell is determined on the basis of observable inputs from identical selling transactions under normal market conditions 
involving similar assets or observable market prices less additional costs of disposal.

Value in use is measured using the discounted cash flow projections. The most significant variables in determining cash flows are discount 
rates, time values, the period of cash flow projections, as well as assumptions and judgements used in determining cash receipts and 
payments.

Availability of taxable profits against which the deferred tax assets could be recognised  

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. In determining the amo-
unt of deferred taxes that can be recognised significant judgements are required, which are based on the probable quantification of time 
and level of future taxable profits, together with the future tax planning strategy. In 2016, deferred tax assets on available tax differences 
were recognised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Actuarial estimates used in determining employee benefitsa

The cost of defined benefits is determined using actuarial estimates. Actuarial estimates involve assumptions about discount rates, future 
salary increases and the mortality or fluctuation rates. Because of the long-term nature of those plans, there is uncertainty surrounding 
those estimates. As at 31 December 2016 provisions for employee benefits amounted to HRK 179,128 thousand (as at 31 December 
2015 the total provisions amounted to HRK 216,011 thousand) (see Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements).Posljedice određenih 
sudskih sporova 

Consequences of certain legal actions

Parent and its subsidiaries are involved in legal actions which have arisen from the regular course of its operations. The management ma-
kes estimates when the probable outcome of a legal action has been assessed, and the provisions are recognised on a consistent basis 
(see Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements). 

Impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables are estimated at each consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position date (and monthly) and 
are impaired based on estimated probability of their collection.

Fair value measurement and valuation process

Some of the Group's assets are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

x)	 Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements (continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 
inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified appraisers to perform the valuation. The Group coordinates the evaluation 
process and works closely with the qualified external appraisers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. 
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4.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

SALES

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Croatian market 3.840.475 3.909.918

EU market 1.953 1.112

3.842.428 3.911.030

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group identified its operating segments on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group 
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their per-
formance. The Group identified its operating segments on the basis of reports regularly reviewed by the Management and used by it in 
making strategic decisions. Operating segments have been formed by the nature of the business of the branches managed by the Group 
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements), identifying nine activities as operating segments, whereas the twelfth segment 
includes all other activities of the Group. 

The operating segments comprise the following:

1.	 Water distribution

2.	 Passenger transport

3.	 Cleaning and waste removal

4.	 Public road management and maintenance

5.	 Parking services

6.	 Warehousing and rentals

7.	 Waste disposal and management

8.	 Facility management

9.	 Flat construction and sale

10.	Gas sale and distribution

11.	Pharmaceutical sales

12.	Other activities
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Other revenue comprises the following:

2016 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 Gas distribution and sale 1.049.625 1.249.700

 Passenger transport  484.169 516.389

 Water distribution revenue 418.135 430.115

 Cleaning and waste removal 369.332 423.373

 Public road maintenance and management 345.979 305.441

 Pharmaceutical sales 267.078 250.197

Parking services 116.312 107.505

 Income from construction and projects management 105.739 -

 Income from projects management 91.616 91.552

 Warehousing and rentals 76.266 72.398

 Waste disposal and management 25.450 25.571

 Other income 492.727 438.789

3.842.428 3.911.030

2016 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 Landscaping and plant growing 200.446 164.877

 Markets revenue 74.640 74.314

 Funeral services 55.839 59.172

 Trade fairs and congresses 48.380 39.939

 Bus station 42.465 43.013

 Travel agencies 29.230 28.642

 Lease of telecom cable and network systems 16.177 14.787

 Publishing 6.472 6.226

 Sports facility management and maintenance 2.090 -

 Other income 16.988 7.819

492.727 438.789

4.	 ISEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

SALES (CONTINUED)

Set out below is a breakdown of revenue and results of the Group by its reporting segments presented in accordance with 
IFRS 8. The presented sales comprise sales to third parties.

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

ZA
G

R
EB

A
Č

KI
 H

O
LD

IN
G

 d
.o

.o
. a

nd
 it

s 
su

bs
id

ia
rie

s
N

ot
es

 to
 th

e 
C

on
so

lid
at

ed
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
ts

 - 
co

nt
in

ue
d

Fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r e

nd
ed

 3
1 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

6

Za
gr

eb
ač

ki
 h

ol
di

ng
 d

.o
.o

. a
nd

 it
s 

su
bs

id
ia

rie
s,

 Z
ag

re
b

40

20
16

 s
eg

m
en

t 
re

ve
nu

e 
an

d 
re

su
lt

s

20
16

Fa
ci

lit
y 

m
ag

ag
em

en
t

W
at

te
r 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

Pa
ss

an
ge

r 
tr

an
sp

or
t

C
le

an
in

g 
an

d 
w

as
te

 
re

m
ov

al

Pu
bl

ic
 ro

ad
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t

Fl
at

 
co

ns
tr

ac
t. 

an
d 

sa
le

Pa
rk

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

w
ar

eh
ou

si
ng

 
an

d 
re

nt
al

W
as

te
 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
an

d 
re

m
ow

al

G
as

 
sa

le
 a

nd
 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

D
ru

gs
to

re
O

th
er

El
im

in
at

ed
To

ta
l

 (H
R

K
`0

00
) 

Re
ve

nu
e 

fr
om

 
th

ir
d 

pa
rt

ie
s 

91
.6

16
 

41
8.

13
6           

48
4.

16
9

  3
69

.3
32

 
   

   
34

5.
97

9
10

5.
73

9 
 1

16
.3

12
 

   
   

  7
6.

26
6 

25
.4

50
 1

.0
49

.6
25

 
   

26
7.0

78
 

51
4.

26
1

  (
21

.5
35

)
3.

84
2.

42
8

In
te

r-s
eg

m
en

t 
sa

le
s 

20
9.

20
8

4.
76

5
1.

94
7

22
.8

08
28

.1
63

1.
57

1
12

.6
70

2.
53

7
10

2.
36

1
16

0.
63

6
   

   
   

   
  -

   
12

.2
32

(5
58

.8
98

)
-

To
ta

l s
al

es
 

30
0.

82
4

   
  4

22
.9

01
 

48
6.

11
6

 3
92

.1
40

   
  3

74
.1

42
 

10
7.

31
0 

 1
28

.9
82

 
   

   
  7

8.
80

3 
12

7.
81

1
1.

21
0.

26
1 

   
 

26
7.

07
8 

52
6.

49
3 

(5
80

.4
33

)
3.

84
2.

42
8 

Ex
pe

ns
es

 
fr

om
 o

th
er

 
op

er
at

io
ns

, 
ne

t 
of

 o
th

er
 

or
di

na
ry

 
in

co
m

e

(2
36

.8
41

)
  (

42
0.

59
3)

(5
95

.3
98

)
(3

57
.7

85
)

   
(2

94
.7

76
)

(1
11

.5
87

)
 (9

8.
02

1)
(7

6.
31

3)
 

(1
02

.4
15

)
(1

.1
43

.2
25

)
(2

59
.1

43
)

 (5
10

.8
38

)
   

55
8.

17
0 

(3
.6

48
.7

65
)

Pr
ofi

t/
(lo

ss
) f

ro
m

 
op

er
at

io
ns

 
63

.9
83

2.
30

8 
 (1

09
.2

82
)

   
  3

4.
35

5 
   

   
79

.3
66

 
(4

.2
77

)
   

30
.9

61
 

   
 2

.4
90

 
   

 2
5.

39
6 

   
 6

7.
03

6 
7.

93
5

  1
5.

65
5

   
 (2

2.
26

3)
19

3.
66

3 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
in

co
m

e 
13

4.
68

7 
12

.9
44

 
14

.3
23

 
6.

06
5 

63
2 

83
.2

97
 

2.
57

1 
37

1 
 - 

   
   

 1
3.

84
7 

   
   

   
 

4.
46

4 
   

   
 

22
.3

07
 

   
 (5

8.
39

2)
   

23
7.1

16
 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
ex

pe
ns

es
 

 (1
96

.3
19

)
   

(1
4.

20
0)

(4
0.

30
6)

  (
1.

36
5)

   
  (

1.
43

6)
(1

9.
33

4)
  (

1.
20

9)
(8

9)
   

   
   

   
 -

   
   

 (4
8)

   
   

 (2
42

)
 (5

0.
70

0)
   

  4
.7

79
 

(3
20

.4
69

)

 N
et

 fi
na

nc
ia

l 
re

su
lt

 
 (6

1.
63

2)
   

  (
1.

25
6)

(2
5.

98
3)

   
4.

70
0 

   
   

  (
80

4)
   

 6
3.

96
3

   
  1

.3
62

 
28

2 
   

   
   

   
 - 

   
13

.7
99

 
   

   
 4

.2
22

 
(2

8.
39

3)
 (5

3.
61

3)
(8

3.
35

3)

G
ai

n 
/ 

(lo
ss

) 
be

fo
re

 
ta

xa
ti

on
 

2.
35

1
   

   
1.

05
2 

(1
35

.2
65

)
39

.0
55

 
   

  7
8.

56
2 

 5
9.

68
6 

 3
2.

32
3 

   
   

2.
77

2 
25

.3
96

 
   

   
  8

0.
83

5 
12

.1
57

             
(1

2.
73

8)
             

(7
5.

87
6)

   
11

0.
31

0 

In
co

m
e 

ta
x 

(e
xp

en
se

)
(1

3.
93

7)
 

   
   

 (9
78

)
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
   

   
-   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
   

   
   

 -   
   

   
   

   
   

 -   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -   

 (1
6.

16
7)

   
  

(1
.5

60
)

  (
2.

73
6)

   
   

   
   

  -
   

(3
5.

37
8)

N
et

 g
ai

n 
/ 

(lo
ss

) 
(1

1.
58

6)
   

   
   

   
74

 
(1

35
.2

65
)

 3
9.

05
5 

   
  7

8.
56

2 
 5

9.
68

6 
  3

2.
32

3 
   

2.
77

2 
   

 2
5.

39
6 

   
  6

4.
66

8 
   

  1
0.

59
7 

 (1
5.

47
4)

 (7
5.

87
6)

74
.9

32

4.
	S

EG
M

EN
T 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 (C

O
N

TI
N

U
ED

)

ANNUAL STATEMENT  2016ZAGREB HOLDING GROUP

108 109



20
16

Fa
ci

lit
y 

m
ag

ag
em

en
t

W
at

te
r 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

Pa
ss

an
ge

r 
tr

an
sp

or
t

C
le

an
in

g 
an

d 
w

as
te

 
re

m
ov

al

Pu
bl

ic
 ro

ad
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t

Fl
at

 
co

ns
tr

ac
t. 

an
d 

sa
le

Pa
rk

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

w
ar

eh
ou

si
ng

 
an

d 
re

nt
al

W
as

te
 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
an

d 
re

m
ow

al

G
as

 s
al

e 
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
io

n
D

ru
gs

to
re

O
th

er
El

im
in

at
ed

To
ta

l

 (H
R

K
`0

00
) 

Re
ve

nu
e 

fr
om

 th
ir

d 
pa

rt
ie

s 
91

.5
52

 
   

 4
30

.1
15

 
   

51
6.

38
9 

42
3.

37
3 

   
30

5.
44

1 
   

  -
 

  1
07

.5
05

 
   

   
  7

2.
39

8 
   

  2
5.

57
2 

   
1.

24
9.

70
0 

25
0.

19
7 

46
6.

95
4

(2
8.

16
6)

3.
91

1.
03

0

In
te

r-s
eg

m
en

t s
al

es
 

20
6.

77
3

7.3
37

1.
77

4
16

.0
63

22
.3

78
2.

70
3

10
.6

72
2.

26
8

10
0.

39
6

21
4.

65
6

-   
10

.9
70

(5
95

.9
90

)
-

To
ta

l s
al

es
 

29
8.

32
5 

   
 4

37
.4

52
 

 5
18

.1
63

 
43

9.
43

6 
   

 3
27

.8
19

 
   

  2
.7

03
 

   
11

8.
17

7 
   

   
  7

4.
66

6 
  1

25
.9

68
 

   
 1

.4
64

.3
56

 
  2

50
.1

97
 

47
7.

92
4

(6
24

.1
56

)
3.

91
1.

03
0

Ex
pe

ns
es

 fr
om

 o
th

er
 

op
er

at
io

ns
, n

et
 o

f 
ot

he
r 

or
di

na
ry

 in
co

m
e

(3
12

.2
75

)
(4

31
.8

51
)

(6
21

.5
72

)
(3

76
.6

66
)

 (2
93

.8
89

)
(1

8.
46

6)
(1

05
.6

48
)

   
   

  3
8.

86
8 

(7
1.

40
9)

(1
.3

59
.5

05
)

(2
52

.1
72

)
(4

82
.6

53
)

  5
93

.5
05

 
(3

.6
93

.7
33

)

Pr
ofi

t/
(lo

ss
) f

ro
m

 
op

er
at

io
ns

 
   

(1
3.

95
0)

   
   

   
 5

.6
01

 
 (1

03
.4

09
)

   
  6

2.
77

0 
   

   
33

.9
30

 
(1

5.
76

3)
   

 1
2.

52
9 

   
 1

13
.5

34
 

   
 5

4.
55

9 
   

 1
04

.8
51

 
   

 (1
.9

75
)

(4
.7

29
)

   
 (3

0.
65

1)
   

  2
17

.2
97

 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l i
nc

om
e 

18
0.

73
4 

   
  1

4.
07

7 
   

8.
17

6 
   

7.2
92

 
   

   
   

41
5 

   
1.

36
0 

   
   

 1
.9

39
 

   
   

 6
17

 
   

   
   

   
  6

 
   

   
14

.9
06

 
   

 5
.2

35
 

  2
6.

40
3 

  (
36

.2
97

)
  2

24
.8

63
 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l e
xp

en
se

s 
 (1

55
.1

69
)

   
(1

7.4
82

)
(5

0.
99

3)
 (1

.8
63

)
   

  (
2.

57
5)

(2
0.

48
3)

  (
1.

52
5)

   
   

   
   

(1
90

)
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

 (1
90

)
   

  (
14

7)
(5

6.
34

1)
   

   
8.

09
5 

(2
98

.8
63

)

 N
et

 fi
na

nc
ia

l r
es

ul
t 

25
.5

65
   

  (
3.

40
5)

(4
2.

81
7)

   
5.

42
9 

   
  (

2.
16

0)
(1

9.
12

3)
   

   
 4

14
 

   
42

7 
   

   
  6

 
   

   
 1

4.
71

6 
   

5.
08

8 
(2

9.
93

8)
(2

8.
20

2)
(7

4.
00

0)

G
ai

n 
/ 

(lo
ss

) b
ef

or
e 

ta
xa

ti
on

 
11

.6
15

   
   

 2
.1

96
 

(1
46

.2
26

)
  6

8.
19

9 
   

  3
1.

77
0 

(3
4.

88
6)

 
  1

2.
94

3 
   

   
11

3.
96

1 
   

 5
4.

56
5 

   
   

  1
19

.5
67

 
3.

11
3 

(3
4.

66
7)

(5
8.

85
3)

  1
43

.2
97

 

In
co

m
e 

ta
x 

(e
xp

en
se

)
6.

41
2 

   
  (

2.
15

8)
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
 -   

  -
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
   

   
-   

   
(2

3.
85

6)
   

   
(7

47
)

(1
.9

57
)

   
   

   
   

   
-   

(2
2.

30
6)

N
et

 g
ai

n 
/ 

(lo
ss

) 
   

  1
8.

02
7

   
   

   
   

38
 

(1
46

.2
26

)
 6

8.
19

9 
   

  3
1.

77
0 

(3
4.

88
6)

 
  1

2.
94

3 
   

   
11

3.
96

1 
   

 5
4.

56
5 

   
   

 9
5.

71
1 

2.
36

6 
(3

6.
62

4)
  (

58
.8

53
)

 1
20

.9
91

ZA
G

R
EB

A
Č

KI
 H

O
LD

IN
G

 d
.o

.o
. a

nd
 it

s 
su

bs
id

ia
rie

s
N

ot
es

 to
 th

e 
C

on
so

lid
at

ed
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
ts

 - 
co

nt
in

ue
d

Fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r e

nd
ed

 3
1 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

6

Za
gr

eb
ač

ki
 h

ol
di

ng
 d

.o
.o

. a
nd

 it
s 

su
bs

id
ia

rie
s,

 Z
ag

re
b

41

20
15

 s
eg

m
en

t 
re

ve
nu

e 
an

d 
re

su
lt

s
4.

	S
EG

M
EN

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

 (C
O

N
TI

N
U

ED
)

20
16

Fa
ci

lit
y 

m
ag

ag
em

en
t

W
at

te
r 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

Pa
ss

an
ge

r 
tr

an
sp

or
t

C
le

an
in

g 
an

d 
w

as
te

 
re

m
ov

al

Pu
bl

ic
 ro

ad
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t

Fl
at

 
co

ns
tr

ac
t. 

an
d 

sa
le

Pa
rk

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

w
ar

eh
ou

si
ng

an
d 

re
nt

al

W
as

te
 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
an

d 
re

m
ow

al

G
as

 s
al

e 
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
io

n
D

ru
gs

to
re

O
th

er
El

im
in

at
ed

To
ta

l

 (H
R

K
`0

00
) 

Pr
op

er
ty

, p
la

nt
 a

nd
 

eq
ui

pm
en

t
67

5.
65

8        
4.

20
9.

37
9     

2.
63

7.7
33

     
23

8.
18

4
14

9.
34

1        
39

        
11

3.
36

0        
31

0.
06

1        
 5

2.
26

4         
1.

04
0.

74
4     

37
.4

14
          

3.
41

4.
30

7
31

3.
48

6        
13

.1
91

.9
70

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 
55

3            
3.

69
0            

8.
80

0
1.

63
2

28
                 

-               
-                   

60
2               

17
                 

5.
48

4            
78

5               
1.

23
7

   
   

   
   

  -
    

22
.8

28

In
ve

st
m

en
t p

ro
pe

rt
y 

73
3.

33
9        

   
   

   
   

   
 -    

   
   

   
   

   
 -    

    
    

    
    

    
 -    

   
   

   
   

   
  -

    
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
   

   
   

  -    
1.

08
4.

61
8     

   
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
   

   
  -

    
50

7.5
47

(3
70

.0
78

)
1.

95
5.

42
6

In
ve

nt
or

ie
s 

25
                 

17
.2

74
          

45
.2

08
7.8

50
38

.3
39

12
.4

64
18

0
86

7
   

   
   

 -    
7.7

18
            

26
.6

54
18

4.
89

5
   

   
   

   
-    

34
1.

47
4

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s,
 

ne
t 

16
.1

94
            

53
8.

44
4        

66
.7

04
43

.8
84

3.
68

6
1.

49
9

10
.9

94
8.

66
3

3.
12

1
24

7.5
15

63
.9

22
39

.1
79

   
   

   
   

  -
    

1.
04

3.
80

5

U
na

llo
ca

te
d 

7.5
68

.9
20

     
33

.2
76

          
19

6.
38

6
31

5.
32

1
33

9.
80

0
90

5.
20

9
26

4.
66

0
3.

65
3

66
5.

72
4

28
6.

41
0

11
8.

09
1

1.
73

1.
17

7
(8

.9
25

.8
37

)
3.

50
2.

79
0

To
ta

l a
ss

et
s 

8.
99

4.
68

9
4.

80
2.

06
3

2.
95

4.
83

1
60

6.
87

1
53

1.
19

4
91

9.
21

1
38

9.
19

4
1.

40
8.

46
4

72
1.

12
6

1.
58

7.
87

1
24

6.
86

6
5.

87
8.

34
2

(8
.9

82
.4

29
)

20
.0

58
.2

93

Is
su

ed
 b

on
ds

 
1.

80
0.

00
0     

-
-

-
  -

    
-    

-    
   

   
   

   
   

  -
    

-    
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
-    

   
   

   
   

   
-    

   
(1

62
.3

39
)    

1.
63

7.
66

1     

Tr
ad

e 
pa

ya
bl

es
 

12
.8

99
          

17
6.

04
9

 5
0.

33
1    

17
.8

63
50

.7
95

2.
71

4
3.

19
2

2.
88

0
17

.8
69

17
2.

83
7

13
.0

38
77

.3
46

   
   

   
   

  -
    

59
7.

81
3

A
m

ou
nt

s 
du

e 
to

 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

3.
41

5            
7.0

96
29

.7
83

10
.8

11
3.

40
0

22
6

2.
81

4
1.

65
4

28
7

5.
43

0
3.

78
4

11
.1

16
   

   
   

   
  -

  
79

.8
16

Eq
ui

ty
 a

nd
 

un
al

lo
ca

te
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
7.1

78
.3

75
     

4.
61

8.
91

8
2.

87
4.

71
7

57
8.

19
7

47
6.

99
9

91
6.

27
1

38
3.

18
8

1.
40

3.
93

0
70

2.
97

0
1.

40
9.

60
4

23
0.

04
4

5.
78

9.
88

0
17

.7
43

.0
03

To
ta

l e
qu

it
y 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
8.

99
4.

68
9 

4.
80

2.
06

3
2.

95
4.

83
1

60
6.

87
1

53
1.

19
4

91
9.

21
1

38
9.

19
4

1.
40

8.
46

4
72

1.
12

6
1.

58
7.

87
1

24
6.

86
6

5.
87

8.
34

2
(8

.9
82

.4
29

)
20

.0
58

.2
93

31
/1

2/
20

16
 O

th
er

 s
eg

m
en

t 

C
ap

it
al

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

: 
1.

00
7            

14
0.

45
8        

10
.7

51
4.

59
8

17
.5

97
            

2
2.

62
0

4.
95

7
1.

22
5

50
.0

82
4.

32
2

13
.3

68
   

   
   

   
   

  -
    

25
0.

98
7

Ta
ng

ib
le

 a
ss

et
s

98
7            

14
0.

45
8        

9.
25

5          
3.

61
8

17
.5

97
2

2.
62

0
4.

85
7

1.
22

5
48

.6
53

3.
81

0
13

.0
19

   
   

   
   

   
 -    

24
6.

10
1

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 
20

               
 -    

1.
49

6            
98

0
   

   
   

   
   

  -
    

-
   

   
   

   
   

  -    
10

0
   

   
   

   
   

  -    
1.

42
9

51
2

34
9

   
   

   
   

   
 -    

4.
88

6

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
an

d 
im

pa
ir

m
en

t 
4.

53
1

17
3.

42
2        

16
5.

60
4        

16
.1

96
13

.3
46

34
7.3

98
3.

12
8

4.
49

1
11

8.
08

5
2.

32
6

38
.5

87
99

2
54

8.
14

0

S
eg

m
en

t 
as

se
ts

 a
nd

 li
ab

ili
ti

es
 a

t 
31

 D
ec

em
be

r 
20

16
4.

	S
EG

M
EN

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

 (C
O

N
TI

N
U

ED
)

ANNUAL STATEMENT  2016ZAGREB HOLDING GROUP

110 111



A
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
as

 a
t 

 
31

 D
ec

 2
01

5 
Fa

ci
lit

y 
m

ag
ag

em
en

t
W

at
te

r 
di

st
rib

ut
io

n
Pa

ss
an

ge
r 

tr
an

sp
or

t

C
le

an
in

g 
an

d 
w

as
te

 
re

m
ov

al

Pu
bl

ic
 ro

ad
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t

Fl
at

 
co

ns
tr

ac
t. 

an
d 

sa
le

Pa
rk

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

w
ar

eh
ou

si
ng

 
an

d 
re

nt
al

W
as

te
 

co
lle

ct
io

n 
an

d 
re

m
ow

al

G
as

 
sa

le
 a

nd
 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

D
ru

gs
to

re
O

th
er

El
im

in
at

ed
To

ta
l

(H
R

K
`0

00
)

Pr
op

er
ty

, p
la

nt
 a

nd
 

eq
ui

pm
en

t
   

   
  7

06
.8

13
 

   
  

4.
25

2.
74

7 
   

  
2.

78
9.

99
8 

   
   

  
25

0.
64

1 
   

   
  

14
8.

61
1 

   
   

  
29

7.0
30

 
   

   
  

11
8.

13
7 

   
   

  3
10

.2
88

 
   

   
   

 
55

.5
30

 
   

  
1.

10
8.

65
2 

   
   

   
 

35
.7

31
 

3.
43

8.
38

1
   

 3
36

.1
53

 
13

.8
48

.7
12

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 
   

   
   

   
1.

59
6 

   
   

   
   

8.
59

6 
   

   
   

 
11

.3
98

 
   

   
   

   
1.

21
3 

   
   

   
   

   
  21
 

   
   

   
   

   
80

7 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 1 

   
   

   
   

   
62

7 
   

   
   

   
   

  17
 

   
   

   
   

5.
40

2 
   

   
   

   
   

48
6 

1.
67

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
31

.8
39

In
ve

st
m

en
t p

ro
pe

rt
y 

   
   

  7
15

.2
98

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   -    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   -    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    -    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   -    
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
   

   
   

  -    
   

  1
.0

84
.2

06
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -    

   
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
50

5.
31

1
   

   
 

(3
46

.5
17

)
1.

95
8.

29
8

In
ve

nt
or

ie
s 

   
  3

4 
   

15
.5

88
 

 4
0.

41
6 

   
 8

.5
44

 
40

.7
44

 
13

.4
53

 
  2

89
 

   
   

   
88

3 
   

   
   

   
-    

7.6
93

 
21

.5
66

 
15

2.
58

6
   

   
   

   
  -

    
30

1.
79

6

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s,
 

ne
t 

   
   

   
   

2.
65

0 
   

   
  

52
7.5

17
 

   
   

   
 

29
.8

11
 

   
   

   
 

48
.4

18
 

   
   

   
   

4.
77

9 
   

   
   

   
   

  90
 

   
   

   
 

14
.0

71
 

   
   

   
   

6.
95

5 
   

   
   

   
2.

47
0 

   
   

  
24

8.
61

4 
   

   
   

 
49

.1
65

 
52

.6
30

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -    

98
7.

17
0

U
na

llo
ca

te
d 

   
  6

.4
41

.3
75

 
   

   
   

 
59

.6
93

 
   

   
  

35
7.0

63
 

   
   

  
24

3.
36

5 
   

   
  

24
5.

56
1 

   
   

  
14

9.
68

7 
   

   
  

23
6.

51
0 

   
   

   
   

4.
13

8 
   

   
  

60
6.

81
7 

   
   

  
30

2.
34

7 
   

   
  

12
3.

26
9 

3.
32

5.
88

2
   

 
(8

.6
87

.1
83

)
3.

40
8.

52
4

To
ta

l a
ss

et
s 

 7
.8

67
.7

66
 

  4
.8

64
.1

41
 

 3
.2

28
.6

86
 

55
2.

18
1 

 4
39

.7
16

  
46

1.
06

7  
  3

69
.0

08
  

1.
40

7.
09

7  
   

66
4.

83
4  

 1
.6

72
.7

08
  

 2
30

.2
17

  
 7

.4
76

.4
65

  
(8

.6
97

.5
47

)    
20

.5
36

.3
39

  

Is
su

ed
 b

on
ds

 
 2

.2
90

.5
14

 
   

   
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
   

   
   

-    
   

   
   

   
  -

    
   

   
   

-    
   

   
  -

    
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
-    

   
   

   
   

-    
   

   
   

   
-    

   
   

   
 -    

   
   

   
   

 -    
   

   
   

   
  -

    
  2

.2
90

.5
14

 

Tr
ad

e 
pa

ya
bl

es
 

10
.9

92
 

15
3.

74
9 

45
.7

33
 

13
.0

99
 

28
.3

33
 

6.
32

0 
3.

30
4 

2.
01

3 
4.

48
1 

18
0.

77
5 

12
.6

21
 

37
.9

26
   

   
  -

    
49

9.
34

6

A
m

ou
nt

s 
du

e 
to

 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

1.
65

7 
7.3

78
 

29
.7

66
 

9.
07

5 
3.

81
8 

  1
61

 
 2

.8
56

 
1.

74
0 

   
 2

62
 

4.
01

9 
3.

48
2 

13
.2

66
   

 -    
77

.4
80

Eq
ui

ty
 a

nd
 

un
al

lo
ca

te
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
5.

56
4.

60
3 

4.
70

3.
01

4 
3.

15
3.

18
7 

 5
30

.0
07

 
40

7.5
65

 
45

4.
58

6 
36

2.
84

8 
1.

40
3.

34
4 

66
0.

09
1 

1.
48

7.9
14

 
21

4.
11

4 
7.4

25
.2

73
(8

.6
97

.5
47

)
17

.6
68

.9
99

To
ta

l e
qu

it
y 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
 7

.8
67

.7
66

 
  4

.8
64

.1
41

 
3.

22
8.

68
6 

 5
52

.1
81

 
43

9.
71

6 
46

1.
06

7 
36

9.
00

8 
  1

.4
07

.0
97

 
  6

64
.8

34
 

1.
67

2.
70

8 
 2

30
.2

17
 

7.
47

6.
46

5 
(8

.6
97

.5
47

)
20

.5
36

.3
39

 

31
 D

ec
 2

01
5 

re
st

at
ed

 0
th

er
 s

eg
m

en
t 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

C
ap

it
al

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

: 
  5

.4
35

 
11

5.
91

2 
30

.7
37

 
 1

5.
93

3 
 2

.3
64

 
44

.5
93

 
  1

.3
17

 
   

   
2.

32
2 

   
3.

26
1 

 4
1.

27
3 

  1
.2

61
 

   
10

.4
81

 
   

   
   

   
  -

    
   

 2
74

.8
89

 

Ta
ng

ib
le

 a
ss

et
s

5.
31

0 
11

5.
91

2 
29

.4
41

 
15

.8
84

 
 2

.3
64

 
43

.7
85

 
1.

31
7 

2.
13

4 
3.

26
1 

40
.0

14
 

1.
23

9 
10

.2
82

 
   

   
   

 -    
27

0.
94

3 

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 
   

   
 1

25
 

 -    
  1

.2
96

 
   

   
  4

9 
-    

80
8 

-    
   

18
8 

-    
1.

25
9 

22
 

19
9 

-    
3.

94
6 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
an

d 
im

pa
ir

m
en

t
8.

81
5 

16
2.

60
7 

16
8.

61
1 

15
.2

86
 

13
.7

05
 

   
  7

.2
38

 
3.

32
6 

10
.3

60
 

12
1.

12
9 

2.
55

7 
34

.5
71

 
 -    

54
8.

20
5 

S
eg

m
en

t 
as

se
ts

 a
nd

 li
ab

ili
ti

es
 a

t 
31

 D
ec

em
be

r 
20

15
4.

	S
EG

M
EN

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

 (C
O

N
TI

N
U

ED
)

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
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5.	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

SALES

Income from grants and subsidies represents principally the revenue from the City of Zagreb, comprising the following:

	 	 financial support from the City Budget for purposes approved by the Assembly 

	 	 financial support for the repayment of loans (principal, interest, fees).

Income from reversal of deferred income  is recognised in accordance with IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure 
of Government Assistance over the period of utilisation and is systematically matched against the related costs (depreciation) - see Note 
3(t) to the consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised gains from change in fair value of property  are recognized for the property whose fair value increased in 2016 based on the 
estimate made by court appointed expert. At the same time unrealised loss in the amount of HRK 27,867 thousand (2015: HRK 180,346 
thousand) were recognized for those property whose fair value decreased. The net effect from the movement in fair value of investment 
property resulted with the HRK 4.948 thousand of unrealized loss (2015: HRK 10,913 thousand of unrealised gains) (see Note 17 to the 
consolidated financial statements). (see note 17 with consolidate report).

2016  2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Grant and subsidy income 597.196 582.113

Reversal of deferred income 233.349 241.149

Recovery of amounts previously written off 130.259 136.643

Income from reversal of provisions 113.477 52.654

Unrealised gains from change in fair value of investment property 22.919 191.259

Damages collected 16.057 9.266

Income from sale of non-current assets, surpluses and upon revaluation 3.400 3.233

Other operating income 86.021 81.421

1.202.678 1.297.738

2016 2015

City of Zagreb Others Total City of Zagreb Others Total

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000)

ZET 502.736 - 502.736 515.076 17.592 532.668

Others 72.665 21.795 94.460 42.964 6.481 49.445

575.401 21.795 597.196 558.040 24.073 582.113
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5.	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME (CONTINUED)
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Income from reversal of provisions  relates mainly to the following:

Income from collection of damages, liquidated damages and other income  comprise principally the following:

Income from collection of damages and liquidated damages comprises principally on the subsidiary ZET in the amount of HRK 3,426 tho-
usand (2015: HRK  2,715 thousand) for collection of damages from insurance companies and on the subsidiary VIO d.o.o. in the amount 
of HRK 4,337 for liquidating damages on subcontractors who failed to meet the deadlines on time.

Other operating incomes comprise internal sales, surplus and other unspecified income.

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

a) Employee benefit provisions 37.203 6.005

b) Litigation provisions, as per the attorney's assessment 39.283 12.294

c) Accrued vacation and other benefits 36.991 34.355

113.477 52.654

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Collected damages and liquidated damages 10.377 5.982

Other income (debt write-off, approved discounts and similar) 5.680 3.284

16.057 9.266

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
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6.	 COST OF MATERIALS AND SERVICES

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Cost of raw material and supplies 242.299 222.428

Energy costs 219.723 225.183

Expensed small items 22.184 15.666

a) Total material costs 484.206 463.277

b) Changes in the value of inventories of work in progress and 
finished products (7.806) (1.168)

c) Cost of goods sold 996.233 1.146.151

Subcontractor service costs 185.280 52.891

Maintenance 160.037 167.244

Municipal utility fees and charges 106.227 97.868

Rental and lease costs 62.475 39.151

Transportation costs 45.353 42.954

Intellectual services 42.846 26.059

Data processing and software maintenance services 37.915 37.337

Insurance premiums 28.709 30.551

Bank and payment operation charges 12.018 11.662

Advertising and promotion 4.489 2.446

Other external services 115.552 109.592

d) Total external services 800.901 617.755

2.273.534 2.226.015

In 2016 the audit expenses amount HRK 689 thousand HRK (2015: HRK 1,145 thousand) and are stated within the expense of intellectual 
services as well as indirect costs connected to early repurchase of 48.77% of  euro bonds from July  2016.

In line with the Lease Agreement closed on 14 June 2007 with company Lanište d.o.o., the Group included in the cost of rent in 2016 
the indexing expense of leasing facility  Arena Zagreb (for the period from 2007 to 2016) in the amount of HRK 28,558 thousand. Namely, 
pursuant to the aforementioned Agreement, it was determined that the Group is allowed to voluntarily breach it and purchase the object 
at the price set in the Agreement. Since this issue has not been implemented, the rent for 2016 includes indexation for all previous seven 
years, together with the rent for the 8th year of the lease.

At the same time, on the base of indexation, the Group also classified the income from the City of Zagreb and the Croatian Government 
that are obliged to reimburse the indexation effects on the basic rent in the amount of 50%.
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7.	 STAFF COSTS

8.	 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

9.	 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 

Costs reimbursed to employees and other employee benefits comprise benefits regulated by the Collective Agreement, such as commu-
tation allowance to the extent of the public transport costs, gifts and bonuses (long-service benefits, Christmas and Easter allowances, 
vacation allowance, and similar), education and advanced training costs and similar. 

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Net wages and salaries 888.700 841.436

Taxes and contributions 599.691 557.212

Reimbursement of costs to employees and other employee benefits 120.960 113.913

1.609.351 1.512.561

Number of staff as at 31 December 10.394 10.646

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Depreciation (Note 16) 535.023 534.938

Amortisation (Note 15) 13.117 13.267

548.140 548.205

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Impairment allowance on current assets 138.558 257.315

Loss from investments into property 27.867 180.346

Impairment allowance on non-current assets 858 23.658

167.283 461.319

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
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10.	 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

11.	 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Litigation provisions 48.850 48.613

Provisions for disposal of bulky waste 6.287 10.848

Provisions under IAS 19 Employee Benefits 5.297 49.728

Provisions for the restoration of natural resources                   7.255 2.488

Provisions for expenses in the guarantee period  2.738 -

Other provisions 37.571 29.940

107.998 141.617

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Administrative fees and court costs 22.419 21.175

Taxes and contributions independent of operating results 6.426 6.182

Professional organisation membership fees 5.657 5.753

Entertainment 1.779 1.407

Cultural monument fees and environmental protection costs 1.123 969

Professional literature 1.052 903

Fees to Supervisory Board members 1.029 973

Other expenses 2.613 603

Fines, penalties, damages 63.634 30.704

Net book value of assets sold or otherwise disposed of 2.463 2.262

Written-off receivables 2.563 1.678

Grants, donations and sponsorships 3.250 3.356

Other operating expenses 31.129 25.789

145.137 101.754

Other provisions for the year 2016 also include provisions on the base of the difference between incentive and reference price of delivered 
electricity kwhs to company Hrvatski operator tržišta energije d.o.o. by the Company`s branch  ZGOS, due to non-realization of legally 
required 50% efficiency in terms of appropriately using the incentive price. 

Damages relate principally to ZGOS Branch in respect of environmental protection fee payable at a rate of HRK 65 per ton of disposed 
municipal waste on the Jakuševac Landfill and compensation paid for reduced quality of life in the area of Prudinec/Jakuševec, the area 
under the impact of the construction intended for waste disposal, in line with the Decision of the Assembly of the City of Zagreb dated 
5 June 2014
Other operating expenses comprise deficits, cost of inventories sold, subsequently identified costs and expenses not specified above.
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12.	FINANCIAL INCOME 

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Interest income 149.058 159.445

Foreign exchange gains 69.524 43.981

Other financial income 18.534 21.437

237.116 224.863

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Financial income - unrelated entities 112.287 83.930

Financial income - related entities 119.244 134.362

Other financial income 5.585 6.571

237.116 224.863

The net exchange gains for 2016 amount to HRK 39,599 thousand (2015: HRK 12,594 thousand).

Other financial income comprises mainly income from discounting of receivables and payables and other financial income.

Financial income comprises the following:

Zagrebački holding d.o.o. and its subsidiaries, Zagreb 49

In June 2016, the Group made early repurchase of 48.77% of Euro bonds by issuing new bonds having the nominal value of HRK 
1,800,000 thousand with 3.875% coupon.

Other financial expense mostly refers to the discount from the sale of receivables. 

13.	FINANCIAL EXPENSES

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Financial expense - unrelated entities 279.785 292.055

Financial expense - related entities 492 -

Other financial expenses 40.192 6.808

320.469 298.863

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Interest expense 249.542 260.925

Foreign exchange losses 29.925 31.027

Expenses from early repurchase of bonds 27.620 -

Discounted issued bonds 5.228 -

Other 8.154 6.911

320.469 298.863

Financial expenses comprise the following:

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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The Group is not subject to taxation, but entities forming the Group are. Corporate income tax is determined by applying the rate of 20% 
to the taxable income. As at 1 January 2017, due to legislative changes, the rate applied will be 18%. 

Tax expense recognised in profit or loss

14.	CORPORATE INCOME TAX

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Income tax expense comprises the following: 

Current tax 28.173 (30.371)

Deferred tax expense on the origination and reversal of temporary  
differences 7.205 8.065

Total tax (income)/expense 35.378 22.306

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Profit before taxation 110.310 143.296

Income tax at the rate of 20% (2015: 20%) 22.062 28.659

Effect of permanent differences, net 14.381 (14.418)

Effect of unrecognised and unused tax losses brought forward (8.270) -

Effect of reversal of temporary differences previously recognized as 
deferred tax assets 7.205 -

Effect of temporary differences recognised as deferred tax assets - 8.065

Tax expense recognised in profit or loss 35.378 22.306

The relationship between the accounting profit and tax expense for the year

Decrease of the corporate income tax rate from 20% to 18% (applicable since 1 January 2017) had an effect on the decrease in deferred 
tax liability due to a necessity to impair the deferred tax in line with the tax rate to be applied in the period when deferred tax liability will 
occur. 
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Deferred taxes - deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

2016  Opening 
balance 

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

 Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 

 Recognised 
directly in 

equity 

 Closing 
balance 

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Temporary differences

 Provisions 43.334 1.375 (7.205) - 37.504

 Value adjustment of 
inventory 12 - - - 12

 Value adjustment of land 45 - - - 45

 Revaluation of land 670.987 - (4.465) - 666.522

 Property, plant and 
equipment 229 - 8.919 9.148

 Revaluation of financial 
assets 2.313 936 - - 3.249

 Deferred income 3.614 - - - 3.614

 Effects of changes in 
corporate income tax 
rate 

- (365) (67.388) (67.753)

 Unused tax losses and tax credits 

 Tax losses 185 - - - 185

 Deferred tax assets 43.576 1.375 (7.205) - 37.746

 Deferred tax liabilities 677.143 571 (62.934) - 614.780

14.	CORPORATE INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
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Deferred taxes - deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (continued)

2015 Opening 
balance 

 Recognised 
in profit or 

loss 

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 

Recognised 
directly in 

equity 

 Closing 
balance 

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000)

 Temporary differences 

 Provisions 35.269 8.065 - - 43.334

 Receivables stated at fair 
value 12 - - - 12

 Value adjustment of 
inventory 45 - - - 45

 Value adjustment of land

 Revaluation of land 648.941 - 22.046 - 670.987

 Property, plant and 
equipment 259 - - (30) 229

 Revaluation of financial 
assets 2.224 - 89 - 2.313

 Deferred income 3.614 - - - 3.614

Unused tax losses and tax credits 

Tax losses 185 - - - 185

 Deferred tax assets 35.511 8.065 - - 43.576

 Deferred tax liabilities 655.038 - 22.135 (30) 677.143
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14.	CORPORATE INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

53

The structure of intangible assets is as follows:

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Cost or valuation 210.503 212.465

Accumulated amortisation (187.675) (180.626)

22.828 31.839

31.12.2016. 31.12.2015.

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Patents, concessions and similar rights 13.745 17.393

Intangible assets under development 5.382 6.178

Other intangible assets 3.701 8.268

22.828 31.839   

15.	INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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15.	INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
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Patents, 
licences ans 
other rights 

Other 
intangible 

assets

Intangible 
assets under 

developmenti

Total intangible 
assets

(HRK`000)

NABAVNA VRIJEDNOST

Balance as at 31 Dec 2014 88.261 114.081 10.827 213.169

Additions 915 188 2.843 3.946

Transfer from assets under development 1.397 336 (1.589) 144

Retirement, disposal, sale (3.804) (3) (988) (4.795)

Balance as at 31 Dec 2015 86.769 114.602 11.093 212.464

Additions 2.398 469 2.019 4.886

Transfer to non-current receivables IFRIC 12 - - (5.724) (5.724)

Transfer from assets under development 2.322 75 (1.869) 528

Reclassification (transfers from / to) - - (137) (137)

Retirement, disposal, sale (1.511) (3) - (1.514)

Balance as at 31 Dec 2016 89.978 115.143 5.382 210.503

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 

Balance as at 31 Dec 2014 65.146 100.838 4.917 170.901

Amortisation 8.016 5.499 - 13.515

Retirement, disposal, sale (3.789) (2) - (3.791)

Balance as at 31 Dec 2015 69.373 106.335 4.917 180.625

Amortisation 8.007 5.110 - 13.117

Retirement, disposal, sale (1.147) (3) - (1.150)

Reversal of impairment - - (4.917) (4.917)

Balance as at 31 Dec 2016 76.233 111.442 - 187.675

CARRYING AMOUNT

Balance as at 31 Dec 2014 23.115 13.243 5.910 42.268

Balance as at 31 Dec 2015 17.396 8.267 6.176 31.839

Balance as at 31 Dec 2016 13.745 3.701 5.382 22.828
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Structure of property, plant and equipment:

Movements in prepayments:

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Cost or valuation  22.295.425                     22.452.192 

Accumulated depreciation or impairment (9.106.799)            (8.606.938)

13.188.626 13.845.254 

Prepayments made 3.344 3.458

Total 13.191.970 13.848.712

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Buildings 6.128.571             6.389.023 

Land 4.570.097 4.637.417

Tools and vehicles 1.605.905 1.728.091

Tangible assets under construction 632.130 811.649

Plant and equipment 201.887 229.042

Other tangible assets 50.036 50.032

13.188.626            13.845.254 

2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000)

Opening balance 3.458                    3.877 

Additions - -

Disposals (114) (419)

Closing balance 3.344                    3.458 

16.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

During 2016, the Group stop recognizing property, plant and equipment in the total amount of HRK 254,412 thousand HRK and in line 
with IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements acknowledged receivables from the City of Zagreb for leasing venues for public use.
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16.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Land
Buildings 

and housing 
blockse

Plant and 
equipment

Tools and 
vehicles

Other 
tangible 
assetsa

Assets under 
developmenti

Total 
tangible 

assets

(HRK`000)

COST OR VALUATION

Balance as at 31 Dec 2014 4.473.046    12.225.164 1.317.374 3.205.885 50.236 849.761 22.121.466 

Additions 46 22.309 20.240 14.529 12 213.807 270.943

Transferred to inventories - - - - - (65.000) (65.000)

Transfer from assets under 
development 80 68.284 29.545 15.872 19 (113.944) (144)

Reclassifications (transfers 
from/to) - 708 108 47.007 - (47.823) -

Revaluation 110.665 - - - - - 110.665

Retirement, disposal, sale - (4.771) (22.969) (16.802) (107) (3.754) (48.403)

Reclassification from / to 
property investments 72.244 (5.526) - - - (4.053) 62.665

Balance as at 31 Dec 2015 4.656.081 12.306.168 1.344.298 3.266.491 50.160 828.994 22.452.192

Additions - 25.798 16.803 7.901 - 195.599 246.101

Transferred to inventories (4.054) - - - - (250.358) (254.412)

Transfer from assets under 
development 127 54.132 32.877 13.736 4 (101.437) (561)

Reclassifications (transfers 
from/to) - - 683 (2.403) 1.717 3 -

Revaluation (1.627) - - - - - (1.627)

Retirement, disposal, sale - (3.232) (36.095) (30.615) - (2.229) (72.171)

Entry of earlier written-off 
assets - - - 3 - - 3

Earlier impairments (61.769) (12.331) - - - - (74.100)

Balance as at 31 Dec 2016 4.588.758 12.370.535 1.358.566 3.255.113 51.881 670.572 22.295.425

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance as at 31 Dec 2014 225 5.652.313 1.054.519 1.406.964 128 16.386 8.130.535

Depreciation - 303.936 82.557 147.238 - 959 534.690

Impairment 18.009 - - - - - 18.009

Revaluation 430 - - - - - 430

Reclassifications (transfers 
from/to) - (37) 127 (90) - - -

Retirement, disposal, sale - (5.757) (21.947) (15.712) - - (43.416)

IAS 40 reclassification - (33.310) - - - - (33.310)

Balance as at 31 Dec 2015 18.664 5.917.145 1.115.256 1.538.400 128 17.345 8.606.938

Depreciation - 307.503 77.010 142.755 - 7.755 535.023

Revaluation (3) - - - - - (3)

Reclassifications (transfers 
from/to) - - 7 (1.724) 1.717 - -

Retirement, disposal, sale - (3.224) (35.594) (30.223) - - (69.041)

Earlier impairments - 20.540 - - - 13.342 33.882

Balance as at 31 Dec 2016 18.661 6.241.964 1.156.679 1.649.208 1.845 38.442 9.106.799

CARRYING AMOUNT

Balance as at 31 Dec 2014 4.472.821 6.572.851 262.855 1.798.921 50.108 833.375 13.990.931

Balance as at 31 Dec 2015 4.637.417 6.389.023 229.042 1.728.091 50.032 811.649 13.845.254

Balance as at 31 Dec 2016 4.570.097 6.128.571 201.887 1.605.905 50.036 632.130 13.188.626

16.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The registration of the Group's title to land and buildings in appropriate registers, serving as evidence of ownership, is in progress. Since 
some municipal registries have not been fully updated, the process of registering the properties is longer than for new structures. In 
addition, the City of Zagreb has surrendered a significant portion of its assets to be managed by the Group. The status of such assets has 
not been fully defined. A part of those properties has been registered but the status of the remaining properties is still pending. 

An overview of the fixed asset (land and buildings) ownership structure is presented below:

Following the requirements of to IAS 16 (Property, Plant and Equipment) that are effective for the current period, the Group reviewed the 
residual values used for the purposes of depreciation calculations in the light of the amended definition of residual value in the revised 
Standard. The review did not highlight any requirement for an adjustment to the residual values used in the current or prior periods.

Under IAS 36, the carrying amount should be compared to the recoverable amount each time when there is an indication of impairment 
and, if higher, written down to the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is greater of (i) net selling price if the asset 
can be sold and (ii) value in use, which is the net present value of future cash flows based on reasonable and supportable assumptions 
that represent management’s best estimate of the future economic conditions and plans. In the opinion of the Management Board, the 
carrying amount of tangible assets presented above is recoverable from future operations.

In 2016, the Group did not capitalise borrowing (2015: HRK 316 thousand). 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Registered 3.254.683 2.691.543

Unregistered 1.315.414 1.645.640

4.570.097 4.337.183

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Real estate 49.915 58.840

49.915 58.840   

Title to land and buildings

Review of residual values

Impairment of assets

Assets pledged as collateral

Land (at revalued amount)

Capitalised borrowing costs under IAS 23
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During 2016 investment properties were re-measured at fair value on the basis of appraisals by a certified property appraisal expert, upon 
which losses resulting from the change in the fair values in the amount of HRK 4,948 thousand (2015: profit of HRK 10,913 thousand) were 
included in the consolidated income statement.

Included in investment in shares are financial assets (shares) carried at fair value through profit or loss. The shares represent non-
controlling interests held in Zagrebačka banka d.d. and Samoborska banka d.d. in which the Group has no significant influence.

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance as at 1 January 1.958.298                        2.043.359 

Sales -                         -   

Increase of the value for new investments 2.076                                     4.053 

Increase in fair value through profit or loss (net) (4.948)                  10.913 

Transfer to property, plant and equipment - (100.027)

Balance as at 31 December 1.955.426 1.958.298 

17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Current portion

Held-to-maturity investments at amortised cost 107.459                230.188 

107.459 230.188   

Long-term portion

Held-to-maturity investments at amortised cost 114.493 126.517

Financial assets available for sale 17.938 12.741

Financial assets at fair value 933 876

133.364               140.134   

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Investment in shares 933 876

Financial assets at fair value

18.	OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
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31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Long-term portion

Amounts owed by related parties 1.305.211 1.437.091

Loan receivables 11.772 17.316

Receivables in respect of credit sales 9.133 11.077

Other receivables 340.777 550.513

1.666.893           2.015.997   

Current portion - Notes 21

Receivables from related parties (Note 21) 228.479 221.943

Receivables for loans (Note 21) 2.609 958

Receivables in respect of credit sales (Note 21) 1.415 1.099

Other receivables (Note 21) 11.742 28.620

244.245                            252.620   

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Deposits with maturities over one year 114.493 126.517

Deposits with maturities of up to one year 96.535 222.137

Other held-to-maturity securities 10.924 8.051

221.952                356.705   

Current portion 107.459                                            230.188   

Long-term portion 114.493                                            126.517   

Long-term deposit and other financial assets

18.	OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

19.	NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Financial assets available for sale 17.938 12.741 

Financial assets available for sale
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31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Receivables from Company members 1.697.661                        1.681.438 

Discount of outstanding receivables (151.276)                 (22.405)

Impairment of receivables from Company members (12.695) -

1.533.690             1.659.033 

Current portion (Note 21) 228.479                              221.943 

Long-term portion 1.305.211             1.437.090 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Long-term loans to unrelated companies 16.690 20.992

Long-term loans to the Management and employees 12.160 11.786

Impairment allowance on given loans (14.469) (14.504)

14.381 18.274   

Current portion 2.609 958

Long-term portion 11.772 17.316

Long-term receivables from related companies

Receivables for loans 

19.	NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Zagrebački holding d.o.o. and its subsidiaries, Zagreb

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Included in long-term receivables from related parties are amounts due for works and services delivered as well as loans provided to 
related parties.

Receivables from Company member comprise amounts owed by the City of Zagreb under guarantees furnished for long-term loans of 
ZET Branch in the amount of HRK 84,709 thousand (2015: HRK 192,102 thousand), in respect of funding 50 percent of the lease costs for 
the sports facility Arena Zagreb in the amount of HRK 351,503 thousand (2015: HRK 365,620 thousand net), lease receivables from City 
of Zagreb in the amount of HRK 769,564 thousand for receivables for contracts in line with IFRIC 12  Service Concession Arrangements 
the amount of HRK 322,284 thousand while the remaining part refers to receivables for tripartite agreements.

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Receivables for flats sold 11.203 13.554

Value adjustment on discount (655) (1.377)

Discount rate in % 2,9% 3,9%

10.548 12.177   

Current portion 1.415 1.099

Long-term portion 9.133 11.078

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Receivables from the State 351.444 577.210

Other receivables 1.075 1.922

352.519                         579.132   

Current portion 11.742 28.620

Long-term portion 340.777                                                550.512   

Receivables in respect of credit sales

Other non-current receivables

19.	NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

PReceivables for flats sold are discounted each year using the rate that reflects the yield rate on the Croatian government bonds, which 
was 2.9% in 2016 (2015: 3.9%)

Receivables from the state in the amount of HRK 351,444 thousand comprise amounts owed by the Croatian Government in respect of 
funding 50 percent of the Arena Sports Hall rental costs.
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ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Inventories are broken down into raw material and supplies, which are expensed immediately when put into use, work in progress, 
finished products, merchandise and prepayments for inventories. 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Raw material and supplies 117.308 113.580

Work in progress 165.000 133.755

Finished products 29.793 30.066

Merchandise (and property in circulation) 29.111 24.276

Prepayments for inventories 262 119

341.474                         301.796   

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Receivables from related parties 381.742 384.384

Trade receivables-net 1.043.805 987.170

Receivables from the state for taxes and contributions 31.438 46.362

Amounts due from employees 2.531 2.936

Other receivables 83.902 123.305

1.543.418 1.544.157

20.	INVENTORIES

21.	TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Receivables from Company member (Note 31) 153.263 162.441

Current portion of long-term receivables from Company member (Note 19) 228.479 221.943

381.742 384.384   

Receivables from related parties

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

0-60 days 165.392 140.934

60-180 days 85.125 66.179

180-365 days 66.571 34.613

Over 365 days 293.580 348.011

610.668 589.737   

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Trade receivables 1.878.537 1.848.415

Impairment allowance on trade receivables (834.732) (861.245)

1.043.805                    987.170   

Trade receivables 

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired:

Trade receivables are carried at amortised cost. Late-payment interest is charged on outstanding balances at rates prescribed by law. The 
Group recognises an allowance for all trade debtors past due beyond 365 days. Allowances for doubtful debts are recognised against trade 
receivables between 120 and 365 days based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of 
the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position.

Trade accounts receivable are reviewed at least twice annually, and reminders are sent for past due amounts, whereas forced collection 
proceedings are initiated for bad and doubtful accounts (distress and legal actions). 

Receivables for delivered municipal services to individuals and businesses are not covered by any financial instruments. Receivables for 
other services delivered to commercial businesses are secured with various financial instruments (bills of exchange, debentures, bank 
guarantees and similar).

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Company considers the business segment (communal or market activities, 
because of different factors affecting the pricing and delivery of those services) and the type of customer (citizens or businesses because 
of different statutes of limitations). The communal operations are governed by separate laws, and the related receivables are not secured 
by financial instruments. Trade accounts receivable from other activities are secured by various instruments (bills of exchange, promissory 
notes, debentures, etc.). 

Receivables past due beyond 365 days, but not impaired comprise receivables of the Group on its own behalf, but for the account of other 
parties (receivables for water treatment for the account of ZOV).
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Movement in impairment allowance for doubtful accounts

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

120-180 days 9.671 19.786

180-365 days 13.698 32.031

Over 365 days 811.363 809.428

834.732 861.245   

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 52.647 74.752

Current portion of long-term receivables (Note 19) 15.766 30.677

Prepayments - net 5.914 5.625

Receivables from insurance companies and other damages receivable 2.105 1.561

Other receivables 7.470 10.690

83.902 123.305   

2016 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance as at 01 January 861.245                              748.545 

Impairment losses recognised 129.934 251.021

Amounts written-off as uncollectible (5.609) (1.678)

Amounts recovered during the year (130.043) (136.643)

Write-off earlier impaired receivables (20.795) -

Balance as at 31 December 834.732 861.245 

Ageing analysis of impaired trade receivables

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses and accrued income comprise amounts paid in advance that are chargeable to future periods, accrued income not yet 
billed and accrued interest.
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21.	TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
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ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

22.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23.	EQUITY

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Current account balance - HRK denominated 412.749 402.553

FX current account balance 639.102 7.728

Cash in hand 1.720 1.544

Foreign-currency cash in hand 7 10

Other cash (court ordered deposits and similar) 4.137 9.807

1.057.715                   421.642   

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Property revaluation 2.873.636 2.786.961

Revaluation of investment in financial assets available for sale  13.901 9.291

 2.887.537 2.796.252   

a) Share capital

b) Revaluation reserve

b-1) Reserves on property revaluation

The Company’s sole owner is the City of Zagreb. At 31 December 2016, the share capital of the Company amounts to HRK 3,833,236 
thousand (31 December 2015: HRK 3,833,236 thousand). 

Revaluation reserve has been established on the revaluation of land and financial assets available for sale. On disposal of a revalued asset, 
the portion of the revaluation surplus attributable to the asset is transferred to retained earnings.

2016 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance at the beginning of the year 2.786.961                        2.698.773 

Revaluation surplus / (deficit) 24.307 110.234

Increase resulting from changed profit tax rate 67.388 -

Deferred tax liabilities arising from revaluation (5.020) (22.046)

Balance at the end of the year  2.873.636             2.786.961 
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ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

23.	EQUITY (CONTINUED)

b-1) Reserve on revaluation of investments in available-for-sale financial assets

b) Revaluation reserve (continued)

c) Other reserves

d) (Accumulated losses) / retained earnings

Decrease of the profit tax rate from 20% to 18% (applicable since 1 January 2017) had an effect on the decrease in deferred tax liability 
due to a necessity to impair the deferred tax in line with the tax rate to be applied in the period when deferred tax liability will occur. At 
the same time, this caused the increase in revaluation reserves.

Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounts HRK 54,148 thousand (as at 31 December 2015 other 
comprehensive income was realized in the amount of HRK 88,541 thousand).

Other reserves reported in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position in the amount of HRK 322,618 
thousand comprise to the net assets of two companies merged in 2001 (Grad mladih Granešina d.o.o. and Omladinski turistički centar 
d.o.o.) to a branch, without any share capital increase by HRK 15,125 thousand on the merger, as well as capital reserves formed under 
the Decision of the Assembly of 13 September 2011 regarding assets granted by the City of Zagreb in the amount of HRK 304,852 
thousand and reserves from company Centar d.o.o. in the amount of HRK 2,641 thousand which as at 14 June 2016 continued with 
regular operating after ending the liquidation process.  

2016 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance as at 1 January 708.178 590.928

Effects from earlier years (43.353) -

Other comprehensive income (37.137) -

Effects from the end of liquidation process of company Centar d.o.o. (2.139) -

Profit for the year 69.718 117.250

Balance as at 31 December 695.267 708.178 

2016 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance at beginning of the year 9.291                    8.938 

Revaluation surplus 5.197 442

Increase resulting from changed profit tax rate 348 -

Deferred tax liabilities arising from revaluation (935) (89)

Balance at end of the year 13.901 9.291 
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ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

23.	EQUITY (CONTINUED)

e) Non-controlling interests

2016 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance as at 1 January 6.866                                      8.706 

Profit for the year 5.214                               3.741

Profit payment to minority  member (3.732) (5.581)

Balance as at 31 December 8.348 6.866

24.	LOANS AND BORROWINGS

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Long-term borrowings 

Loans and borrowings payable 797.551                1.106.038

Finance lease obligations 1.323.988                  1.475.805

Liabilities from sales receivables 8.560                                         24.222

2.130.099         2.606.065 

Short-term borrowings 

Loans and borrowings payable 325.426                          368.748 

Finance lease obligations 137.539                          129.253 

Liabilities from sales receivables 15.600                                          15.600 

Other 69.207                          68.311 

547.772                      581.912 

On the Balance Sheet date, the average interest rate applied on loans and borrowings, as well as on financial lease, was 3.59% 
(2015: 3.8%). 
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ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

a) Movements in non-current loans and borrowings

Repayment schedule of long-term loans and borrowings

2016 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance as at 1 January 1.469.642 1.842.334

 New loans raised 26.953 -

 Amounts repaid (367.467) (369.761)

 Effect of exchange differences (6.230) (2.931)

Balance as at 31 December 1.122.898 1.469.642

 Current portion (325.347)                    (363.604)

Long-term portion 797.551 1.106.038

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 Within one year 325.347 363.604 

 In the second to inclusive the fifth year 639.122 879.699 

 After five years 158.429 226.339 

1.122.898 1.469.642

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 HRK 748.852              918.908

 Euro 374.046                   550.734

1.122.898 1.469.642

Analysis by currency
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ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

24.	LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 24. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

b) Finance lease obligations

Minimum lease payments Present value of minimum  
lease payments

31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000) 

Within one year 197.344          199.057 137.539          129.253 

In the second to inclusive the fifth year 852.517          979.264 686.049          770.771 

After five years 873.096          971.711  637.939         705.034 

1.922.957 2.150.032 1.461.527    1.605.058 

Less: future finance charges (461.430)    (544.974)

Present value of minimum lease 
payments 1.461.527 1.605.058

Included in the financial statements 
within: 

Current liabilities (Note - Current 
borrowings) 137.539 129.253

Current liabilities (Note - Non-current 
loans and borrowings) 1.323.988 1.475.805

1.461.527 1.605.058

Finance lease obligations relate to equipment (vehicles) and a building leased for a period of 5 - 28 years.  Following the expiry of the lease, 
the Group has an option to purchase the leased items at contractually agreed values. The Group’s liabilities under financial leases are 
secured by the title of the lessor to the leased assets. 

Liabilities on lease for the rented hall are fully covered by claims from the owners and the State (Note 19 and 30 to the consolidated 
financial statements).
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ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016

24.	LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

c) Short-term loans and borrowings

Net carrying value of items under financial lease arrangements:

Buildings Tools and vehicles Total

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) 

Cost 818.881 1.522.095 2.340.976

Accumulated depreciation (71.652) (374.898) (446.550)

Net book value 31 Dec 2015 747.229 1.147.197 1.894.426

Cost 818.881 1.508.002 2.326.883

Accumulated depreciation (81.888) (445.341) (527.229)

Net book value 31 Dec 2016 736.993 1.062.661 1.799.654

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 Short-term loans and borrowings 340.947 384.204

 Short-term loans and borrowings - 5.000 

 Current portion of long-term borrowings 340.947                     379.204 

 Financial leases (current portion) 137.539                     129.253 

 Other (interest on borrowings and bonds) 69.286                        68.455 

 547.772 581.912 

2016 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 Balance as at 1 January 384.204           367.298 

Proceeds from new loans - 5.000   

Repayment of current portion of non-current loans and borrowings (384.204) (367.298)

Current portion of long-term borrowings 340.947 379.204 

Balance as at 31 December 340.947 384.204 

Movements in short-term loans and borrowings

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 HRK -                        5.000

 Euro -                        -

- 5.000

Analysis by currency in short-term loans and borrowingsb) Finance lease obligations (continued)

24.	LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

2016 2015

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 2.290.514                  2.290.514

Issued bonds- nominal 1.800.000 -

Repurchase of bonds (1.128.882) -

Expense of discount and other issuing expense  (163.518) -

2.798.114 2.290.514

Bonds that mature within 1 year (1.160.453) -

Balance as at 31 December 2016 1.637.661                  2.290.514

25.	LIABILITIES UNDER ISSUED BILLS OF EXCHANGE

In July 2007, the Company issued bonds in the amount of EUR 300,000,000, with the effective coupon rate of 5.5 percent annually, which 
mature on a one-off basis in July 2017.

In July 2016, the Company issued bonds in the nominal amount of HRK 1,800,000 thousand at the fixed interest rate of 3.875% and the 
issuing price of 97.19%.

Average annual interest rate on bonds was 4.51% (2015: 5.5%).
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31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

 Amounts owed to related parties 144.931                        71.841

 Trade payables 860 11.708 

 Other non-current liabilities 5.878 7.875 

151.669                        91.424

26.	OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Liabilities to related parties reported in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2016 
refers to the guarantee of the City of Zagreb for issued HRK bonds in the amount of HRK 74,700 thousand, utility charges in the amount 
of HRK 18,566 thousand, and liability for joint projects with the City of Zagreb in the amount of HRK 51,665 thousand.

Trade payables reported in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 in the 
amount of HRK 860 thousand relate entirely to advances received.

Other non-current liabilities reported in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 
2016 in the amount of HRK 5,878 thousand (2015: HRK 7,875 thousand), relate entirely to an amount owed to the State for flats sold to 
employees in accordance with the underlying government programme. According to the then applicable regulations, 65 percent of the 
income from the sale of flats to employees was to be transferred to the state upon collection. Based on the Law, the Company has no 
obligation to remit the funds before they have been collected from the employees. 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Litigation provisions 270.325           262.969

Provisions for employee benefits under IAS 19 179.128 216.011 

Provisions for the landfill restoration 48.726                        41.471

Provision for other liabilities 2.738                                    -

500.917 520.451

Current obligation (Note 29) 40.769               38.747 

Long-term obligation 460.148           481.704

500.917           520.451 

Discount rate applied to employee 
benefits and landfill rehabilitation 3,00% 3,85%

27.	 PROVISIONS

The obligation to make provisions for employee benefits arises from the Collective Agreement, and the level of provisions was determined 
in accordance with IAS 19 ‘’Employee Benefits’’. They consist of provisions for termination and retirement benefits, long-service benefits 
and solidarity support. They are measured at the present value of costs expected to be incurred to settle the obligation, using a discount 
rate of 3 percent (2015: 3.85%).

The landfill rehabilitation provision relates to the cost of maintenance and surveillance over the Jakuševac Landfill over the next 30 years 
from its wind-up for environmental protection purposes in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets. The provisions are discounted.

Litigation provision relates to provisions allocated for legal actions initiated against the Company and its subsidiaries following the 
knowledge of a claim being initiated and on the basis of the estimated final outcome of the litigation. In the opinion of the Management, 
the level of provisions is sufficient to cover any future potential liabilities.

27.	 PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Deferred income relates to assets received or financed by local self-government units, the owner and other legal entities, free of charge, 
which are reported in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position under deferred income. The decrease 
in deferred income is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income proportionally over the useful life of respective 
assets to the extent of depreciation of the assets financed out of the budget, in line with IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and 
Government Assistance. 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Deferred income 4.282.740 4.847.409

4.282.740 4.847.409 

28.	DEFERRED INCOME 

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
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29.	TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Trade payables 597.813 499.346

Liabilities to related parties (Note 31) 67.169 194.370

Amounts due to employees for net salaries and contributions  79.816 77.480

Prepayments, deposits and guarantees  16.223 15.167

Other liabilities 548.012 494.740

1.309.033 1.281.103
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31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Liabilities under recharged services (VIO) 214.945 178.324

Accrued expenses not yet billed 100.793 70.866

Deferred sales 57.018 74.161

Payroll and benefit-related taxes and   contributions 50.986 51.630

Current portion of long-term provisions (Note 27) 40.769 38.747

VAT 54.609 39.888

Other fees payable under decisions 19.980 21.583

Memberships, fees and taxes 8.889 19.521

Accrued VAT on prepayments 23 20

548.012 494.740

Other liabilities

As at 31 December 2016 off-balance sheet items comprise given guarantees and debentures in the amount of HRK 47,056 thousand 
(2015: HRK 50,647 thousand), received guarantees and debentures in the amount of HRK 173,969 thousand (2015: HRK 175,522 thousand 
HRK), assets received under operating leases in the amount of HRK 772 thousand (2015: 5,123 thousand) and other goods received or 
given under commission or consignment and liabilities to the bank for loan transferred to a subsidiary upon being issued. 

30.	OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Off-balance sheet items 225.214               235.799

225.214 235.799

Parties are considered to be related if they, directly or indirectly, through one or several intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, have a 
significant influence in, or are under joint control with the reporting entity (which includes the parent, subsidiaries and branches). The City 
of Zagreb, being the sole owner of the Company, is the only having significant control over the operations of the Company and subsidiary 
companies.

31.	BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

ZAGREBAČKI HOLDING d.o.o. and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - continued
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Summarised below are transactions between the Group entities and those related parties that are not members of the Group:

Outstanding balances from trading transactions at the end of the reporting period:

Sales Purchases of goods and services

2016 2015 2016 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) 

City of  Zagreb 851.732 698.385 31.668 32.822

851.732 698.385 31.668 32.822

Amounts owed by related parties Amounts owed to related parties

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) 

City of  Zagreb 153.263 162.442 67.169 194.370

 153.263  162.442 67.169  194.370

Amounts receivable under other related 
party transactions

Amounts payable under other related 
party transactions

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) (HRK`000) 

City of  Zagreb 1.533.690 1.659.033 144.931 71.841

1.533.690 1.659.033 144.931  71.841

Sales from related-party transactions were made at standard market prices that are comparable with the prices charged to unrelated 
parties. 

The outstanding balances are not secured by any security instrument (debentures, bills of exchange, bank guarantees) and will be settled 
in cash. 

31.	BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)29. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Trading transactions

Other related-party transactions
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Beside the City of Zagreb, the Group's related parties include the members of its Management and Supervisory Boards. The total 
remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board (the Management Board of Zagrebački holding, Directors of Branches and 
related companies) and members of the Supervisory Board were as follows:

31.	BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Salaries of the Management Board and branch directors 10.115 9.278

Fees to the Supervisory Board members 774 973

10.889 10.251

As of 31 December 2016, provisions for employee benefits, which include long-service benefits and solidarity support, amount to HRK 
179,128 thousand (31 December 2015: HRK 213,821 thousand). 

Long-service and termination and solidarity support

According to the Collective Agreement, the Group has the obligation to pay long-service (jubilee awards) to its employees. The Group 
operates a defined benefit plan for qualifying employees. According to Appendix 5 to the Basic Collective Agreement long-service benefits 
(jubilee awards) have decreased. Until 31 December 2015 these depended on the average per-employee salary paid for the economic 
activities in the City of Zagreb according to the following tenure with the Group:

	 	 HRK 700 for 5 years of continuous service 

	 	 1 average monthly salary for 10 years of continuous service 

	 	 1.5 average monthly salary for 15 years of continuous service 

	 	 2 average monthly salaries for 20 years of continuous service 

	 	 2.5 average monthly salaries for 25 years of continuous service 

	 	 3 average monthly salaries for 30 years of continuous service 

	 	 3.5 average monthly salaries for 35 years of continuous service 

	 	 4 average monthly salaries for 40 years of continuous service

According to Annex 5 to the Main Collective Agreement, the amounts of the long-service benefits were reduced to non-taxable amounts, 
as defined in the applicable tax regulations, and from 1 January 2015 they are determined as follows:

	 	 HRK 1,500 for 10 years of continuous service 

	 	 HRK 2,000 for 15 years of continuous service 

	 	 HRK 2,500 for 20 years of continuous service 

	 	 HRK 3,000 for 25 years of continuous service 

	 	 HRK 3,500 for 30 years of continuous service 

	 	 HRK 4,000 for 35 years of continuous service 

	 	 HRK 4,500 for 40 years of continuous service 

Under the Collective Agreement, the employees retiring at regular age are entitled to a one-off retirement allowance amounting to three 
average monthly salaries paid from the economic activities in the City of Zagreb over the past three months.

32.	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Solidarity support is based on the average salary paid to businesses in the territory of the City of Zagreb and is paid in the following cases:

	 death of the employee or a member of his/her close family

	 severe disability of the employee, his/her children or spouse

	 sick leave of the employee beyond 90 days

	 support to the children of employees who fell victims during the Homeland War

	 purchases of medical aids, coverage of the participation component in purchasing necessary pharmaceuticals required in the opinion
	 of the competent doctor

	 restoration of damage resulting from an Act of God

	 birth of a child

	 severe occupational injury.
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The amount included in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position arising from the Group’s obligation 
in respect of its defined long-service and retirement benefits is as follows:

Current value of liability for Employee benefits stated in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2016 amounts HRK 179,128 thousand (2015: HRK 213,821 thousand).

Key assumptions underlying the actuarial estimates:

Of which by maturity:

2016 2015

Discount rate 3,00% 3,85%

Fluctuation rate 4% 3%

Average expected remaining service period (in years) 17 20

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Current liabilities 15.158 14.067

Non-current liabilities 163.970 199.754

179.128  213.821

The present value of defined benefit obligations and the related current and past service costs have been determined using the Projected 
Credit Unit method and the discount rate of 3.85% (2014: 4%), which reflects the market yield on government bonds.
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Capital Risk Management

The ratio of net capital and debt

The capital structure is analysed by analysis of the capital cost and related risks.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period amounted to:

33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Debt 4.666.418 4.651.912

Borrowings, loans and finance leases (long-term and short-term portion) 2.677.871 3.187.977

Liabilities for long-term securities 2.798.115 2.290.514

- Finance lease liabilities of Arena Hall (as stated and shown in the 
accounts of the City of Zagreb and the Croatian Government) (724.859) (577.197)

- borrowings of subsidiary ZET for which is also stated receivables 
from the City of Zagreb (due to issued guarantees of City of Zagreb for 
payments)

(84.709) (192.101)

-project management – agreements with the City of Zagreb - (57.281)

Cash and cash equivalents 1.057.715 (421.642)

Net debt 3.608.703 4.230.270

Equity 7.747.006 7.664.509

The ratio of net debt to equity 46,58% 55,19%

Financial instruments categories

Financial risk management objectives
For the purpose of forecasting potential scenarios that may have a negative impact on the operations and achievement of the Group's 
objectives, the Group identifies financial risks, assesses their potential impact on the Group's future operations and manages those risks. 

The various financial risks to which the Group is exposed in the course of its operations are sought to be minimised, avoided and rolled 
over in order to safeguard its operations. If economically feasible, certain financial risks are accepted.

The key risks comprise liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. They are described below, along with the methods applied 
to manage those risks. The Group did not use any derivative instruments to manage the risks. The Group does not use derivatives for 
speculative purposes. 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 (HRK`000)  (HRK`000) 

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1.057.715 421.642

Financial assets at fair value 933 876

Long-term deposits and other financial assets               221.952 356.705

Financial assets available for sale 17.938 12.741

Receivables from related parties and trade receivables 2.730.758 2.808.645

Receivables for loans and in respect of credit sales 24.928 28.393

Receivables from employees 2.531 2.936

Other receivables 452.094 718.121

Total 4.508.849 4.350.059

Financial liabilities

Financial lease agreements 1.461.527 1.605.058

Loans and borrowings (long-term and short-term portion) 1.122.977 1.582.919

Liabilities under issued bills of exchange 2.798.114 2.290.514

Liabilities to related companies and trade payables 810.773 777.265

Liabilities for advances, deposits and guarantees 16.223 15.167

Liabilities to employees 79.816 77.480

Other long-term and short-term liabilities 177.814 478.423

Total 6.467.244 6.826.826

33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Market risk

The communal service prices are proposed by the Management Board based on the market prices, and determined and approved by the 
City of Zagreb.

The activities of the Group expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange and interest rates (see below). The market risk 
exposure is supplemented by sensitivity analyses. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in 
which these risks are managed and measured.
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Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The 
carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign-currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are provided 
in the table below.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuations in the exchange rate of Croatian HRK to euro (EUR), since most of its debt i.e. 35% is 
tied to that currency. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 1% increase in Croatian HRK against the relevant foreign 
currencies. Sensitivity rate of 1% is used when reporting foreign currency risk internally and represents the Group's assessment of the 
reasonably possible change of the Croatian HRK against euro. The sensitivity analysis includes monetary assets and monetary liabilities in 
foreign currencies. A negative number below indicates a decrease in profit where the Croatian HRK changes against the relevant currency 
for the percentage specified above. For a weakening of the Croatian HRK against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and 
opposite impact on the profit.

Liabilities Assets

31 Dec 2016. 31 Dec 2015. 31 Dec 2016. 31 Dec 2015.

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) 

EUR 3.027.662 4.507.050 1.479.613 1.596.591

USD - - - -

Other currencies - - - -

EUR impact Impact of other currencies

31 Dec 2016. 31 Dec 2015. 31 Dec 2016. 31 Dec 2015.

(HRK`000) (HRK`000) 

(Loss) / profit (15.481) (29.105) - -

2016 2015

EURIBOR 20,1%% 24,02%

LIBOR 1,02% 2,53%

ZIBOR 0,16% 0,19%

Yield on Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance 13,26% 16,93%

Fixed rate of interest 65,46% 56,33%

100,00% 100,00%

Interest rate risk management

Given that 34.54% of the Company's loan debt, leasing liabilities and liabilities for issued bonds bear interest at variable rates, the Group 
is exposed to interest rate risk. Set out below are the interest rates at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 by type of liability:

Out of the total loan debt of the Group, 65.46% are agreed at fixed rates. The majority of the loan debt bearing fixed rates of interest 
comprises issued bonds with a fixed coupon rate of 5.50% p.a., i.e. bonds in HRK with the annual coupon rate of 3.875% and the liability 
for the finance lease obligation for Arena Zagreb with the interest rate of 4.7%.
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33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

EURIBOR and EUR LIBOR tied loan debt accounts for 21.28% of the total loan debt, whereas 13% of the loan debt is tied to the yield 
on the Treasury Bills of the Croatian Ministry of Finance. Thus, 35% of the loan debt bears interest at variable rates, which has been ac-
knowledged as a significant uncertainty in developing future cash flow projections

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group 
obtains collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

Customers are classified into risk groupings based on the financial indicators and own trading records, and appropriate credit risk mitiga-
tion measures are taken for each risk class. Customers are classified mainly on the basis of their official financial statements and the Gro-
up's history of trading with each customer. The Group transacts with a large number of customers from various industries and of various 
size, as well as with citizens (individuals). Trade receivables are presented net of allowance for bad and doubtful accounts.

Liquidity risk management
Because of the liquidity problems prevailing in the Croatian economy, the liquidity risk has a highly negative impact on the Group's opera-
tions. Instruments used to monitor and mitigate liquidity risk are as follows: analysing and managing cash flows; analysing assets and the 
sources of financing those assets; analysing customer creditworthiness; collateral; credit and revolving facilities, and similar.
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Liquidity and interest rate risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. 

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group 
can be required to pay. The tables include both principal and interest cash flows.

(HRK`000) Rate Up to 1 
year

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

3 to 4 
years

4 to 5 
years

After 5 
years Total

31 December 2016 %

Interest free

Liabilities to 
related companies 
and trade creditors

665.843 14.940 14.940 14.940 14.940 85.170 810.773

Liabilities in 
respect of loans, 
deposits and 
similar

16.223 16.223

Amounts due to 
employees 79.816 79.816

Other current 
liabilities 177.814 177.814

Variable-rate instruments

Finance lease 
obligations 4,20% 137.539 145.704 423.116 58.720 58.509 637.939 1.461.527

Loans and 
borrowings 
payable

3,17% 325.427 276.166 217.808 77.379 67.768 158.429 1.122.977

Fixed-rate instruments

Finance lease 
obligations 4,70%

Issued bonds EUR 5,50% 1.160.453 1.160.453

Issued bonds HRK 3,88% 1.637.661 1.637.661

TOTAL 2.563.115 436.810 655.864 151.039 141.217 2.519.199 6.467.244
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(HRK`000) Rate Up to 1 
year

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

3 to 4 
years

4 to 5 
years

After 5 
years Total

31 Dec 2015. %

Interest free

Liabilities to 
related companies 
and trade creditors

696.387 2.671 2.671 2.612 2.551 70.372 777.264

Liabilities in 
respect of loans, 
deposits and 
similar

15.167 - - - - - 15.167

Amounts due to 
employees 77.480 - - - - - 77.480

Other current 
liabilities 478.423 - - - - - 187.510

Variable-rate instruments

Finance lease 
obligations 5,50% 144.084 147.286 147.447 422.494 38.727 95.575 995.613

Loans and 
borrowings 
payable

4,85% 414.002 355.681 293.891 226.999 87.624 242.571 1.620.768

Fixed-rate instruments

Finance lease 
obligations 4,70% 54.972 55.087 56.024 56.074 56.126 876.137 1.154.420

Issued bonds 5,50% 125.000 2.290.514 - - - - 2.415.514

TOTAL 2.005.515 2.851.239 500.033 708.179 185.028 1.284.655 7.534.649

33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

TLiquidity and interest rate risk tables (continued) 

Liquidity risk management (continued)Liquidity risk management (continued)
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33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk management (continued)
Liquidity and interest rate risk tables (continued)

(HRK`000) Rate Up to 1 
year

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

3 to 4 
years

4 to 5 
years

After 5 
years Total

31 December 2016 %

Interest free

Cash and cash 
equivalents 1.057.715 1.057.715

Financial assets at 
fair value             933 933

Receivables from 
related companies 
and trade debtors

2.106.964 34.867 10.879             10.879      10.879 556.289 2.730.758

Amounts due from 
employees 2.531 2.531

Other receivables 880 159 14 13 8 1 1.057

Prepayments made 5.914 5.914

Receivables 
from insurance 
companies and 
other damages 
receivable

2.105 2.105

Prepaid expenses 
and accrued income 52.647 52.647

Other current 
receivables 7.470 7.470

Variable-rate instruments

Given loans and 
other held-to-
maturity securities

2% 1.120 1.120 1.120 1.120 1.120        58.240 63.840

Instrumenti s fiksnom kamatnom stopom

Fixed-rate 
instruments 108.147 1.750 1.750 1.750 1.750 78.526 193.673

Given deposits 
and other held-to-
maturity securities

4% 863 783 783 783 783 10.417 14.412

Given loans, 
loans to related 
companies and 
accrued interests

1% 1.530 1.368 1.369 1.370 1.181 3.159 9.977

Receivables for 
given loans for flats

Receivables from 
related companies 3.348.819 40.048 15.915 15.915 15.721 706.632 4.143.050

(HRK`000) Rate Up to 1 
year

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

3 to 4 
years

4 to 5 
years

After 5 
years Total

31 December 2016 %

Interest free

Cash and cash 
equivalents 421.642 - - - - - 421.642

Financial assets at 
fair value 876 - - - - - 876

Receivables from 
related companies 
and trade debtors

1.976.192 - - - - - 1.976.192

Amounts due from 
employees 2.936 - - - - - 2.936

Other receivables 337 317 317 317 317 317 1.922

Prepayments made 8.004 8.004

Receivables 
from insurance 
companies and 
other damages 
receivable

1.561 1.561

Prepaid expenses 
and accrued 
income

74.752 74.752

Other current 
receivables 10.687 10.687

Variable-rate instruments

Given loans and 
other held-to-
maturity securities

4,00% 1.792 1.792 1.792 1.792 1.792 63.168 72.128

Fixed-rate instruments

Given deposits 
and other held-to-
maturity securities

3,20% 244.952 2.167 1.932 1.898 10.110 57.785 318.844

Given loans, 
loans to related 
companies and 
accrued interests

7,00% 110.000 1.897 1.889 1.888 1.888 10.063 127.625

Receivables for 
given loans for 
flats

1,30% 688 1.420 1.419 1.418 1.415 5.979 12.339

Receivables from 
related companies 211.809 211.809 211.809 211.809 172.401 822.733 1.842.370

3.066.228 219.402 219.158 219.122 187.923 960.045 4.871.878
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The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The tables have been drawn 
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial assets until contractual maturities, including interest to be earned on those assets.
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Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated balance sheet / consolidated statement of financial position (balance 
sheet)

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped 
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

	 	 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
	 	 Level 2 fair value measurements –  those derived from data other than quoted prices from Level 1 for observable assets or liabilities
		  (i.e. their prices) or indirectly (derived from the price)
	 	 Level 3 fair value measurements – those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
		  based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

31 Dec 2016

 (HRK`000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Investments in shares 421 - 512 933

421 - 512 933

31 Dec 2015

 (HRK`000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Participating interests - 
investments in shares 288 - 588 876

288 - 588 876

The Group has entered into contracts that are still in progress, but not completed, and therefore conditions are not recognized for the 
recognition of these amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Costs to be incurred under those contracts have 
been estimated at HRK 10,979 thousand, whereas the estimated value of investments amounts to HRK 191,405 thousand.

34.	COMMITMENTS
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33.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Environmental matters

Included in the Group is Branch ZGOS, whose principal business is communal and other waste disposal and the rehabilitation of the 
Jakuševac landfill, as well as to assist the City of Zagreb in establishing a long-term communal waste management development strategy 
for the City of Zagreb. 

Court litigations

The Group is exposed to different court litigations. Below is the detailed description of litigations considered to be a potential liability and 
for which provisions have not been made in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

	 	 Termoblok d.o.o. against ZGH - Subsidiary Zagrebačke ceste, the value of the litigation (VoL) being HRK 915,326 thousand, Number
		  P-3292/15, damages, Commercial Court in Zagreb, probability of success very high;

	 	 HŽ Putnički prijevoz against the City of Zagreb, ZGH-Subsidiary ZET, VoL: 7.174 thousand HRK + interest cca HRK 6,123 thousand,
		  Commercial Court in Zagreb, Number P-1104/1,  assets partly provided,

	 	 Avtomontaža Cosmos against Subsidiary ZET – VoL + interest cca HRK 50,530 thousand, Commercial Court in Zagreb, Number
		  P-1097/14,  

	 	 Fragaria d.o.o. against Zagrebački holding d.o.o., Subsidiary Tržnice Zagreb, Number P-3853/08, Commercial Court in Zagreb,  VoL:
		  HRK 10,126 thousand, filed for re-compensation of the profit lost, final court ruling already delivered, the claim was entirely
		  dismissed, the plaintiff filed an appeal;  

	 	 Concordia namještaj d.o.o. against ZGH – Subsidiary Zagrebački velesajam, VoL: HRK 23,755 thousand, damages, law suit filed on
		  11 May 2016.

The Group does not operate a separate retirement plan for its employees or management, either in Croatia or abroad. Thus, no provisions 
for those obligations have been made. The Group pays pension contributions on behalf of its employees in the Republic of Croatia in 
accordance with applicable legislative regulations. These contributions form the basis for the pensions payable out of the Croatian National 
Pension Fund to Croatian employees upon their retirement. Currently, there are no outstanding retirement benefit obligations, either for 
the Group's present or former employees.

After the consolidated statement of financial position/(consolidated balance sheet) date, there were no events relevant to be disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company.  

37.	 PENSION INSURANCE

36.	EVENTS AFTER THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION/(CONSOLIDATED BALANCE 
SHEET) DATE
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35.	CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
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The operations of the Group and its revenue are regulated by several laws, the most significant ones being as follows:

	 	 The Law on Communal Management

	 	 The Law on Local Self-government

	 	 The Law on Waste

	 	 The Institutions Act

	 	 The Law on Waters

	 	 The Cemeteries Act

	 	 The Building Maintenance Act

	 	 The Act on Free Zones

These financial statements were adopted by the Management and authorized for issue 31 March 2017

Ana Stojić Deban

President of the Management Board

Daniela Franić

Member of the Management Board

Bernard Mršo

Member of the Management Board

38.	LEGAL AND REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

39.	APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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